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1  Subject to approval by shareholders 

at the Annual General Meeting   

  IFRS            2008                2007 2006               2005       2004

Sales Group 2,911,964 2,366,779 2,108,244 1,547,973 1,250,193

Germany  [ % ] 31.4 38.1 41.2 45.3 42.2

EU (without Germany)  [ % ] 44.6 34.1 32.2 32.7 32.2

Non EU countries  [ % ] 24.0 27.8 26.6 22.0 25.6

Wire & Cable Solutions  [ % ] 48.1 58.3 54.7 43.2 45.4

Wiring Systems  [ % ] 51.9 41.7 45.3 56.8 54.6

Earnings EBITDA  [ € ‘000 ] 165,913 210,771 193,629 159,144 107,267

EBIT  [ € ‘000 ] 55,684 138,102 130,574 102,829 56,750

Income before taxes (from continuing operations)  [ € ‘000 ] 15,760 116,531 116,599 88,830 41,334

Net income  [ € ‘000 ] 5,197 86,219 79,325 56,093 27,674

Cash flow Depreciation and amortisation  [ € ‘000 ] 110,229 72,669 64,255 56,737 58,302

Cash provided by operating activities  [ € ‘000 ] 132,726 190,837 136,099 111,071 83,923

Capital expenditure  [ € ‘000 ] 336,563 132,636 194,807 87,016 95,738

Balance sheet Property, plant and equipment, intangible assets, goodwill  [ € ‘000 ] 839,423 537,482 489,198 396,495 361,868

Net debt  [ € ‘000 ] 533,225 473,211 236,912 167,489 160,566

Equity  [ € ‘000 ] 447,688 525,642 481,701 427,152 364,903

Equity  [ ratio in % ] 24.2 32.9 35.1 40.6 41.6

Employees Personnel expenses  [ % of sales ] 20.5 19.0 18.9 21.3 23.2

Employees  [ as per 12/31 ] 50,821 36,855 35,129 32,638 29,957

employed abroad  [ % ] 91.7 89.0 89.0 88.7 89.9

Share Market capitalisation 12/31  [ € million ] 385.8 997.9 917.7 799.8 495.0

Group net income per share  [ € ] 0.17 2.87 2.64 1.89 1.12
2

Dividend per share  [ € ] 0.20 1 0.90 0.80 0.57 0.42
2

Key figures

2 Adapted to share split 1 : 3

This Annual Report  

is published in German and English.  

In case of doubt or conflict, 

the German language version will prevail.

Sales by region   [ % ]

Non EU countries 24 %

Germany 31 %

EU (without Germany) 45 %

 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008

 1,250.2  1,548.0 2,108.2 2,366.8 2,912.0

Sales   [ € million ]

 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008

 56.8  102.8 130.6 138.1 55.7

Consolidated EBIT   [ € million ]

 83.9  111.1 136.1 190.8 132.7

Operating cash flow   [ € million ]

 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008
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LEONI – The Quality Connection

“The LEONI Group, which is market-listed in the German MDAX index, is a global supplier 

of wires, cables and wiring systems as well as a provider of related development services.

The Company employs more than 50,000 people in 35 countries. The principal cus-

tomer base is the automotive industry, for which LEONI develops and makes techni-

cally sophisticated products: from single-core automotive cables through to com-

plete wiring systems with integrated electronics. In addition, its range of products 

and services comprises wires and strands, standardised cables, special cables and 

fully assembled systems for applications in the automotive, appliances, communica-

tion & infrastructure, industry & medical as well as wire & strands market sectors.”
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2008 was a year of strong contrasts for LEONI. No financial year in the more recent past has shown better how a com-

pany’s performance can vary depending on external factors. Looking at the first nine months, LEONI generated sales 

and earnings absolutely on target in its most important markets and based on good to very good demand. Most pro-

duction facilities ran up to full capacity. Our most important major project, integrating the LWSF Group, was executed 

on schedule and sentiment generally was confident. 

In early October, however, it then quickly became clear that – triggered by the financial crisis – there would be a 

severe slump in the automotive business. One manufacturer after another corrected production figures sharply down-

wards. This down-tow also caught other sectors. Neither in terms of the extent, nor as far as the pace of the economic 

downturn is concerned, has there been anything comparable in the past fifty years. At LEONI, the drastic drop in  

demand in the final quarter of 2008 versus the average for the first three quarters resulted in a sales slump of about  

25 percent and in a considerable squeeze on earnings. In addition, there was substantial need to write down our cop-

per inventories due to the massive fall in the price of this metal. The consequence was a quarterly loss that counter-

measures immediately launched in the areas of material and personnel costs did still limit, but could not prevent. 

Ultimately, while the LEONI Group posted an increase in sales to € 2.9 billion for the whole of 2008 due to initial 

consolidation of the LWSF Group, operating earnings declined significantly to € 55.7 million. Due to integration and 

takeover expenses the new LWSF business did not yet contribute any earnings, whereas the crisis severely affected the 

existing LEONI business. Consolidated net income dropped to € 5.2 million. On this basis, the Management Board and 

Supervisory Board will propose to shareholders at the Annual General Meeting to reduce the dividend to € 0.20 per 

share. 

The LEONI share also suffered a sharp loss in value in the wake of the crisis. Along with business performance, 

the key factor in this respect was also analysts’ general downgrading of the automotive industry and its suppliers. In 

mid October, the Management Board decided to take advantage of the extremely low price for a share buy-back pro-

gramme that was successfully completed by mid December. We can use these treasury shares to fund acquisitions, 

meaning that we are well resourced for future growth phases. 

The current financial year will surely not be a growth year yet, however. The critical situation in the automotive 

industry and many other sectors even intensified in early 2009, and no one is able to say right now what the months 

ahead will bring. Our most important task will be to watch developments in our markets very closely as well as to re-

spond quickly and efficiently to changed selling conditions. We will for now concentrate on adjusting capacity and 

cost structures in both of our divisions to the reduced demand. Following the immediate measures taken at the end of 

2008, which unfortunately involved shedding about 3,000 jobs at facilities outside Germany, we launched a compre-

hensive cost-reduction programme at the beginning of 2009. All cost items and investment projects in all areas were 

subjected to scrutiny. For most facilities it was possible within a very brief space of time to agree a specific action plan 

to reduce costs and adjust output, which also comprises significant lowering of personnel expenses. At this point it is 

my profound wish to express special praise to employee representatives at our facilities and those in charge within the 

IG Metall trade union for their cooperation. My thanks also go to all staff working with unabated, strong motivation for 

LEONI despite the unfamiliar, difficult situation. 

Dr Klaus Probst
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In 2009 we face multi-faceted tasks because, despite the crisis, LEONI still has growth potential that has to be tapped. 

Apart from adjusting capacity and strict cost management, the Wiring Systems division has to ramp up for new auto-

motive industry projects such as the next generation Mercedes E-Class and the 7 Series BMW, and also the successor to 

the Opel Astra range. Despite sharp fluctuation in capacity utilisation, high efficiency in the production processes must 

simultaneously be achieved as rapidly as possible. Work on promising new sales territories is also being stepped up 

further. The Wire & Cable Solutions division intends to strengthen its position particularly in those markets that have 

hitherto been virtually unaffected by the crisis. These include medical equipment, the petrochemical industry, solar 

technology, the whole field of fiber optics and some segments of automation engineering. We developed these mar-

kets over the past few years as part of our growth strategy and thereby placed LEONI on a broader footing. 

It has been proven in the current distressed economic situation that our sustained expansion strategy was and is 

correct. This applies particularly to our purchase of the LWSF Group. This major acquisition provided LEONI with quick 

access to the French and southern European carmakers and, which is at least as important, it has taken us decisively 

forward in the expansion of our production base in North Africa. In the past year we already gradually relocated capac-

ity to North Africa and thereby significantly increased our cost flexibility. 

Given increasingly volatile conditions – sharply fluctuating demand, commodity prices and exchange rates –  

cost flexibility will in the future assume even more importance. Not only in this connection does the economic crisis, 

despite all the risks, also provide opportunities: Ongoing, dynamic growth characterised the past ten years at LEONI. 

The focus was naturally on tackling the expansion and creating additional capacity. The current situation will clearly 

shift our focus. Once the cost reduction programme has been implemented and business processes have consequently 

been optimised, LEONI will be able to enter the next growth phase more efficiently. This will certainly enhance our 

ability to compete. 

The dip in demand will also result in shakeout of some of our core markets. Quite soon and particularly during 

the next upswing we should therefore be able to gain more market share. This is because not all competitors are in a 

comparably good strategic position and have a similarly solid financial base like LEONI. We are well hedged due to our 

long-term funding strategy.

LEONI can cope with times of crisis thanks to its successful work over the past ten years. We hope that you, as our 

shareholders, will also stand by your Company in this difficult period and will give management as well as all staff the 

necessary confidence. We are convinced that LEONI will emerge strengthened from this current weakness in the mar-

ket and that the growth trend of our Company will continue over the long term.

Dr-Ing Klaus Probst

President & CEO
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This section gives you an overview of the Company‘s current situation and of its 
corporate governance. LEONI AG’s Management Board and Supervisory Board provide 
you with information on business performance, the highlights and the most important 
strategic projects of the year as well as on the performance of the LEONI share. 

LEONI AG’s Management Board provides information on the business situation  
of the Group and its divisions, the earnings, financial and asset situation as well  
as the risks and prospects of our business activity. The management report  
was prepared in accordance with the German accounting standard DRS and  
successfully audited by the auditors.
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In this section you will find the financial statements of the LEONI Group, which 
are prepared according to the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) 
applicable as at the balance sheet date and bear the auditors’ certificate.

The extract from the financial statements, the proposal for profit distribution, a 
glossary of the technical terminology used, the index that facilitates searches in the 
report and the forward-looking statements constitute the additional information. On 
the inside of our cover pages we provide an overview of the key figures for the past 
five financial years (front cover), our global footprint and corporate organisation as 
well as important dates for publication of our business performance (back cover).  



“Neither in terms of the extent, nor as far as the pace of the economic downturn is concerned,  

has there been a comparable market downturn in the past fifty years. Ultimately, while the LEONI 

Group posted an increase in sales to € 2.9 billion for the whole of 2008 due to initial consolidation  

of the LWSF Group, operating earnings declined significantly to € 55.7 million. Consolidated  

net income dropped to € 5.2 million. On this basis, the Management Board and Supervisory  

Board will propose to shareholders at the Annual General Meeting to reduce the dividend  

to € 0.20 per share.”

Company information
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Dr Werner Rupp

Supervisory Board report

Dear shareholders,

In the 2008 financial year, the Supervisory Board dealt in depth with the performance and prospects of LEONI AG. The 

Supervisory Board diligently performed its duties in accordance with statutory requirements and the provisions of the 

Company’s Articles of Association, supporting the Management Board with advice and monitoring its work. This is based 

on regular, up-to-date and comprehensive reporting by the Management Board on the Company‘s situation, its oper-

ating performance and all significant business transactions. Monthly and interim reports as well as the documents on 

operational planning, financial planning, capital investment planning and personnel planning were discussed in depth 

during meetings of the Supervisory Board, as were the findings of ongoing risk monitoring. The Supervisory Board also 

discussed projects and events of major significance with the Management Board outside the meetings. 

The Supervisory Board held five ordinary meetings during the 2008 financial year. They took place on 25 March,  

15 May, 24 July, 18 September and 11 December. The Board had a quorum on each occasion. One member was unable to 

attend more than half of the meetings for health reasons. 

Main topics of discussion by the Supervisory Board

Regular topics of the Supervisory Board meetings included in particular the current business situation and strategic ques-

tions, such as decisions on location and acquisition plans. Integration of the LEONI Wiring Systems France Group was also 

repeatedly discussed. During the last two meetings in 2008, the economic situation and its possible impact was a focal 

point of the deliberations. 

The key item on the agenda for the first meeting on 25 March 2008 was the review of the financial statements of 

the LEONI AG and the Group for fiscal 2007, both of which the Supervisory Board approved. The Board also discussed the 

LEONI Group’s existing risk management system. The Supervisory Board is convinced that the system is very well suited 

to identifying and managing all material, Company-related risks. 

During their meeting on 15 May 2008, the members of the Supervisory Board discussed the Group’s general business 

situation and further planning.

On 24 July 2008, the Supervisory Board concerned itself with the latest amendments to the German Corporate 

Governance Code (Code) with respect to decisions on and review of Management Board compensation as well as discus-

sion of quarterly reports. Corresponding amendments to the Supervisory Board’s rules of procedure were agreed in order 

to comply in full with the new recommendations as well. Other topics involved human resources and the long-term staff-

ing strategy. Extension of compliance and, related to this, preparation of an internal control system based on the internal 

audit, risk management and controlling was also discussed. 

During its meeting on 18 September 2008, the Supervisory Board agreed to the compensation and retirement bene-

fit system for members of the Management Board as proposed by the personnel committee, as well as to extending Uwe 

H. Lamann’s Management Board contract to the end of 2012. 
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 www.leoni.com/Investor  

 Relations/Corporate Governance

The main focus of the final meeting on 11 December 2008 was on the massive economic slump, the extent of which 

was impossible to anticipate, especially in the automotive industry as well as the corresponding measures applied 

at LEONI. The Supervisory Board and Management Board discussed in detail the planning for 2009 and the subse-

quent years. Due to the great uncertainty about the trend in the sector, however, the planning was not yet adopted. 

Furthermore, it was agreed to hold an extraordinary meeting of the Supervisory Board on 28 January 2009 to discuss 

the likely 2008 results once again. In addition, the Supervisory Board audited the efficiency of its work and adopted 

the currently valid     Declaration of Conformity with the Corporate Governance Code pursuant to Article 161 of the 

German Public Companies Act. This is reproduced in the annual report and may be accessed on the     Company‘s web-

site. LEONI fulfils all the recommendations of the Code in its current version dated 6 June 2008.

Work of the committees

LEONI AG’s Supervisory Board formed a total of four committees: an audit committee, a personnel committee and 

a nomination committee as well as an arbitration committee pursuant to Article 27, section 3 of Germany’s Co-

determination Act. The committees serve to ensure efficient execution of the tasks assigned to the Supervisory Board. 

The audit committee met on three occasions during the year under report. On 11 March 2008 it covered the key find-

ings of the audit of the 2007 financial statements and broadening of its duties in relation to setting up and expanding 

the internal control system. The topics of the meeting on 30 July 2008 were the half-year financial statements and risk 

assessment based on selected risks. During its meeting on 31 October, the committee, in accordance with the Code’s 

new recommendations, dealt in depth with the interim report on the first three quarters and was comprehensively 

briefed on the current status of the compliance measures, the progress in setting up the internal control system and 

LEONI AG’s accounts receivable management system. 

The personnel committee met on two occasions in 2008. Along with preparing the extension to Mr Lamann’s con-

tract, the body dealt with the compensation and retirement benefit system for members of the Management Board. 

The nomination committee consulted on Dr Marnette’s successor on the Supervisory Board. Convening of the arbitra-

tion committee was not required. 

Audit of the annual financial statements

The annual meeting of LEONI AG’s shareholders on 15 May 2008 appointed Ernst & Young AG, Wirtschaftsprüfungs- 

und Steuerberatungsgesellschaft of Stuttgart as auditors for the 2008 financial year. Ernst & Young audited and granted 

an unqualified certificate for the 2008 financial statements prepared on the basis of the German Commercial Code, the 

management report of LEONI AG as well as the consolidated financial statements prepared in accordance with the IFRS 

and the group management report. The management reports describe the situation of the AG and of the Group as well 

as the future risks and rewards in an appropriate manner. The auditors also gave the risk management system a favour-

able verdict. 

 page 37
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The annual financial statements of the Company and of the Group, the management reports and the audit reports 

were available to all members of the Supervisory Board in good time. The audit committee pre-examined these 

documents during its meeting on 10 March 2009. They were comprehensively discussed during the ordinary meeting 

of the Supervisory Board on 23 March 2009. The auditing company’s representatives took part in both meetings, re-

ported on the findings of their audits and were available to provide additional information. The audits of the annual 

financial statements and the management reports of the AG and the Group by the Supervisory Board did not give rise 

to any objections. The Supervisory Board approved the annual financial statements of the AG and the consolidated fi-

nancial statements for fiscal 2008 as prepared by the Management Board. The financial statements of LEONI AG have 

thus been duly adopted. A majority on the Supervisory Board approved the Management Board’s proposal for profit 

distribution. The Company intends to pay out a dividend of EUR 0.20 per share. 

Changes in personnel

On 30 June 2008, Paula Tsapanidis resigned from her position as employee representative on the Supervisory  

Board for health reasons. Pursuant to a ruling by the District Court of Nuremberg on 8 July 2008, Helmut Wirtz was 

appointed to the Board as successor. On 16 July 2008, Dr Werner Marnette resigned his office as member of the 

Supervisory Board and shareholder representative due to his appointment as minister for science, business and 

transport of the state of Schleswig-Holstein. Mr Benno Schwiegershausen, elected substitute member by the Annual 

General Meeting, took his place. The Supervisory Board thanks Ms Tsapanidis and Dr Marnette for their constructive 

and mutually rewarding association. 

Our thanks are also due to the members of the Management Board and all employees of the LEONI Group. The 

results for the 2008 financial year merit favourable assessment against the backdrop of significant economic down-

turn. The Supervisory Board is convinced that the Management Board has initiated the proper steps for keeping 

LEONI on course in the future, too, despite the difficult setting and for continuing the Company‘s profitable growth 

over the long term. 

Nuremberg, 23 March 2009 

Dr Werner Rupp

Chairman of the Supervisory Board



10 Supervisory Board and Management Board

Members of the Supervisory Board

Dr Werner Rupp, Burgthann

Chairman  

Franz Spieß, Roth-Pfaffenhofen*

1st Deputy Chairman

Ernst Thoma, Nuremberg

2nd Deputy Chairman 

Supervisory Board Committees

Arbitration Committee 

in accordance with article § 27 (3) of 

Germany‘s Co-Determination Act  

Dr Werner Rupp (Chairman),

Franz Spieß, Gabriele Bauer, Ernst Thoma

Audit Committee

Ernst Thoma (Chairman),

Ralf Huber, Dr Werner Rupp, 

Franz Spieß (from 24 July 2008 on), 

Paula Tsapanidis (until 30 June 2008)

Gabriele Bauer, Prichsenstadt*

Josef Häring, Grafenwiesen*

Ralf Huber, Nuremberg*

Karl-Heinz Lach, Eschweiler*

Dr Werner Marnette, Hollenstedt

until 16 July 2008

 

Horst Schmidmer, Nuremberg

 

Benno Schwiegershausen, Nuremberg

from 16 July 2008 on

Paula Tsapanidis, Siegburg*

until 30 June 2008 

Wilhelm Wessels, Kalchreuth

Helmut Wirtz, Stolberg*

from 8 July 2008 on

Prof Dr-Ing Klaus Wucherer, Ungelstetten

Personnel Committee

Dr Werner Rupp (Chairman),

Franz Spieß,

Ernst Thoma

Nomination Committee

Dr Werner Rupp (Chairman),

Dr Werner Marnette (until 16 July 2008),  

Ernst Thoma, 

Prof Dr-Ing Klaus Wucherer (from 24 July 2008 on)

* Employee representatives
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Dr-Ing Klaus Probst

President & CEO, 

in charge of the Wire & Cable 

Solutions Division, 

Member of the Management 

Board since 1997

Dieter Bellé

in charge of Finance,  

Controlling and Labour Affairs,

Member of the Management 

Board since 2000

Uwe H. Lamann

in charge of  

the Wiring Systems Division, 

Member of the Management 

Board since 1999

Management Board
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March

Investment in the wiring systems 

producer Daekyeung   

LEONI acquires 50 percent of the 

shares of its Korean partner and there-

by improves its starting position in the 

important Korean car market.

April

LEONI again “Supplier of the year”   

The carmaker General Motors commends 

LEONI as supplier of the year for what is  

already the sixth time.

Highlights of 2008

December

New plant in Mexico 

A new LEONI Wiring Systems production fa-

cility, located in the commercially attractive 

Mexican state of Durango, goes into operation. 

The state-of-the-art plant supplies mainly US 

commercial vehicle manufacturers with cable 

harnesses and strengthens LEONI’s competitive 

position in the NAFTA area. 
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February

LEONI wires the Gotthard Base Tunnel    

The major contract covering the power sup-

ply and safety cables for Europe’s longest 

railway tunnel proves LEONI’s high level of 

expertise in infrastructure projects.

January 

LEONI takes over Valeo’s  

wiring systems division  

Together with this group, renamed LEONI 

Wiring Systems France, LEONI becomes the 

European market leader and world’s fourth 

largest provider of wiring systems.

May

Large order obtained from Airbus   

LEONI is commissioned to supply cable har-

nesses for various components of the Airbus 

families A320 to A340 and thereby achieves 

breakthrough into the aviation industry.

November

LEONI establishes itself on the 

Russian market 

By taking over the international wiring 

systems production of the automotive 

component supplier Itelma and being 

awarded the contract to supply about 

40 percent of the cable requirement to 

the commercial vehicle manufacturer 

KAMAZ, LEONI succeeds in making a 

promising entry into the Russian auto-

motive market.

November

Dieter Bellé named  

“CFO of the Year“

LEONI’s Chief Financial Officer re-

ceives the commendation from the 

periodical FINANCE for innovative 

power, strategy and leadership.

January

Systems vendor Robot-tec becomes 

part of the LEONI Group – 

The acquisition expands LEONI’s range  

of products and services for robot-

controlled automation and decisively 

strengthens its competitive position in 

this field.

July

LEONI receives the “Intelligence for  

Transportation and Logistics” innovation prize  

The award is presented for the innovative Flamecon  

metallisation process, which opens up new dimensions  

in functionalising surfaces.
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LEONI is one of the world’s largest and most rich in 

tradition manufacturers of wire, cables and wiring 

systems. We occupy a leading position in Europe 

in our core markets and are steadily broadening 

this on the basis of our earnings-oriented growth 

strategy. As a group with the culture of a medium-

sized enterprise, we run our business with a global 

network of production facilities and have for more 

than ten years been generating steadily rising sales 

based on sound financial management. On the fol-

lowing pages we present to you the most important 

strategic projects of the 2008 financial year. They 

are making a key contribution towards safeguard-

ing LEONI’s successful future even in a difficult mar-

ket setting.

Global vision 

LEONI’s expansion strategy is broadly based. We are 

growing both regionally and via new customer groups 

as well as innovative products. Our focus in 2008 was on 

Russia and South Korea as well as the aerospace indus-

try. We were expanding our expertise in the Fiber to the 

Home segment, electronic wiring system components 

and in the business involving systems for infrastructure 

projects. 

Strategic projects





Fresh start 

LEONI really took off in the aerospace sector in 2008. In May we 

obtained a large order from Airbus, one of the leading compa-

nies in the aviation industry: this involves equipping about 500 

aircraft from the A320 through to the A340 product families 

each year for an initial period of five years with cable harnesses 

for particular components, such as the vertical tail and the land-

ing gear. The Airbus project is a key milestone in implementing 

our strategy of growing profitably in promising markets.

Over the medium term, LEONI is aiming to become a major 

provider of development services and systems to other compa-

nies in the aerospace sector as well. Our objective in this respect 

is also to offer, along with cable assembly, the entire value chain 

from a single source and to serve our customers in a global 

production network providing the best synergies. LEONI is ide-

ally equipped to do so based on its many years of experience in 

developing and manufacturing complex wiring systems for the 

automotive industry.

The global aviation industry has, despite temporary 

turbulence, been moving straight up for decades. In 

the future, particularly the ongoing growth of the 

emerging countries – led above all others by China 

and India – will drive additional demand for aviation 

services. Due to the close economic interdependence, 

this should in the medium term also drive significant 

growth among the western European and north 

American airlines.

High fuel prices and stricter environmental regula-

tions will further stimulate the global demand for 

modern aircraft and manufacturers will not make any 

compromises in terms of safety and comfort, either. 

The demands on the wiring of the systems and compo-

nents installed in an aircraft are accordingly great.

Aerospace

Diagram of an aircraft’s wiring





Dynamic

Russia is now a firm fixture in LEONI’s growth strategy. Our 

target for the medium term is to become one of the leading wir-

ing systems manufacturers in the country. In 2008 we achieved 

a breakthrough in two respects: First, LEONI succeeded in 

obtaining an order from KAMAZ, the largest Russian commercial 

vehicle producer. The company, which is among world’s leading 

manufacturers, will in the future source about 40 percent of the 

cable harnesses it needs from LEONI. This is the basis on which 

we are planning to move into our own plant near the KAMAZ 

facility in Naberezhnye Chelny. 

Secondly, LEONI took over the international wiring systems 

business of the Russian automotive component supplier Itelma. 

We have moved into a new production facility for this business 

in Gorodets, about 450 km southeast of Moscow. At first, the 

plant will produce cable harnesses for the Dacia Logan. Another 

order involving the wiring system for the Fiat Ducato also 

substantiates our strategy. These are good starting points for 

obtaining further orders from passenger car manufacturers that 

are becoming active in Russia. 

 

Russia is taking off. Its wealth in raw materials, the 

revitalised manufacturing industry and the increasing 

affluence of many people is providing strong economic 

impetus. Despite the global economic downturn, solid 

growth rates over the medium term are forecast for 

the country’s economy. This also applies to the motor 

vehicle industry. 

The Russian car market is among the potentially 

fastest growing in the world. Many Western carmakers 

are taking advantage of this strong pent-up demand 

and are stepping up their involvement in the region. 

Demand for commercial vehicles should also rise 

further: it is currently growing more strongly in Russia 

than in any other European market. 

Russia

Automotive industry in Russia

Moscow

LEONI facility

(VW, PSA, Renault)

Gorodets

LEONI facility

Naberezhnye Chelny  

(Kamaz)

St. Petersburg

(Ford, GM, Nissan, Toyota)

Togliatti

(Fiat, GM, Kia,

Gaz Auto, IZH, Kamaz, Lada, 

UAZ, ZMS)

Nizhny Novgorod

(Fiat, GM, Kia,

Gaz Auto, IZH, Kamaz,  

Lada, UAZ, ZMS)

Kaliningrad

(BMW, GM,  

Chevrolet, Kia)
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It will be Europe’s longest railway tunnel, pass-

ing through an impressive mountain chain: the 57 

kilometre long Gotthard Base Tunnel in the Swiss Alps. 

Starting in 2017, high-speed trains will be traversing 

it at up to 250 km/h – thereby significantly improving 

travel and transport options within Europe. The train 

journey between the major cities of Zurich and Milan 

will be reduced by one hour, also substantially relieving 

the existing Gotthard route. 

Construction of this new link between the economic 

areas north and south of the Alps presents the compa-

nies involved with major challenges. Along with the 

highest quality, suppliers must be able to provide as ex-

tensive a range of sub-systems as possible from a single 

source – this is the only way to tackle the complexity of 

this large project. 

Infrastructure
Systematic

LEONI secured the contract to provide the Gotthard Base Tunnel 

with all the railway engineering wiring. Over a period of six years 

our Swiss subsidiary LEONI Studer will furnish the Alpine tunnel 

with several thousand kilometres of cables and conductors – 

mainly halogen-free power supply and safety cables. Compared 

with that the tunnel itself almost looks short again. 

The project has strategic significance because it is LEONI’s 

first turnkey project in the infrastructure market. This will enable 

us to further expand our position as a specialist for system solu-

tions. The principals were convinced above all by our logistics 

plan. LEONI is, as a system provider, supplying the entire wiring 

package directly into the tunnel. We also scored with the high 

fire protection and safety standards of our products. 

Erstfeld  

north entrance

Bodio  

south entrance

Sedrun  
access and venti-
lation shaft

Amsteg  
access shaft

Faido  
access shaft

0 km 57 km

0

1,000

2,000

3,000

Diagram of the Gotthard Base Tunnel

above 
sea level

Length of the tunnel tube





Up and coming

LEONI intends to take the opportunities that present themselves 

in South Korea in a targeted way. That is why, in the past year, 

we acquired 50 percent of the shares in our previous joint ven-

ture partner Daekyeung. We thereby improved our access to the 

vehicle manufacturers based in South Korea and our starting 

position in the emerging Asian market. 

Daekyeung is one of the leading wiring systems manu-

facturers in South Korea and is based in Busan, the country’s 

second-largest city. The Company produces in China and there-

fore has a similarly favourable cost structure as LEONI. With the 

purchase of this stake we have underpinned the collaboration 

started in the previous year with a joint development project. 

South Korea is a country of stark contrasts. State-of-

the-art shopping malls adjoin temple complexes dating 

back to earlier centuries. The people switch effortlessly 

between tradition and high-tech. This Asian country 

has grown rapidly: 50 years ago it was still among the 

world’s poorest, whereas today it is one of the largest 

industrialised nations. 

Major corporations that are in the top global 

league in the automotive sector, in shipbuilding as 

well as in the information and telecommunications 

technology industry are key pillars of the South Korean 

economy. As world’s fifth largest vehicle producer, 

South Korea is of particular interest to suppliers of the 

car industry. Entry into this business is not easy, how-

ever. This is because, just as South Korean consumers 

go mostly for domestic brands when they buy a car, the 

carmakers have a strong preference for local suppliers.

South Korea

Automotive locations in South Korea (sample)

Seoul

Busan
LEONI facility

(Daekyeung)
Changwon 
(GM, Volvo)

Pyongtaek 
(Ssangyong)

Kunsan
(GM, Daewoo)

Pupyong
(GM, Daewoo)





Pooled

The Fiber to the Home market is a strategic growth area for LEONI. 

Targeted acquisitions to fit with subsidiary LEONI NBG Fiber Optics 

established extensive know-how in this area – from the develop-

ment of the glass fiber to production through to realisation of 

complete FTTH networks. This specialised expertise has been 

pooled in the FTTH business unit since 2008. As one of Europe’s 

leading system providers, we are already assisting in major refer-

ence projects in Amsterdam, Cologne and Graz, and have also 

scored outside Europe with a first order from Saudi Arabia. 

The in-house networking solutions for private households 

of our subsidiary LEONI Kerpen round off our FTTH infrastructure 

offering. With this complete system, which is marketed under the 

name “LEONI to the Home”, we intend to benefit more than aver-

age from the growth in the FTTH sector in the years ahead. 

High-performance data connections are nowadays essential 

not only in the business sphere. In the private domain, too, 

rapid and easy links with the outside world are becoming 

increasingly important. The European Fiber to the Home 

(FTTH) market, i.e. the number of households that are 

directly connected to a glass fiber network, is steadily grow-

ing: from one million today, the number is forecast to rise 

to as many as twenty million households over the next four 

years. 

FTTH is increasingly becoming a mass market. Alter-

native telecom providers like power utilities, cities and 

municipalities are forging ahead with pilot projects. Major 

cities such as Amsterdam, Paris, Cologne and Berlin have al-

ready begun with comprehensive networking of their urban 

areas. They are thereby establishing commercial and social 

advantages for their inhabitants and getting ready for the 

upcoming generations of telecommunications technology.

Fiber to the Home





Wheels were yesterday – the motor vehicle of today is much 

more than just a mode of transport. Cars have airbags, ABS, 

ESP, internet connections, telephones, navigation systems 

and park assist. The safety, information and entertainment 

functions are controlled via a large number of cables –  

products that are connected at several hundred interfaces 

with components to a complex wiring system.

The trend towards ever better and more extensive 

electronic equipment imposes heavy demands on the wiring 

system. The importance of the components is growing at the 

same time. For a wiring systems provider it is therefore obvi-

ous also to take on the production of cable conduits, fixing 

and sealing parts, power distributors and fuse boxes.

Motor vehicle components
Underway 

At LEONI, business involving components produced in-house is 

playing an ever more important role. It extends the vertical range 

of manufacturer and rounds off our range of products and services. 

The Components business unit established for this purpose forms 

the basis for further expansion of this activity and underpins our 

expertise as a systems supplier.

In 2008 the business unit focused on developing and testing 

its own innovative components and already obtained initial orders 

for cable conduits, fuse and relay boxes. We are also well under-

way in setting up production: series production will commence at 

our Romanian facility in Arad in the second half of 2009. Due to the 

complexity of the products, the demands on manufacturing are 

similarly high as they are in electronics production. It’s a challenge 

that LEONI is happy to take on.

Depiction of a vehicle’s wiring
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Corporate Governance

Corporate Governance report

LEONI AG is committed to maintaining responsible and transparent corporate governance, the principles of which 

are entrenched throughout the Company by statutory rules, the rules of procedure for the Management Board and 

Supervisory Board, LEONI AG’s Articles of Association and in the German Corporate Governance Code (Code). They  

are observed in all the decision-making processes of the Management Board and the Supervisory Board. Pursuant  

to Section 3.10 of the Code, we hereinafter report on our corporate governance.  

German Corporate Governance Code as guideline

In the 2008 financial year, LEONI fulfilled all the recommendations (so-called “shall” requirements) of the German 

Corporate Governance Code. Moreover, almost all the Code’s suggestions (so-called “can” or “should” requirements) 

were also observed. (  Declaration of Conformity of the Management Board and Supervisory Board pursuant to 

Article 161 of the German Public Companies Act)

Shareholders and Annual General Meeting  

Each share in LEONI AG on principle has one vote. Our shareholders can exercise their voting rights at the Annual 

General Meeting. All documents and reports for the last Annual General Meeting on 15 May 2008 were easily accessi-

ble on the website www.leoni.com. Vote counting was electronic for the first time in 2008. To make it easier for share-

holders who did not take part in the Annual General Meeting to exercise their rights, three voting right representatives 

were again appointed to cast these votes as per instructions. Shareholders were able to authorise and instruct these 

representatives, who could be reached throughout the meeting. It is also possible to transmit convening of the general 

meeting and other information to our shareholders by electronic means.  

Collaboration between the Management Board and Supervisory Board

The Management and Supervisory Boards of LEONI AG collaborate closely for the benefit of the Company. The 

Management Board kept the Supervisory Board comprehensively informed on a regular and up-to-date basis about 

all key matters, especially with regard to planning, business performance, the risk situation and the compliance meas-

ures. In addition to the Supervisory Board meetings, the chairmen of the Management Board and Supervisory Board 

discussed impending matters in monthly meetings. The Management and Supervisory Boards discussed jointly and 

comprehensively all strategic questions and transactions requiring consent. These discussions were open and based on 

maintaining confidentiality. 

The Management and Supervisory Boards observe the rules of proper corporate governance and are liable for dam-

ages to LEONI AG in the event of culpable breach of duties. The Directors & Officers liability insurance taken out by LEONI 

AG for the Management Board and the Supervisory Board includes an appropriate excess.  

   Declaration of Conformity

 page 37
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Information on the compensation for members of the Management and Supervisory Boards is provided 

in the    compensation report. The compensation report was prepared in accordance with the recommen-

dations of the German Corporate Governance Code and also contains a description of the compensation  

system. The compensation report is therefore also deemed to be part of this corporate governance  

report in terms of the corresponding recommendations.

 

Management Board

The Management Board of LEONI AG consists of three members:

Dr-Ing Klaus Probst, Graduate in engineering, 55

First appointed: 1997 (with LEONI since 1989)

Appointed until: 2010

Areas of responsibility: President & CEO, Head of the Wire & Cable Solutions Division as well as 

Board responsibility for the Corporate Communications and Internal Audit departments

Dieter Bellé, Graduate in business administration, 52

First appointed: 2000

Appointed until: 2010

Areas of responsibility: Head of the Accounting/Controlling, Finance, Legal Affairs/Corporate Governance, Information Management, 

Risk Management/Compliance, Investor Relations, Taxes and Human Resources departments

Uwe H. Lamann, Graduate in engineering, 59  

First appointed: 1999

Appointed until: 2012

Areas of responsibility: Head of the Wiring Systems Division

The Management Board is responsible for running the Company and dealing in the interests of LEONI AG with the aim 

of raising its enterprise value on a lasting basis. The Board’s core duties include developing and implementing a strate-

gy to match this objective. Furthermore, the Management Board ensures effective risk management and controlling as 

well as adherence to legal requirements and guidelines within the Company applying to all group subsidiaries (compli-

ance). Forming the basis for this is among other things LEONI’s Code of Ethics, which is binding on all employees. This 

Code of Ethics is accessible on our    website. 

Members of the Management Board require the approval of the Supervisory Board to engage in any sideline work. 

So far as members of the Management Board did engage in any sideline work during the period under report, the 

Supervisory Board’s approval was granted. 

   compensation report

 page 34

    www.leoni.com/About us/ 
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Supervisory Board

The Supervisory Board of LEONI AG has twelve members, of whom six each are elected by employees and shareholders. 

There were two changes in membership during the year under report: Helmut Wirtz was appointed to the Supervisory 

Board, succeeding Paula Tsapanidis who retired from the Board at the end of June 2008 for health reasons. Benno 

Schwiegershausen, elected substitute member by the 2007 Annual General Meeting, succeeded Dr Werner Marnette, 

who resigned his office in mid July 2008 for career-related reasons. 

The Supervisory Board monitors and advises the Management Board in running the Company and audits the ef-

ficiency of its work on a regular basis. The most recent efficiency audit took place during the meeting on 11 December 

2008. The Board’s duties are laid down in rules of procedure, which also set out the responsibilities of the committees. 

The rules of procedure were changed in 2008 to match the amendments to the German Corporate Governance Code: 

Pursuant to Section 2.4.2 of the Code, the system for compensating members of the Management Board including all 

material elements of their contracts is now agreed by Supervisory Board meetings and also regularly reviewed by the 

entire Board. The personnel committee, which met on two occasions in 2008, will now just assume an advisory and 

execution role in this respect. The duties of the audit committee were, pursuant to Section 7.1.2 of the Code, extended 

to include review of the half year and quarterly reports with the Management Board. This committee, which met three 

times during the year under report, also dealt with matters of compliance, risk management, the internal audit as well 

as the internal control system and, in so doing, also reviewed the effectiveness of the respective structures that are in 

place. Convening of the obligatory arbitration committee and of the nomination committee was not required in 2008.

Transparency

LEONI makes use of a wide variety of media to comprehensively and equally inform our shareholders and the interested 

public on the Company’s development. On our website we post all mandatory publications and an extensive range of 

additional information, in each case up to date. All publications, such as ad-hoc announcements, media releases, in-

terim and annual reports are also issued in English. Press conferences and conference calls as well as the address of the 

Management Board chairman to the Annual General Meeting are recorded and made available on the internet for a 

limited time. A fiscal calendar, which can also be viewed on our website, provides information on the dates for all key 

releases and events. 
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Date of 

transaction Notifying party Issuer Place of transaction Transaction subject to mandatory disclosure

01/08/2008 Dr Klaus Probst,

President & CEO LEONI AG

LEONI AG* Xetra,

Frankfurt Stock Exchange

Purchase of 1,312 non-par value LEONI ordinary shares* 

at a price of € 30.95 and 688 non-par value LEONI 

ordinary shares* at a price of € 30.94 per share.

Total volume: € 61,890.00

01/16/2008 Dr Klaus Probst,

President & CEO LEONI AG

LEONI AG* Xetra,

Frankfurt Stock Exchange

Purchase of 5,000 non-par value LEONI ordinary 

shares* at an average price of € 27.17 per share.

Total volume: € 135,842.29

01/16/2008 Dieter Bellé,

Member of the Management Board of LEONI AG

LEONI AG* Xetra,

Frankfurt Stock Exchange

Purchase of 5,000 non-par value LEONI ordinary 

shares* at an average price of € 27.38 per share.

Total volume: € 136,897.20

01/16/2008 Uwe H. Lamann,

Member of the Management Board of LEONI AG

LEONI AG* Munich/Düsseldorf/ 

Stuttgart/Frankfurt 

Stock Exchange

Purchase of 5,000 non-par value LEONI ordinary 

shares* at an average price of € 27.22 per share.

Total volume: € 136,094.80

01/21/2008 Rita Probst,

Person in close relation (spouse) to a member of the 

Management Board (Dr Klaus Probst – President & 

CEO LEONI AG

LEONI AG* Xetra,

Frankfurt Stock Exchange

Purchase of 1,000 non-par value LEONI ordinary 

shares* at an average price of € 26.59 per share.

Total volume: € 26,586.64

02/20/2008 NÜRNBERGER Lebensversicherung,

Legal person, company or institution closely 

associated to a person performing manage-

rial responsibilities (Dr Werner Rupp, Chairman 

of the Supervisory Board of LEONI AG)

LEONI AG* Xetra Purchase of 35,000 non-par value LEONI ordinary  

shares* at a price of € 27.27 per share.

Total volume: € 954,450.00

02/22/2008 NÜRNBERGER Lebensversicherung,

Legal person, company or institution closely 

associated to a person performing manage-

rial responsibilities (Dr Werner Rupp, Chairman 

of the Supervisory Board of LEONI AG)

LEONI AG* Xetra Purchase of 55,000 non-par value LEONI ordinary  

shares* at a price of € 28.18 per share.

Total volume: € 1,549,900.00

02/22/2008 NÜRNBERGER Beteiligungs-Aktiengesellschaft,

Legal person, company or institution closely 

associated to a person performing manage-

rial responsibilities (Dr Werner Rupp, Chairman 

of the Supervisory Board of LEONI AG)

LEONI AG* Xetra Purchase of 30,000 non-par value LEONI ordinary  

shares* at a price of € 27.92 per share.

Total volume: € 837,681.00

02/26/2008 NÜRNBERGER Beteiligungs-Aktiengesellschaft,

Legal person, company or institution closely 

associated to a person performing manage-

rial responsibilities (Dr Werner Rupp, Chairman 

of the Supervisory Board of LEONI AG)

LEONI AG* Xetra Purchase of 20,000 non-par value LEONI ordinary  

shares* at a price of € 29.22 per share.

Total volume: € 584,462.00

02/26/2008 NÜRNBERGER Lebensversicherung,

Legal person, company or institution closely 

associated to a person performing manage-

rial responsibilities (Dr Werner Rupp, Chairman 

of the Supervisory Board of LEONI AG)

LEONI AG* Xetra Purchase of 70,000 non-par value LEONI ordinary  

shares* at a price of € 28.65 per share.

Total volume: € 2,005,500.00

Directors’ Dealings and Shareholdings

All share transactions carried out by members of the Management Board and of the Supervisory Board as well as par-

ties related to them (Directors’ Dealings pursuant to Article 15a of the German Securities Trading Act) are published on  
 LEONI’s website as soon as we are advised to this effect. The following transactions were reported in 2008:

    www.leoni.com/Investor Relations/ 

 Corporate Governance
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Date of 

transaction Notifying party Issuer Place of transaction Transaction subject to mandatory disclosure

02/27/2008 NÜRNBERGER Beteiligungs-Aktiengesellschaft,

Legal person, company or institution closely 

associated to a person performing manage-

rial responsibilities (Dr Werner Rupp, Chairman 

of the Supervisory Board of LEONI AG)

LEONI AG* Xetra Purchase of 20,000 non-par value LEONI ordinary  

shares* at a price of € 28.95 per share.

Total volume: € 579.016,00

02/29/2008 NÜRNBERGER Lebensversicherung,

Legal person, company or institution closely 

associated to a person performing manage-

rial responsibilities (Dr Werner Rupp, Chairman 

of the Supervisory Board of LEONI AG)

LEONI AG* Xetra Purchase of 70,000 non-par value LEONI ordinary  

shares* at a price of € 28.08 per share.

Total volume: € 1,965,600.00

03/04/2008 NÜRNBERGER Lebensversicherung,

Legal person, company or institution closely 

associated to a person performing manage-

rial responsibilities (Dr Werner Rupp, Chairman 

of the Supervisory Board of LEONI AG)

LEONI AG* Xetra Purchase of 85,000 non-par value LEONI ordinary  

shares* at a price of € 27.47 per share.

Total volume: € 2,334,525.00

03/05/2008 NÜRNBERGER Lebensversicherung,

Legal person, company or institution closely 

associated to a person performing manage-

rial responsibilities (Dr Werner Rupp, Chairman 

of the Supervisory Board of LEONI AG)

LEONI AG* Xetra Purchase of 20,000 non-par value LEONI ordinary  

shares* at a price of € 27.45 per share.

Total volume: € 549,000.00

03/06/2008 NÜRNBERGER Lebensversicherung,

Legal person, company or institution closely 

associated to a person performing manage-

rial responsibilities (Dr Werner Rupp, Chairman 

of the Supervisory Board of LEONI AG)

LEONI AG* Xetra Purchase of 25,000 non-par value LEONI ordinary  

shares* at a price of € 28.59 per share.

Total volume: € 714,820.00

03/11/2008 NÜRNBERGER Lebensversicherung,

Legal person, company or institution closely 

associated to a person performing manage-

rial responsibilities (Dr Werner Rupp, Chairman 

of the Supervisory Board of LEONI AG)

LEONI AG* Xetra Purchase of 25,000 non-par value LEONI ordinary  

shares* at a price of € 27.46 per share.

Total volume: € 686,408.00

03/18/2008 NÜRNBERGER Lebensversicherung,

Legal person, company or institution closely 

associated to a person performing manage-

rial responsibilities (Dr Werner Rupp, Chairman 

of the Supervisory Board of LEONI AG)

LEONI AG* Xetra Purchase of 20,000 non-par value LEONI ordinary  

shares* at a price of € 26.88 per share.

Total volume: € 537,600.00

03/20/2008 NÜRNBERGER Lebensversicherung,

Legal person, company or institution closely 

associated to a person performing manage-

rial responsibilities (Dr Werner Rupp, Chairman 

of the Supervisory Board of LEONI AG)

LEONI AG* Xetra Purchase of 20,000 non-par value LEONI ordinary  

shares* at a price of € 26.65 per share.

Total volume: € 533,040.00

05/16/2008 Ralf Huber,

Member of the Supervisory Board of LEONI AG

LEONI AG* XETRA,  

Frankfurt Stock Exchange

Purchase of 150 non-par value LEONI ordinary  

shares* at a price of € 35.61 per share.

Total volume: € 5,341.50

07/04/2008 Prof Dr Klaus Wucherer,

Member of the Supervisory Board of LEONI AG

LEONI AG* XETRA, Frankfurt Stock 

Exchange, via Dresdner 

Bank Nürnberg

Purchase of 2,000 non-par value LEONI ordinary  

shares* at a price of € 25.80 per share.

Total volume: € 51,592.10

07/11/2008 Dr Klaus Probst,

President & CEO LEONI AG

LEONI AG* XETRA,

Frankfurt Stock Exchange, 

via Sparkasse Nürnberg

Purchase of 2,000 non-par value LEONI ordinary  

shares* at a price of € 23.90 per share.

Total volume: € 47,800.00
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Date of 

transaction Notifying party Issuer Place of transaction Transaction subject to mandatory disclosure

10/14/2008 Dieter Bellé,

Member of the Management Board of LEONI AG

LEONI AG* XETRA, Frankfurt 

Stock Exchange, via 

HypoVereinsbank 

Nürnberg

Purchase of 3,000 non-par value LEONI ordinary 

shares* at an average price of € 13.73 per share.

Total volume: € 41,185.14

10/14/2008 Dr Klaus Probst,

President & CEO LEONI AG

LEONI AG* XETRA, Frankfurt 

Stock Exchange, via 

Sparkasse Nürnberg

Purchase of 3,000 non-par value LEONI ordinary 

shares* at an average price of € 13.79 per share.

Total volume: € 41,377.96

10/14/2008 Uwe H. Lamann,

Member of the Management Board of LEONI AG

LEONI AG* Stuttgart Stock Exchange 

and Xetra/Frankfurt 

Stock Exchange

Purchase of 3,000 non-par value LEONI ordinary 

shares* at an average price of € 13.36 per share.

Total volume: € 40,065.00

10/15/2008 Uwe H. Lamann,

Member of the Management Board of LEONI AG

LEONI AG* Xetra/Frankfurt 

Stock Exchange

Purchase of 1,000 non-par value LEONI ordinary  

shares* at a price of € 12.98 per share.

Total volume: € 12,980.00

11/11/2008 Dr Werner Rupp,

Member of the Supervisory Board of LEONI AG

LEONI AG* XETRA, via Sparkasse 

Nürnberg

Purchase of 9,900 non-par value LEONI ordinary shares* 

at a price of € 9.00 per share and of 100 non-par value 

LEONI ordinary shares* at a price of € 8.99 per share.

Total volume: € 89,999.00

11/24/2008 Dr Klaus Probst,

President & CEO LEONI AG

LEONI AG* XETRA, Frankfurt 

Stock Exchange, via 

Sparkasse Nürnberg

Purchase of 3,000 non-par value LEONI ordinary  

shares* at a price of € 9.08 per share.

Total volume: € 27,240.00

11/25/2008 Dieter Bellé,

Member of the Management Board of LEONI AG

LEONI AG* XETRA, Frankfurt 

Stock Exchange, via 

Commerzbank Nürnberg

Purchase of 5,000 non-par value LEONI ordinary  

shares* at a price of € 9.91 per share.

Total volume: € 49,525.00

11/27/2008 Dieter Bellé,

Member of the Management Board of LEONI AG

LEONI AG* XETRA, Frankfurt 

Stock Exchange, via 

Unicredit Nürnberg

Sale of 5,000 non-par value LEONI ordinary shares* 

at an average price of € 11.24 per share.

Total volume: € 56,154.32

11/28/2008 Dieter Bellé,

Member of the Management Board of LEONI AG

LEONI AG* XETRA, Frankfurt 

Stock Exchange, via 

Commerzbank Nürnberg

Purchase of 7,000 non-par value LEONI ordinary 

shares* at an average price of € 10.81 per share.

Total volume: € 75,588.48

11/28/2008 Christopher Probst,

Person in close relation (son) to a member of the 

Management Board (Dr Klaus Probst – President & 

CEO LEONI AG

LEONI AG* XETRA, Frankfurt 

Stock Exchange, via 

Sparkasse Nürnberg

Purchase of 6,000 non-par value LEONI ordinary  

shares* at a price of € 10.98 per share.

Total volume: € 65,880.00

On 31 December 2008, members of LEONI AG’s Management and Supervisory Boards held more than one percent of 

the shares issued by LEONI. These holdings broke down as follows:

Shareholdings No. of shares on 31/12/2008 Percentage of share capital

Supervisory Board members and related parties 470,132 1.58

Management Board members and related parties 93,257 0.32

Supervisory Board and Management Board, total 563,389 1.90

* WKN 540888, ISIN DE0005408884
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Compensation report 

The compensation report follows the recommendations of the German Corporate Governance Code and contains dis-

closures that, according to the requirements of the German Commercial Code (HGB) and the International Financial 

Reporting Standards (IFRS), are part of the notes as well as of the management report. It is therefore part of the audited 

consolidated financial statements and group management report. There is consequently no additional presentation of 

the details explained in this report in either the notes or the management report.

Compensation of the Management Board

The Supervisory Board decides on and regularly reviews the system for compensating members of the Management 

Board including the material contractual elements. The Supervisory Board’s personnel committee, which mainly deals 

with concluding, amending, extending and terminating the employment and pension agreements of Management 

Board members, prepares the Supervisory Board’s resolution.

The total compensation for members of the Management Board consists, in addition to fixed annual compensa-

tion (non-performance-related component) and a performance-related short-term component (profit share) measu-

red against net income, also a share-based long-term component with risk character (bonus). This bonus is computed 

based on the market performance of the LEONI AG share and EVA (economic value added). The amounts paid out annu-

ally have upper limits. Amounts exceeding this limit are carried forward to the next year. The amounts carried forward 

expire upon the departure from the Company. Provision is made pro-rata over the vesting period for the amounts car-

ried forward. Fifty percent of the bonus must be invested in LEONI shares, which are blocked for 50 months, within 20 

days of payment. There are no share option programmes. The expense for compensating members of the Management 

Board totalled € 901 k in the 2008 financial year (previous year: € 4,675 k). 

Accounting and audit of financial statements

The consolidated financial statements for fiscal 2007 and 2008 as well as the condensed interim financial statements  

in the half-year report and in the two quarterly reports of LEONI AG were prepared in accordance with the Inter-

national Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). The Annual General Meeting on 15 May 2008 appointed accountants 

Ernst & Young AG of Stuttgart as the auditors for the year under report. The nomination was preceded by an examina-

tion of independence. This ruled out any business, financial, personal and other relations between Ernst & Young and 

its bodies as well as chief auditors on the one hand and LEONI AG as well as members of its bodies on the other hand 

that might give cause to doubt the independence of the auditors. Ernst & Young issued a corresponding declaration of 

independence. 

The Supervisory Board agreed with the auditors that the latter would notify without delay of findings and occur-

rences material to the duties of the Supervisory Board that arise during execution of the audit. In line with this agree-

ment, the auditors will advise the Supervisory Board, or note it in their audit report, if pieces of information are found 

during the audit that point to incorrectness in declaration pursuant to the Code submitted by the Management and 

Supervisory Boards. 
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The table below provides individualised presentation of the expense for compensating members of the Management 

Board in the 2008 financial year:

 

 Compensation Pensions

€ ‘000

Non-

performance- 

related 

component

Performance- 

related 

component

Component 

with long-term 

incentive effect Other Total  

Annual benefit 

once pension 

entitlement 

takes effect

Addition to  

pension 

provision in 

the fiscal year

Dr K. Probst 2008  455  245  (295)  28  433   239  117

2007  455  1,241  365  27  2,088   239  129

D. Bellé 2008  300  200  (295)  33  238   170  111

2007  300  600  365  32  1,297   170  125

U. H. Lamann 2008  300  200  (295)  25  230   188  542

2007  300  600  365  25  1,290   135  153

Total 2008  1,055  645  (885)  86  901   597  770

Total 2007  1,055  2,441  1,095  84  4,675   544  407

Members of the Management Board did not receive any payments from the component with long-term incentive  

effect (bonus) for fiscal 2008 (previous year: € 200 k per Management Board member). Due to the sharp decline in the 

market performance of the LEONI AG share as well as the capital costs not covered by economic value added (EVA), the 

amounts carried forward in the bonus account in the previous years were used up in full and the provision made of  

€ 295 k per Management Board member (total € 885 k) was therefore fully written back. Other compensation compri-

ses the non-monetary benefits of being provided with the use of company cars and top-ups on insurance policies. 

The table above shows the pension entitlements pertaining to each member of the Management Board as well 

as the addition to pension provisions during the financial year. This comprises service costs and past service costs. 

Pensions are paid to former Management Board members who have either reached the retirement age of 65 (or also 

of 63) years or are permanently disabled. The pensions of two Management Board members are measured – based on 

application of an agreed factor – against the retirement benefits of a Bavarian ministerial official. In the case of one 

Management Board member the pension entitlement is computed as a percentage of the final fixed annual salary. 

The provision for dependants comprises payment of 60 percent of the retirement benefit for the spouse as well as 

10 to 20 percent for children entitled to maintenance up to the end of their 27th year of age.  

At the beginning of 2009 the service contracts of the Management Board members were extended to include a 

change-of-control clause. The details of this arrangement are presented in the section     Disclosures pursuant to 

Art. 315 (4) of the German Commercial Code.

The compensation for members of the Supervisory Board is governed by the Company‘s Articles of Association. For 

the 2008 financial year, each member of this Board received a fixed amount of € 35 k. The chairman was paid double 

that amount while each deputy chairman received one and a half times the rate. Members of the personnel and audit 

committees received additional amounts of € 1,000 each, with the chairmen receiving € 1,500 each. In addition, there 

was a performance-related component amounting to 4 percent of the distributable profit, provided that this exceeds  

4 percent of the share capital. This bonus was divided among the members of the Supervisory Board in the same pro-

portions as the fixed compensation. 

   from page 63 on
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Receipts per  

Supervisory Board member 

 in  

€ ‘000

Fixed compensation 

(net)

Performance-

related 

compensation 

(net) Other Total

Dr Werner Rupp 1) 2008 73 25 – 98

2007 66 117 – 183

Franz Spieß 2) 2008 54 19 – 73

2007 53 95 – 148

Ernst Thoma 3) 2008 55 19 – 74

2007 61 106 – 167

Gabriele Bauer 2008 35 12 – 47

2007 35 64 – 99

Josef Häring 9) 2008 35 12 – 47

2007 23 42 – 65

Ralf Huber 9) 2008 36 12 – 48

2007 24 42 – 66

Karl-Heinz Lach 9) 2008 35 12 – 47

2007 23 42 – 65

Dr Werner Marnette 4) 2008 19 7 – 26

2007 35 64 – 99

Horst Schmidmer 2008 35 12 – 47

2007 35 64 – 99

Benno Schwiegershausen 5) 2008 16 6 – 22

2007 – – – –

Paula Tsapanidis 6) 2008 18 6 – 24

2007 36 64 1 101

Wilhelm Wessels 9) 2008 35 12 – 47

2007 23 42 – 65

Helmut Wirtz 7) 2008 17 6 – 23

2007 – – – –

Prof Dr-Ing Klaus Wucherer 9) 2008 35 12 – 47

2007 23 42 – 65

Frank Becker 8) 2008 – – – –

2007 12 21 – 33

Dr Jürgen Behrend 8) 2008 – – – –

2007 12 21 – 33

Gerhard Heßlinger 8) 2008 – – – –

2007 12 21 – 33

Hans-Werner Jacob 8) 2008 – – – –

2007 12 21 – 33

Hans Peuschel 8) 2008 – – – –

2007 12 21 – 33

Total 2008 498 173 – 670

2007 499 891 1 1,391

The compensation for members of the Supervisory Board in 2008 and 2007 breaks down as follows: 

Addition of the individual payments in  
€ thousands in the adjoining table may deviate  
from the reported totals due to rounding.  
   
 
1) Chairman   
2) 1st Deputy Chairman    
3) 2nd Deputy Chairman  
4) Member until 16 July 2008 
5) Member from 16 July 2008 on 
6) Member until 30 June 2008 
7) Member from 8 July 2008 on 
8) Member until 3 May 2007
9) Member from 3 May 2007 on 
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Declaration of Conformity

Declaration of the Management and Supervisory Boards of LEONI AG in fiscal 2008 on the recommendations 

of the Government Commission on the German Corporate Governance Code in its versions dated 14 June 

2007 and 6 June 2008 (most recently published in the electronic Bundesanzeiger on 8 August 2008) pursu-

ant to Article 161 of the German Public Companies Act.

The Management Board and Supervisory Board of LEONI AG in their joint meeting of 11 September 2008 approved the 

following Declaration of Conformity pursuant to Article 161 of the German Public Companies Act: 

I. The Management Board and Supervisory Board declare that, since issuing their last Declaration of Conformity in 

December 2007 up to and including 7 August 2008, they conformed without exception to the recommendations 

valid until that date of the Government Commission on the German Corporate Governance Code in its version of  

14 June 2007. 

II. Furthermore, the Management Board and Supervisory Board declare that, from 8 August 2008, they have been con-

forming to the recommendations valid from that date of the Government Commission on the German Corporate 

Governance Code in its version of 6 June 2008, likewise without exception. 

III. The Management Board and Supervisory Board of LEONI AG also declare that in future, too, they intend to con-

form without exception to all the recommendations of the Government Commission on the German Corporate 

Governance Code in its version of 6 June 2008. 

Nuremberg, December 2008. 

 LEONI AG LEONI AG

 on behalf of the Management Board on behalf of the Supervisory Board

 Dr Klaus Probst Dr Werner Rupp 

   The current Declaration of 

Conformity and the versions of the 

past five years can also be accessed 

on the internet at www.leoni.com.
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LEONI Share
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LEONI MDAX DAX

Share price performance 2008

per share in € 2008 2007 2006

Consolidated net income 0.17 2.87 2.64

Dividend 0.201 0.90 0.80 

Equity 16.75 17.70 16.22

High for the year 2 36.06 45.38 34.20

Low for the year 2 7.64 29.25 26.00

Yearend closing price 2 12.99 33.60 30.92

Market capitalisation on 31 Dec. in € million 386 998 918

Average trading volume (no. of shares) 309,487 233,473 143,828

Key LEONI share figures

1 Subject to approval by shareholders 
at the Annual General Meeting
2 Xetra closing prices of the day

Indexed 28 December 2007
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First listed on 1 January 1923

Ticker symbol LEO

ISIN DE0005408884

WKN DE540888

Class of shares Ordinary bearer shares with no par value

Market segment Prime Standard

Indices MDAX, HDAX, CDAX, BayX30

Share capital € 29.7 million

Number of issued shares 29.7 million   

Overview of key LEONI share data

The stock market in 2008

The multi-year upside move on international financial markets came to an abrupt end in 2008. Around the globe the 

major stock indices literally plunged with double-digit rates of loss. For example, the STOXX50, which lists Europe’s 

largest companies, lost more than 44 percent of its value. The German DAX bellwether index hardly fared any better 

with a decline of more than 40 percent. For the MDAX, which reflects the performance of medium-sized, market-listed 

companies in Germany, the loss for the year of more than 43 percent marked the poorest year in its history.

The principal reason for this slump in the market was the financial crisis emanating from the United States, where 

it began in the property market and became increasingly dramatic in the course of 2008. Due to the lack of funding 

options and the need for extremely large writedowns, banks and insurance companies in particular started to run into 

difficulties that caused some of these institutions to collapse. To counteract the feared crisis of confidence and avoid 

spill-over onto the real economy, central banks and governments around the world applied extensive emergency 

measures. Yet these only achieved limited success by yearend: in all major countries the economies increasingly lost 

momentum and many of them even posted a drop in gross domestic product for the fourth quarter. Given these signs 

of weakness, economic forecasts for 2009 were also widely scaled back by significant margins.

LEONI share in the overall market’s maelstrom

The downturn in business prospects affected virtually all sectors. However, along with financial institutions, the car-

makers and their suppliers came under particular pressure. Readiness to buy cars declined considerably worldwide 

in the second half of the year, a development that was clearly reflected in the business and share performance of the 

automotive companies. LEONI AG and the LEONI share could not detach themselves from this extremely tough set-

ting either: while fluctuating widely, the share price dropped as low as € 7.64 during the year before embarking on a 

recovery in the final weeks. The share ultimately closed out 2008 at a price of €12.99, which, versus the price of € 33.60 

at the end of 2007, equated to a decline of about 61 percent. The market capitalisation of the 29.7 million LEONI shares 

amounted to approx. € 386 million at the end of 2008, as opposed to about € 998 million one year earlier.
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Share buy-back programme carried out

The Management Board decided in mid October 2008 to buy back a proportion of the Company’s own shares to take 

advantage of their low price. In so doing, the Board made use of the Annual General Meeting’s corresponding authori-

sation to buy back up to 10 percent of the share capital. Having reached this level in mid December, the buy-back pro-

gramme was successfully completed. At the end of 2008, LEONI AG thus held a total of 2.97 million treasury shares.  

The average price at which the shares were bought back was € 9.79. The purchase was transacted via the market and 

funded from operating cash flow. The treasury shares are to be employed in particular to fund future acquisitions. 

Trading volume and shareholder structure 

The heavy volatility on equity markets resulted in another increase in the number of LEONI shares traded: a total of  

78.6 million shares were traded on the Frankfurt Stock Exchange and in the XETRA electronic trading system over the 

whole of 2008. This therefore exceeded the record level of the previous year, when 58.8 million shares changed hands, 

by another roughly 34 percent. The average number of shares traded per trading day rose by about 33 percent to 

309,487.

Considering the 10 percent treasury shares, the free float in LEONI shares stood at 90 percent at the end of 2008.  

Of these, about 63 percent were in the hands of institutional investors while private investors held 37 percent. The 

chart below shows the distribution of our shareholders by region: 

 04 05 06 07 08

 0.42  0.57 0.80 0.90 0.201

Dividend per share over time   [ € ]

Germany 79 %

Luxembourg, Switzerland each 4 %

Netherlands, USA, Norway, France each 2 %

Belgium, Denmark, Austria, United Kingdom each 1 %

other countries 1 %
as of January 2009

Shareholder structure by region

1  Subject to approval by shareholders 
at the Annual General Meeting

 

Dividend of € 0.20 per share planned

The global economic downturn also impacted heavily on LEONI AG’s business performance in 2008. This became  

evident above all in the fourth quarter, during which demand especially from the automotive industry plunged more 

rapidly and sharply than ever before in the Company’s history. This is the reason why consolidated net income dropped 

from € 86.2 million to € 5.2 million in 2008, which equates to a per-share figure of € 0.17 versus the previous year’s  

€ 2.87. 

Due to the decline in profit, we shall propose to shareholders at the ordinary Annual General Meeting on 14 May 

2009 to reduce the dividend from € 0.90 per share to € 0.20. The total payout will amount to € 5.3 million versus € 26.7 

million in the previous year.
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Analysts’ interest in LEONI rising

LEONI AG remained a firm fixture on the German equity market again in the past financial year. Regardless of the dif-

ficult capital market setting, more analysts watched and evaluated LEONI on a regular basis than in the previous year: 

overall, the number of German and foreign investment houses covering LEONI increased from 22 to 25. The large ma-

jority of financial experts (dated January 2009) still recommended LEONI as either a buy or a hold. Only three firms is-

sued sell recommendations. This favourable ratio underscores the positive perception that the capital market has of our 

Company.

Investor relations work stepped up

LEONI AG believes that providing the financial market and the interested public with open and comprehensive informa-

tion is one of its major strategic tasks. In this way we build confidence even during economically difficult times.

One-on-one dialogue with analysts, investors, private shareholders as well as the financial and business media has 

high priority in our investor relations work. The Management Board normally performs this task itself to document the 

importance and seriousness of this measure. In the past year alone we made presentations in the context of 20 road-

shows inside and outside Germany, and also took part in seven investor conferences. For the first time we also visited 

institutional investors in Portugal.

In addition, LEONI held a roadshow in 2008 prior to issuing the borrower’s note loans, which was specifically on 

this topic. This presentation contributed to our success in placing the borrower’s note loans in March on terms favour-

able to LEONI.

In addition to one-on-one dialogue, the investor relations team supporting the Management Board provided 

timely statements on all share-relevant information by means of ad-hoc announcements as well as other publications. 

These included media releases as well as annual and interim reports. The release of quarterly figures in 2008 was again 

accompanied by conference calls. During these events, LEONI’s Management Board commented on the principal facts 

and was available to analysts to answer questions. Journalists were invited to the balance sheet press conference held 

to present the annual financial statements.

Comprehensive shareholder service on the internet 

Comprehensive service on the internet rounds off the sources of information offered to shareholders and investors. 

Extensive data on LEONI AG and the LEONI share can be accessed there around the clock. Along with fundamental in-

formation, this also includes current analyst recommendations and the fiscal calendar, which in addition to the manda-

tory notices also contains all roadshow dates. It also enables viewing of presentations given during the balance sheet 

press conference and the Annual General Meeting as well as conference calls. Since 2008 we have also been offering 

transmission in full of LEONI’s annual analyst and investor conference via the internet. 



“Following the generally positive trend in the first nine months of 2008,  

the economic crisis in the fourth quarter severely affected LEONI AG’s  

business, making it impossible to meet the targets set for fiscal 2008.” 

Group management report
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Business basis 

LEONI is a global supplier of wires, cables and wiring systems as well as a provider of related development services. 

Operations are partitioned into two divisions: The range of the Wire & Cable Solutions division’s products and services 

comprises wires and strands, standard and special cables, fiber optic cables as well as complete cable systems and serv-

ices for a very wide variety of industrial applications. The Wiring Systems division develops, produces and distributes 

cable harnesses and complete wiring systems as well as components for the international motor vehicle industry. The 

two divisions form a complementary value chain: wires, strands and glass fibers are the basis for insulated copper con-

ductors and cables as well as fiber optic cables. These are assembled and processed into cable harnesses, cable systems 

as well as wiring systems, and offered as complete packages including supplementary services. 

LEONI’s range of products and services:

 

Markets

LEONI’s most important buyers for its Wiring Systems division are the multinational car and commercial vehicle indus-

try as well as its suppliers. In its Wire & Cable Solutions division, LEONI sells its products into the core markets of the 

automotive industry, domestic appliances, communications & infrastructure, industry & medical equipment as well as 

wire & strands. The proportion of consolidated sales accounted for by the motor vehicle industry has risen to about  

70.2 percent (65 percent in the previous year) due to the takeover at the beginning of 2008 of the wiring systems di-

vision previously belonging to Valeo – now called the LEONI Wiring Systems France (LWSF) Group. In regional terms, 

LEONI is present above all in Europe, Asia as well as in North and South America. 

Organisational structure

The two divisions are subdivided into business units to enable us to serve the various customer groups and market seg-

ments in a targeted way. In the Wiring Systems division, these units are essentially focused on the respective vehicle 

manufacturers, groups of manufacturers and suppliers. Following the integration of LWSF, dedicated business units 

were set up for the newly gained customers PSA, Renault Nissan and Fiat respectively. In line with our organisation, 

we have integrated business involving the Spanish manufacturer Seat into the existing VW Group & Porsche business 

unit. In the Wire & Cable Solutions division, the business units are focused on the differing market segments. Based on 

the growing demand for glass fiber wiring for private households (Fiber to the Home; or FTTH), we pooled and thereby 

strengthened our business in this respect in a dedicated business unit set up in 2008. 

Business and underlying conditions

Services

Cable Systems / Wiring Systems

Cable Assembly

  Copper Cables Fiber Optic Cables      

Wire & Strands Glass Fibers
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Principal facilities and acquisitions

LEONI maintains development centres, production facilities and sales offices in 35 countries in Europe, Asia, the 

Americas and North Africa. The number of fully consolidated companies rose from 86 to 94 during the year un-

der report. The LWSF Group constituted the most important acquisition. This expanded the    scope of consoli-

dation by 15 subsidiaries, most of which are located in Europe and North Africa. 

Other significant acquisitions involved the purchase of the Russian automotive component supplier 

Itelma’s cable harness production for foreign customers as well as 50 percent of the shares in the Korean wiring 

systems manufacturer Daekyeung. You will find detailed description of the acquisitions in fiscal 2008 in the  
  Notes. 

Competitive position

Following acquisition of the LWSF Group, the Wiring Systems division is the leading European provider of wir-

ing systems and cable harnesses with a market share of about 23 percent. Worldwide, we are in fourth place 

with about 9 percent of the market. The Wire & Cable Solutions division is one of Europe’s largest and techno-

logically leading suppliers of high quality wire and cable products, special cables as well as cable systems that 

are mostly customised developments. In the fiber optics segment we are also, as special cables manufacturer 

and systems provider, in a leading position across Europe. In the segments comprising automotive and special 

cables, complete dresspacks and system solutions we command top positions globally. LEONI is also among 

the world’s largest manufacturers of cables for data communications and for major industrial projects, as well 

as of thin wires and strands for the cable industry. In the segments covering solar cables, irradiation crosslinked 

cables and high-speed cables for computer centres we are technological leaders. 

Based on close collaboration between its business units and an end-to-end value chain, LEONI commands 

unique know-how and thus a crucial competitive advantage. Collaboration between the two divisions also pro-

vides synergy in procurement and in other core service areas. High quality and delivery reliability, technological 

expertise, innovative power as well as a global, cost-optimised production network additionally strengthen our 

position in the market. The Wiring Systems division in particular also benefits from the fact that the majority of 

its labour-intensive production is located at facilities in North Africa, where labour market conditions are low-

cost and relatively stable.  

Strategy

The LEONI Group pursues an earnings-oriented growth strategy to further strengthen its unique position in the 

market and to raise its enterprise value on a lasting basis. The Group’s structure with its two independent seg-

ments takes account of the differing markets and customer groups. 

In the Wiring Systems division, targeted acquisitions in 2008 provided the basis for tapping the high-

growth markets in Asia and Eastern Europe. LEONI will consequently continue to grow organically; in other 

words with new customers and additional orders from existing customers. There will be particular focus in this 

    Scope of consolidation: 

 Notes, note 4, page 106

   Notes, note 5, page 107
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respect on China, Korea and Russia. We also intend to improve our position in the commercial vehicle segment and 

among the multinational component industry.

Business involving electrical components such as fuse and power distributor systems will also be expanded with 

the aim of extending the value chain. With such innovative products we are continuously enhancing our wiring sys-

tems expertise, thereby offering our customers a comprehensive product range and optimum solutions to problems. 

The ability to compete in the wiring systems business is built on the degree of cost leadership attained. As production 

is highly labour intensive, the Wiring Systems division produces mostly in low-wage countries to safeguard this cost 

advantage while all existing production facilities are continuously and systematically checked for attainment of our 

high productivity targets. 

The strategy of the Wire & Cable Solutions division is aimed at profitable growth both from its own resources and 

by means of acquisitions. The objective is to underpin the leading market position meanwhile attained in many seg-

ments. Regional positions in emerging countries such as Russia will be expanded on a selective basis. We continue to 

steadily develop towards the status of systems provider by also extending our product range in promising market seg-

ments and systematically closing gaps in the value chain. 

To support this strategy, we strive inside our Company for continuous productivity increases, quality optimisation 

and rounding-off of our product range. The elements of value creation are balanced between production and customer 

markets; bottlenecks are eliminated and the exposure to deliveries from third parties is reduced. With group-wide 

functions focused accordingly, we support the exchange of information and knowledge between the business units 

and thereby realise significant synergies.

The LEONI Group is in principle holding to its expansion strategy, even in the currently difficult economic phase. 

Various projects are currently being postponed, however, in favour of measures to adapt to the altered underlying con-

ditions. The section on the     financial situation provides detail of the Group-wide funding strategy. There are no stra-

tegic equity interests. 

Management system and corporate governance

LEONI’s corporate governance is resolutely in line with the principles of the German Corporate Governance Code, the 

recommendations of which are applied in full. The Management Board, which has three members, is responsible for 

managing the Group. Its work is monitored by the Supervisory Board. Details of the compensation for members of the 

Management and Supervisory Boards are presented in the    compensation report, which is part of the audited group 

management report and the consolidated financial statements. The Management Board develops the Group strategy 

and – in close consultation with those in charge of the divisions and the individual business units – measures suited to 

its implementation. This corporate governance follows the principle of corporate control and decentralised manage-

ment. We are thus able to detect risks at an early stage as well as to take and fund growth and earnings opportunities 

in a targeted way. 

We continuously watch various leading indicators for operational risk to be able to note outside changes at an early 

stage and involve corporate controlling. This includes market, economic and selected sector-specific information and 

the order books of our business units as well as the trend in key commodity prices. 

Corporate controlling measures the success of our divisions and business units on the basis of key data. The focus 

is on sales performance, earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT), the return on capital employed (ROCE) as well as the 

free cash flow (FCF). The section headed     LEONI performance overview presents the most important targets and the 

actual results in the 2008 financial year.

   page 48

   page 58

   page 34
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Legal and economic factors

LEONI’s business performance is subject to a large number of external factors. Along with the situation on its most im-

portant    markets the prices of important    materials such as metals and plastics as well as energy costs play a cru-

cial role. Personnel expenses also have a very large impact: due in some cases to significant wage and salary increases, 

LEONI’s cost of production rose considerably at some eastern European facilities in 2008. Unfavourable exchange rates 

aggravated this development. The political and competition law-related conditions in the countries most important to 

us in terms of production and sales are also significant. For example, manufacturers of plants for sourcing alternative 

energy, which is a major LEONI customer group, benefit from a resolute focus on environmental concerns. Current po-

litical decisions such as the amended tax on motor vehicles in Germany also impact on our business. 

Business and underlying conditions

Macro-economy

Underlying economic conditions deteriorated dramatically worldwide in the course of 2008. The cause was the finan-

cial market crisis originating in the United States, which intensified considerably and, from the second half of the year, 

also increasingly affected the real economy. The in any case already stricken confidence of companies and consumers 

thus diminished further, culminating in pronounced restraint in investing and spending. Particularly in the fourth quar-

ter, this resulted in the heaviest slump in economic momentum for a long time. It impacted especially on the industrial-

ised countries, although rates of growth also weakened significantly in the emerging countries. This drastic change also 

caught the economic research institutes by surprise; within a brief period they were on repeated occasions compelled 

to correct their forecasts for the past year downwards. 

To arrest the accelerated global downward spiral, central banks and governments around the world applied exten-

sive emergency measures that, however, only had limited success by yearend. Overall, the International Monetary Fund 

(IMF) estimates that global growth declined from 5.2 percent to probably 3.4 percent in 2008. The fact that this decline 

did not turn out much more severe was due to the still comparatively favourable trend at the beginning of the year. 

This also applied to the industrialised countries, which are likely to still have grown by about 1 percent over the whole 

year. The comparison with 2007, when the growth rate generated still came to 2.7 percent, illustrates the sharp slow-

down, however. In the United States, the increase in economic output contracted from 2.0 percent in 2007 to probably 

1.1 percent in 2008, while in the eurozone it dropped from 2.6 percent to 1.0 percent. As the German Federal Office of 

Statistics announced on the basis of provisional computations, economic growth in Germany virtually halved from  

2.5 percent to 1.3 percent.

Global economic growth   [ % ]

  2007 2008

 5.2 3.4

[ Source: International Monetary Fund,  
2008 forecast ]

   Business by sector, page  47

   Procurement, page 65
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Business by sector

The international financial market crisis and the consequent global economic slump also left clear traces on many of 

LEONI’s key customer industries. The global automotive industry and particularly the German manufacturers, being 

highly dependent on exports, were especially severely affected. According to estimates of the German Association of 

the Automotive Industry (VDA), the bottom line in 2008 was a 5 percent worldwide decrease in passenger car sales. 

Whereas demand was still up by 1 percent in the first half, it already lost a significant degree of momentum in the third 

quarter and in the fourth quarter plunged at double-digit percentage rates across all regions. As this slump in the car 

market caught many manufacturers by surprise, the sector responded with very short-notice capacity adjustment 

measures that were unforeseeable for the component supply industry. The biggest loser among the major automotive 

countries were the USA, where the market dropped by 18 percent, followed by Europe and Japan with decreases of  

5 percent each. In Germany, new vehicle registrations were down by about 2 percent. Although the car markets in 

Russia, China, India and the Mercosur countries in South America still registered rates of gain over the year as a whole, 

they were also hit by the serious sales crisis in the fourth quarter. There was consequently still growth over the full year, 

but this was well down from the growth rates of 2007. Car production dropped worldwide in 2008: about 5 percent 

fewer units were built than in the previous year. This reduction is due in particular to the slump in the fourth quarter.

In the commercial vehicle market, output was stable with more than 11 million units despite the economic 

downturn. Commercial vehicle manufacturers’ large order backlogs rescued the year’s figures in this segment. Yet in 

the fourth quarter the global recession also reached the multinational truck industry. This further intensified the in any 

case significant decline in demand in the USA and the NAFTA region as a whole. In Europe, there was no noteworthy 

year-on-year change. China ultimately recorded slight gains, while the dynamic Mercosur region even grew at double-

digit pace over the year as a whole. In Germany, commercial vehicle production was up slightly, by 2 percent, on 2007. 

Performance in the domestic capital goods industry was mixed in 2008: According to VDMA (German Engineering 

Federation) figures, the mechanical engineering sector increased its output by a further 5 percent or so over the 

whole year, but it did register a dramatic drop in orders in November and December. The German Electrical and 

Electronic Manufacturers’ Association (ZVEI) reported a similar trend, with member companies ultimately gener-

ating flat sales in 2008. The sales of the relatively non-cyclical medical equipment industry were, according to the 

projections of its association Spectaris, up by 5 percent in the past year. The solar energy market also grew strongly. 

Based on figures of the German Federal Solar Energy Association, for example, the number of newly installed solar en-

ergy units in Germany more than doubled year on year in 2008.

The German rolling stock industry did, according to its federal association, at least generate steady sales in 2008. 

By contrast, the number of units delivered by the two largest aircraft manufacturers, Airbus and Boeing, declined 

slightly worldwide according to their own figures. 

The market for information technology, telecommunications and consumer electronics (ITK) in Germany 

grew by about 1 percent in 2008 according to forecasts of the German Association for Information Technology, 

Telecommunications and New Media (BITKOM). While sales of digital consumer electronics and of information technol-

ogy were up, demand in the telecommunications segment was down slightly. 

 2007 2008 2007 2008
 Cars Trucks

 60.4 57.5 11.6 11.7

Global car and truck output
[ in millions of units ]

[ Source: VDA ]
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LEONI performance overview 

General statement on performance and the business situation

Group key figures 2008 2007 Change 

Group external sales € 2,912.0 million € 2,366.8 million 23.0 %

EBIT € 55.7 million € 138.1 million (59.7) %

EBIT excl. impact of revaluation1 € 71.9 million € 140.6 million (48.9) %

EBIT/external sales 1.9 % 5.8 % —

Net income € 5.2 million € 86.2 million (94.0) %

Free cash flow € (60.4) million € (234.4) million 74.2 %

Adjusted free cash flow 2 € (13.9) million € 100.6 million (113.8) %

Return on capital employed 5.4 % 15.4 %  —

Capital expenditure in property, plant and equipment  

as well as intangible assets € 158.4 million € 93.7 million 69.1 %

Acquisitions and investments € 178.1 million € 38.9 million 357.8 %

Employees (as at 12/31) 50,821 36,855 37.9 %
1 Earnings adjusted for the impact of revaluation as part of allocating the prices of major acquisitions
2 Free cash flow before the dividend, acquisitions and the share buy-back

 

Following the generally positive trend in the first nine months of 2008, the economic crisis in the fourth quarter severe-

ly affected LEONI AG’s business, making it impossible to meet the targets set for fiscal 2008. Although Group external 

sales rose by 23 percent to € 2.9 billion, this growth was attributable exclusively to acquisitions and in particular the 

purchase of the LWSF Group. It contributed € 573.6 million to consolidated sales. The dramatic sales crisis in the auto-

motive industry and in other key industries caused LEONI’s sales to plunge by about 25 percent in the fourth quarter 

vis-à-vis the average for the first three quarters. Even immediately implemented savings measures could no longer suf-

ficiently offset the fallout from this development, which squeezed earnings considerably. In addition, there was in the 

fourth quarter a charge of about € 21 million against earnings due mainly to the collapse in the market price of copper 

and the resulting impact of write-downs on inventory. For fiscal 2008 as a whole, consolidated earnings before inter-

est and taxes (EBIT) were down from € 138.1 million to € 55.7 million. Adjusted for the impact of revaluation as part of 

allocating the prices of major acquisitions EBIT came to € 71.9 million in the period under report. Consolidated net in-

come amounted to € 5.2 million, from € 86.2 million one year earlier. Despite this dramatic development, the Group’s  

financial situation still presents a very solid picture thanks to successful issue in 2008 of long-term borrower’s note 

loans as well as other bilateral, long-term loans on favourable terms. 

LEONI originally projected consolidated sales of at least € 3 billion and consolidated EBIT of about € 140 million 

for the past financial year. Until the middle of 2008 business performance was up on our expectations, nor were there 

yet any signs in the third quarter of major deviation from planning. Following the abrupt onset of the crisis early in the 

fourth quarter, we revised our guidance in two steps (table below). In addition to the decline in profit due to the reduc-

tion in sales, a less favourable product mix, restructuring expenses, exchange rate factors as well as particularly the 

aforementioned collapse in the price of copper exerted a disproportionately adverse effect on earnings. 

Key figures Sales EBIT ROCE

Target for 2008 at least € 3 bn about € 140 million 12.6 %

Ad-hoc announcement 10/14/08 at least € 2.9 bn € 110 – 120 million  —

Ad-hoc announcement 11/04/08 about € 2.9 bn about € 95 million  —

Actual 2008 figures € 2.9 bn € 55.7 million 5.4 %
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Wiring Systems division

The Wiring Systems division’s range of products and services stretches from basic cable harnesses to wired sensors 

through to complete, ready-to-install wiring systems including fuse and power distributor units for cars and commer-

cial vehicles. Such a wiring system comprises all the electrical connection technology of a vehicle as well as all the re-

lated components such as fixing and sealing parts, cable conduits, fuse boxes, power distributors and electronic control 

systems. In addition to what is called the main cable harness, a vehicle also requires a large number of ancillary cable 

harnesses for individual vehicle parts and modules, such as the engine, instrument panel, doors and seats. 

The customer base for wiring systems and cable harnesses consists in the first place of the multinational auto-

motive industry. Here LEONI supplies virtually all manufacturers and model categories from the low-cost, entry-level 

model to the whole gamut of mid-range cars and up to the most luxurious premium vehicles. Secondly, makers of 

commercial vehicles like trucks, agricultural and construction machinery as well as the leading, independent engine 

manufacturers are of steadily growing importance. The automotive component suppliers of worldwide renown, which 

supply their systems complete with our cable harnesses to the vehicle manufacturers, constitute the third important 

customer segment. On their behalf we develop and produce, for example, cable harnesses for heating, ventilation and 

air-conditioning systems as well as for driver assist systems such as vehicle-interval radar, ABS and ESP systems. 

All these different systems are designed in tandem with the development of a new vehicle over many years of 

close collaboration between LEONI and its customers. We must to that extent sometimes commit substantial pre- 

production spending on these projects, which is then amortised over the production period of the corresponding  

vehicle. The risks to the vehicle’s success stemming from regional market cycles or mounting competitive pressure are 

well diversified by LEONI’s far-reaching international position and the large number of vehicle manufacturers supplied. 

We also benefit from our flexible assembly and logistics processes, and from the high proportion of our output at  

locations with favourable wage costs in Eastern Europe, North Africa, China and Mexico.

Successful integration of the LWSF Group

On 2 January 2008, LEONI took over the wiring systems division of the French automotive component supplier Valeo. 

The acquisition of this group of companies, in the meantime renamed LEONI Wiring Systems France (LWSF), was 

the hitherto largest in the LEONI Group’s history and resulted in strong growth of the Wiring Systems division. Our    
  market share increased significantly as a result of the takeover. The LWSF Group is a perfect strategic fit for LEONI: 

it extended our customer base to include major carmakers not previously supplied, like Peugeot, Citroën, Renault-

Nissan, Seat and Fiat – all of which with strong positions in the low-cost segment – as well as other partners in the 

component supply and commercial vehicle industries. The LWSF facilities, most of which are located in North Africa, 

also complement LEONI’s production network exceptionally well, making important production synergies possible.

Sales by business division   [ % ]

Wiring Systems 51.9 %
Wire & Cable Solutions 48.1 %

   Competitive position, page 44

Reports by division/Segment report
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The acquisition also significantly strengthened our development expertise: we gained additional know-how and re-

sources especially in the areas of concept analysis, CAD simulation and benchmarking of wiring systems. This gives 

us key competitive advantages and already won us a further development contract from carmaker PSA in 2008. 

Furthermore, by comparing vehicle architectures we devise best-in-practice solutions and thereby set performance 

standards within the substantially enlarged business division. 

Integration of the LWSF Group was among the focal points of work during the year under report. In international 

workshops we initially analysed the structure and processes of both companies, and specified synergistic potential. 

In successful teamwork we created a consistent organisational structure by the middle of the year and optimised the 

processes in the individual departments. This integration exerted an increasingly beneficial effect in the course of the 

year and will provide the whole segment with constructive impetus with which we shall be able to further extend our 

leading position in the sector. The enlarged production network provides further synergistic potential, which is now 

being realised by relocating and combining capacity at various facilities. 

 

Business performance

Key figures: Wiring Systems 2008 2007 Change 

External sales € 1,510.5 million € 986.0 million 53.2 %

EBIT € 23.4 million € 57.8 million (59.5) %

EBIT excl. impact of revaluation1 € 37.4 million € 57.8 million (35.3) %

EBIT/external sales 1.5 % 5.9 % —

Capital expenditure 2 € 93.6 million € 37.7 million 148.3 %

Employees (as at 12/31) 42,633 28,262 50.8 %
1 Earnings adjusted for the impact of revaluation as part of allocating the prices of major acquisitions
2 Capital expenditure on property, plant and equipment as well as intangible assets 

The Wiring Systems division’s external sales increased by 53 percent to € 1,510.5 million in 2008. The LWSF Group pro-

vided € 573.6 million to this total. Business went according to plan in the first nine months. Due to the crisis in the auto-

motive industry we were compelled in the fourth quarter, however, to cope with a huge decrease in our product called 

forward among virtually all car and commercial vehicle manufacturers. 

The main sales drivers over the year as a whole included cable systems and complete wiring systems for carmakers 

Daimler und PSA with their Mercedes A and B-Class, Smart, Citroën C5 and Peugeot 308 models, among others. High 

rates of growth were also generated in the commercial vehicle industry, which is meanwhile also among the important 

areas of business. Furthermore, we registered positive impetus in China where, alongside the foreign carmakers, we 

also supplied the Chinese manufacturer SAIC with notable quantities for the first time. 

Irrespective of the economic crisis, various new and follow-on projects for some of our customers in the motor 

vehicle industry again started up during the year under report. Among other things, we have started delivering cable 

harnesses and wiring systems for the Peugeot 308 station wagon, the updated Peugeot 407 and for Citroën’s C5. We 

also began production for the Mercedes C-Class Sports Coupé in Brazil and for the face-lifted Porsche 911. In the com-

mercial vehicle segment, production started of cable harnesses for new engines of the manufacturer Cummins. For 

these and other impending new projects we set up and aligned our    production network around the world.    Capital expenditure, page 60

 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008

 683.1  879.4 954.2 986.0 1,510.5

Segment sales  
Wiring Systems  [ € million ]
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The sales lost in the fourth quarter due to the smaller quantities of product called forward weighed considerably on the 

Wiring Systems division’s earnings. To counteract this, the division initially used flexible working time and pay arrange-

ments, cut overtime and flexitime and also extended the holiday shut-down period towards yearend. Temporary and 

fixed-term employment contracts were also terminated. Due to differing legal requirements in the individual countries 

and sharp fluctuation in the amount of product called forward by customers, it was necessary to develop individually 

optimised concepts for each facility to make staffing capacity more flexible, yet most of these could not fully match the 

widely fluctuating declines in volume. In addition, there were once again major pre-production expenses and ramp-up 

costs for the new projects as well as spending on relocating production to optimise the structure of facilities. As this 

only partly offset the fallout from the sales crisis, far-reaching restructuring measures were at the same time already 

launched in the fourth quarter of 2008. Overall, the number of employees declined from about 44,800 in September to 

approximately 42,600 by the end of 2008.

Earnings before interest and taxes contracted from € 57.8 million to € 23.4 million. This includes restructuring 

expenses amounting to € 5.2 million (previous year: € 5.8 million), which involved facility closures in Poland, Hungary 

and Italy. Adjusted for the impact of revaluation associated with the purchase of the LWSF Group, fiscal 2008 EBIT came 

to € 37.4 million.

Investment in Daekyeung

With the intention of tapping into the Asian market further, LEONI at the end of May 2008 acquired a first tranche of 

50 percent of the shares in its existing joint venture partner Daekyeung, one of South Korea’s leading wiring systems 

manufacturers. Moreover, LEONI has an obligation to acquire the remaining shares within the next five years. The in-

vestment safeguards our collaboration with Daekyeung for the long term and strengthens our base for obtaining more 

orders from this potentially high growth region. The customers currently include the carmakers SsangYong Motors and 

GMDAT (a joint venture between General Motors and Daewoo) as well as the special vehicle supplier Volvo Construction 

Equipment. Daekyeung (sales of € 53.7 million since May 2008) has its headquarters in Busan, operates two production 

facilities in China and employed about 2,583 people at the time of the purchase. 

 

Entry into Russia

With an order from the commercial vehicle maker KAMAZ, LEONI succeeded in entering the Russian market in 

2008. To supply Russia’s leading commercial vehicle manufacturer, LEONI is planning to move into a new production 

facility near the KAMAZ facility in Naberezhnye Chelny. In November 2008 LEONI also acquired the international wiring 

systems business of the Russian automotive component supplier Itelma (Lik Avto) in Gorodets. Lik Avto, which pro-

vides mainly cable harnesses for the Dacia Logan model to the Avtoframos company, generated sales of € 4.1 million 

with 350 employees (as at 31 December 2008). This has improved our base for gaining more multinational carmakers, 

all of which are currently setting up and expanding production in Russia, as customers. In the medium term we intend 

to become one of the leading wiring systems manufacturers in Russia. A further large contract obtained in the mean-

time, which covers the whole wiring system for the Fiat Ducato that licensee Severstal Auto makes for the Russian mar-

ket, underscores our strategy. 
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LEONI technology for hybrid and electric vehicles

The oil price shock of 2008 revitalised international environmental awareness and the trend in the automotive indus-

try towards alternative drive systems. LEONI has been working for years on developing corresponding cable harnesses 

and wiring systems. We are in fact one of the few manufacturers anywhere in the world to have been regularly making 

such products for years. During the year under report, we further stepped up our collaboration with existing strategic 

partners in this field and engaged in new joint ventures. The aim is in future to be able to offer the complete high volt-

age wiring system for electric vehicles. We expect an ever increasing number of customer projects to involve wiring 

systems for hybrid vehicles. 

Expansion of the component business

To extend its vertical range of manufacture, the Wiring Systems division is continuing to systematically expand its busi-

ness involving electric and electronic components. We are therefore highly focussed on developing our own products 

such as the LEONI multi-fuse and broadening our range. The Components business unit set up for this purpose in the 

previous year already has succeeded in obtaining several orders from the car and commercial vehicle industry. As part 

of the large project for one particular carmaker, we prepared in 2008 for production in Romania of fuse and relay boxes 

developed in-house, with production itself commencing in 2009. 

 

New orders still strong

Regardless of the smaller volume of product called forward under current projects because of the economy, LEONI 

again succeeded in 2008 in booking numerous new and follow-on contracts from multinational car and commercial ve-

hicle manufacturers. The total size of the order book for the medium term amounts to about € 9 billion, of which about 

80 percent constitutes follow-on contracts and 20 percent new ones, which will contribute to further widening LEONI’s 

market shares. LEONI Wiring Systems is thus exceptionally well positioned and will, once the challenges relating to the 

global economic crisis have been mastered, assume its role as a leading provider of high performance wiring systems 

worldwide. 
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Wire & Cable Solutions division

LEONI’s Wire & Cable Solutions division offers the widest possible variety of wire and cable products, cable systems  

as well as related services. Its offering encompasses the development, production and distribution of

 bare, tinned, nickel-plated, silver-plated or gold-plated copper wires and strands for the cable and components 

industry 

 vehicle and special cables for cable harnesses and complete wiring systems, which are used by LEONI Wiring 

Systems or other international automotive component suppliers 

 power cords and cable harnesses for electric household appliances and power tools

 data cables based on copper or glass fiber for telecommunications, communication and data networks in office 

and industrial buildings as well as for fiber-to-the-home (FTTH) applications 

 glass fibers, fiber optic cables and cable systems for medical equipment, laser and industrial applications

 special cables and cable systems for the capital goods industry, traffic engineering and for infrastructure projects 

that are often individually developed and assembled ready to connect. Here we supply customers for example in 

the mechanical engineering and robotics industries, manufacturers of special vehicles and rolling stock, as well as 

companies in the aerospace, shipbuilding and medical equipments sectors. The buyers in the infrastructure sec-

tor include, among others, the construction machinery industry, airport operators, oil refineries, power stations as 

well as wind and solar farms

 services such as irradiation crosslinking of plastics, sterilisation of medical equipment and other services in the 

robotics business.

LEONI has over the past few years successively expanded its systems expertise above all in the areas of special ca-

bles and data cables, and has thereby improved its competitive position. Generally very good relationships with our 

customers, based on mutual trust and often long-standing partnerships, also exert a beneficial effect. LEONI provides 

its buyers with the highest quality, comprehensive know-how, extensive experience, innovative power and flexibility. 

Furthermore, we attain a competitive edge with a high vertical range of manufacture and breadth in technology, our 

comprehensive product portfolio, our global production and logistics network as well as incremental expansion of our 

range of services in numerous areas of business. 

Business performance

Key figures: Wire & Cable Solutions 2008 2007 Change 

External sales € 1,401.5 million € 1,380.8 million 1.5 %

EBIT € 29.6 million € 80.8 million (63.4) %

EBIT excl. impact of revaluation1 € 31.8 million € 83.3 million (61.8) %

EBIT/sales 2.1 % 5.9 % —

Capital expenditure 2 € 53.1 million € 48.0 million 10.6 %

Employees (as at 12/31) 8,008 8,411 (4.8) %
1 Earnings adjusted for the impact of revaluation as part of the purchase price allocation of major acquisitions
2 Capital expenditure on property, plant and equipment as well as intangible assets 

Sales by business division   [ % ]

Wiring Systems 51.9 %
Wire & Cable Solutions 48.1 %
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The external sales of the Wire & Cable Solutions division rose by a modest 1.5 percent or € 20.7 million to 

€ 1,401.5 million in the year under report. Of this, acquisitions accounted for € 36.4 million and organic growth for  

€ 5.1 million. Following an undiminished uptrend in many areas during the first three quarters of 2008, the economic  

crisis clearly made its mark in the final three months. Demand especially for automotive cables, power cords for electrical 

and household appliances, cable systems for the mechanical engineering sector as well as wire and strands declined  

significantly. Along with the resulting weaker degree of capacity utilisation, earnings were squeezed above all by   

large   write-downs on copper inventory. Pre-production spending on development for a major order from the aviation 

industry as well as restructuring expenses relating to relocation of power cord production from Spain to Morocco also re-

duced earnings. Overall, the division’s EBIT was down from € 80.8 million to € 29.6 million. 

By contrast, business in the medical equipment, petrochemical, solar technology and fiber optics sectors as well 

as in the specialist field of irradiation crosslinking remained good. That is why the extensive     capital investment pro-

gramme of 2008 was implemented without any major cutbacks in these areas. 

Automotive cables: market position strengthened despite the crisis

During the year under report, the Wire & Cable Solutions division further improved its leading global position in the 

market for automotive cables in spite of the difficult conditions. Demand especially for technologically sophisticated ve-

hicle data cables, e.g. for infotainment and driver assist systems, grew strongly. Overall, however, the crisis on the motor 

vehicle industry exerted a major influence on performance in the course of the year. Whereas our plants were still oper-

ating at the upper limit of capacity in the first half of 2008, demand initially eased slightly after the summer break and 

then plunged sharply as of October. LEONI responded rapidly to the production stoppages in the automotive and com-

ponent industry with various measures such as cutting overtime, working hour accounts and leave days as well as by 

terminating temporary employment contracts. Due to the uncertainty about future business in the sector, preparations 

for introducing short-time working were also made. 

Expertise in electrical appliance cables enhanced

We managed in 2008 to defend our leading position in the European market covering power cords for electrical appli-

ances even though competitive pressure intensified further. LEONI is meanwhile also among the largest producers in 

Asia. The subsidiary LEONI Furas, acquired in mid 2007 with plants in Spain and Morocco, also contributed by enhanc-

ing our expertise involving rubber-insulated cables and professional power tools. The increasing economic downturn 

affected this area of business especially severely, particularly at facilities producing for the US market. Due to the di-

minished demand, the number of employees at foreign production facilities had to be reduced significantly, especially 

so in China. To achieve cost benefits, all of LEONI Furas’ production was also relocated from Spain to Morocco during 

the year under report. 

    Earnings performance, 

 page 57

   Capital expenditure, page 60

 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008

 567.1  668.6 1,154.0 1,380.8 1,401.5

Segment sales

Wire & Cable Solutions   [ € million ]
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Infrastructure: major contract for the Gotthard Tunnel

The trend in business involving wiring for buildings and traffic infrastructure projects was very restrained in 2008. 

Declining demand characterised the Swiss market in particular. By contrast, demand for cables and conductors for 

wind and solar farms as well as for refineries was especially strong. LEONI was contracted to supply several large 

petrochemical plants, located among other places in India, Russia, Saudi Arabia and the United Arab Emirates. 

In the traffic infrastructure sector LEONI secured an important, large-scale project during the period under report: 

the wiring of the Gotthard Base Tunnel. Starting in 2009, we will equip this railway tunnel, world’s longest at 57 kilo-

metres, mostly with halogen free safety and power supply cables. For the first time, LEONI is acting as a systems pro-

vider here; along with the cables also supplying the related installation systems directly into the tunnel. The contract 

will probably run until 2015 and is worth about € 75 million. 

Communications technology: FTTH know-how pooled

In the fiber-to-the-home business, LEONI has already proven its expertise in several, wide-ranging glass fiber cable 

projects of major European cities. To tap the growing potential of this market, we pooled our corresponding know-how 

in a dedicated business unit in 2008. As a system provider, we can thus now manage, oversee and execute complex 

projects. An attractive offering with which LEONI intends to establish itself even better as a long-term partner for the 

network operators was created by pooling the production and services relating to glass fiber connections as well as 

wiring solutions for households under the brand name of “LEONI to the Home“.

Capital goods industry: market position improved by takeovers

Demand from the capital goods industry, especially robotics and mechanical engineering, tracked the general eco-

nomic trend during the period under report. At first the uptrend of the previous year continued, but that was followed 

in the fourth quarter by a significant decline due to the crisis in the automotive industry. To counteract, we applied  

savings to personnel as well as structural costs and expanded the profitable services business. LEONI thereby succeed-

ed in bolstering its leading global position as a provider of cable systems for robotics. For example, we received an im-

portant follow-on contract from the carmaker Audi to equip several hundred robots with umbilical tube harnesses for 

dresspacks. The specialist company Robot-tec Machine Perception, which was acquired effective 1 January 2008 and 

has enhanced our know-how in the area of software for industrial robots, also provided positive impetus. 

Business with the medical equipment industry remained unaffected by the macroeconomic turmoil and in-

creased significantly in 2008. A new generation of devices, for example of magnetic resonance tomographs, was fitted 

with LEONI cables and system solutions. Our range of products for this growth market widened at the end of 2007 with 

the acquired fiber specialist LEONI Fiber Tech to include high quality quartzous fibers and completely assembled fiber 

optic cables for laser beam transmission. LEONI also scored in the medical equipment market with miniature cables: 

with a first order to equip state-of-the-art surgical robots with these microscopically small, high performance cables 

we succeeded in entering this market. 
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Traffic engineering: large order from Airbus

In the segment of special cables and cable systems for the aerospace, shipbuilding and rolling stock industries there 

was also little sign in 2008 of fallout from the financial crisis, meaning that we were able to grow further. In May we 

achieved a breakthrough in the market for commercial aircrafts: The aircraft manufacturer Airbus commissioned 

LEONI to provide the wiring for various components such as the vertical tail and landing gear of the Airbus families 

A320 to A340. Delivery began at the end of 2008 from our facility in Friesoythe, northern Germany and is in the future 

to be handled by our plant in Changzhou, China. The project covers about 500 aircraft p.a., will probably run for five 

years and is worth about € 50 million. LEONI also progressed in the shipbuilding industry: Among other things, we 

succeeded in entering the UK and US markets, and the Meyer-Werft shipyard awarded us a large contract covering the 

assembly of cable harnesses for ship cabins. 

Wire business: success for LEONI Histral

The demand for wire and strands, particularly for the special cables industry, was marked considerably during the year 

under report by the trend in the economy. The initially very good utilisation of capacity at our European facilities as 

well as the sound situation at our plants in the United States and China ensured satisfactory business performance in 

the first three quarters of 2008. In the fourth quarter, however, demand collapsed worldwide because of the special  

cable manufacturers’ heavy exposure to the automotive industry. LEONI cushioned the impact with various adjustment 

measures such as the termination of temporary employment contracts, a reduction in weekly working hours, tempo-

rary plant shutdowns as well as redundancies for operational reasons at some foreign facilities. Despite this difficult 

environment, we managed to gain market share – not least thanks to our substantial power of innovation. Proof of this 

involved, for example, initial production deliveries of wires and strands with the LEONI Histral alloy, which is extremely 

stable under widely varying temperatures and also elastic. 

Strong growth in irradiation crosslinking

LEONI expanded strongly in 2008 in the specialist area of irradiation crosslinking. Through the use of electron beams, 

this innovative technology makes polymer cables and pipes thermally more stable and more resistant to mechani-

cal strain. They are used, among other areas, in the production of high quality automotive cables for engine compart-

ments. We expanded capacity in this business segment because of the sustained good demand. Among other things, 

we are setting up a new facility for this technology in Bautzen, Germany, which will probably go into operation in 

March 2009.  
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Earnings performance 

Consolidated sales

Based on the performance in both of its divisions, LEONI generated total consolidated sales of € 2,912.0 million, up from 

€ 2,366.8 million in the previous year. Following a very solid trajectory in the first three quarters, the situation changed 

rapidly from October: the sales crisis in the automotive industry, which struck the component supply industry with  

unprecedented ferocity, also caught LEONI. In the fourth quarter our consolidated sales were therefore down about  

25 percent from the average figure for the first three quarters.

Over the whole of 2008 the volume of business grew by 23 percent. The LWSF Group contributed € 573.6 million to 

this total. The companies acquired in the second half of 2007, namely LEONI Furas, Silitherm and Fiber Tech, as well as  

Lik Avto purchased in 2008 together accounted for € 37.8 million (previous year: € 28.7 million). The fall in the copper 

price meant a reduction in consolidated sales of € 20.3 million. The effect of changes in exchange rates was € 81.7 mil-

lion: disregarding this, the volume of business would have amounted to € 2,993.7 million.

As a result of consolidating the LWSF Group, LEONI expanded above all outside Germany. The volume of business in 

the EU countries excluding Germany rose by almost 61 percent to € 1,297.9 million. In Germany sales were up by nearly 

2 percent to € 915.7 million, and outside the EU by 6 percent to € 698.3 million. There was consequently a considerable 

shift in the percentage breakdown of sales by region. The proportion of business invoiced in Germany dropped from  

38 percent to 31 percent. The contribution of the other EU countries, on the other hand, grew from 34 percent to 45 per-

cent. The Group generated 24 percent of its business outside the EU, down from 28 percent in the previous year. 

Earnings performance

The unexpectedly massive slump in sales and income in the fourth quarter of 2008 also had a considerably detrimental 

effect on the LEONI Group’s earnings, even though we quickly and decisively initiated immediate measures to cut costs 

across divisions and countries. Devaluation of copper inventory also had a very adverse effect on earnings. The price of 

this crucial input material more than halved in the fourth quarter, from € 4.57 per kilogramme to € 2.16, a development 

that required LEONI to write down inventory by a total of € 12.0 million. Furthermore, the fourth-quarter slump in the 

price of copper incurred further charges of € 9 million. On an annualised basis, the gross margin on sales contracted 

from 18.6 percent to 15.3 percent. Gross profit was, at € 446.3 million, up slightly on the previous year’s level  

(€ 439.5 million).

With respect to the changes to items in the income statement, initial consolidation of the LWSF Group exerted a 

particularly marked effect in year-on-year comparison. The Wiring Systems division’s once again substantial pre- 

production spending on numerous new orders also had major effect on 2008 earnings. In particular, research and  

development work was stepped up, resulting in a large increase in the corresponding expense item of 58 percent to  

€ 88.3 million. Selling costs, which rose by about 20 percent to € 154.5 million, as well as general and administration 

expenses, which mounted by 27 percent to € 140.3 million, together increased at a rate largely in line with the growth 

in business.

Sales by region  [ in % ]

Non EU countries 24 %
Germany 31 %
EU excl. Germany 45 %

Earnings, financial and asset situation

 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008

 1,250.2  1,548.0 2,108.2 2,366.8 2,912.0

Consolidated sales   [ € million ]
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Also included are restructuring expenses in the amount of € 7.4 million (previous year: € 6.3 million) as well as a nega-

tive currency difference of € 5.5 million (previous year: operating income of € 1.4 million). The factors exerting a posi-

tive effect were mainly government grants in the amount of € 4.8 million (previous year: € 0.2 million) as well as rental 

income of € 1.9 million (previous year: € 1.7 million).

In total, LEONI generated consolidated earnings before interest, taxes and depreciation/amortisation 

(EBITDA) of € 165.9 million in 2008, from € 210.8 million in the previous year.

Depreciation and amortisation rose substantially in the year under report; from € 72.7 million to € 110.2 million. 

The key factors in this respect were the first-time consolidation of the LWSF Group as well as the impact of initial con-

solidation involving revaluation of the acquired assets and liabilities within the purchase price allocation of this and 

other new subsidiaries. Consolidated earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT) decreased more than EBITDA, namely 

from € 138.1 million to € 55.7 million. Excluding the impact of revaluation, which came to € 16.2 million, EBIT would 

have come to € 71.9 million. 

The negative balance of finance costs, finance income and other investment income mounted from € 21.6 million 

to € 39.9 million, which was attributable mainly to the greater funding requirement for acquisitions. On the bottom 

line, fiscal 2008 consolidated earnings before tax came to € 15.8 million as opposed to € 116.5 million in the pre-

vious year. 

Taking income tax of € 10.6 million (previous year: € 30.3 million) into account, LEONI is reporting consolidated 

net income of € 5.2 million versus € 86.2 million one year earlier. The large tax charge relative to pre-tax earnings is 

due mainly to the following: the need to write down deferred taxes relating to loss carryforwards already capitalised, 

the options for use of which had to be reassessed due to the impact of the demand crisis, non-capitalisation of such 

taxes on new loss carryforwards for the same reason and non-deductible operating expenses. Exerting an opposing 

positive effect was the use of loss carryforwards for which no tax assets were recognised in the previous year.

Financial situation

Financial management and structure

The prime objectives of financial management controlled at LEONI Group’s head office are to assure the liquidity of the 

group of companies worldwide, to optimise finance costs and income as well as to manage and minimise currency and 

interest rate risks. To achieve this, we use a wide range of financial instruments to keep our exposure to individual mar-

kets or instruments as low as possible, and pursue long-term collaboration with international banks that is based on 

mutual trust. As a matter of principle, LEONI attaches great value to a solid finance structure. This is intended to safe-

guard our status as a company with a good credit rating on the capital market, among banks and suppliers without the 

need for external rating, financial covenants or other collateralisation.

Our liquidity management makes use of, among other things, a cash pooling system with pools in the home 

countries of the currencies most important to the Group. Furthermore, LEONI AG executes the majority of the pay-

ments for the Group. Group subsidiaries are financed mostly in their functional currency. The principal liabilities are de-

nominated in euros and US dollars. Loans in Chinese yuan were also taken out for our Chinese companies.

 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008

 56.8  102.8 130.6 138.1 55.7

Consolidated EBIT   [ € million ]
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LEONI AG uses capital market instruments such as bonds and borrower’s note loans at corporate level for the whole 

Group and obtains credit lines in sufficient amounts in order to be able to meet its financial obligations even in such 

turbulent times as the present. In March of the 2008 financial year, LEONI improved its finance structure as planned by 

issuing two fixed-rate and two variable-rate    borrower’s not loans with terms of five and seven years and with a 

total nominal volume of € 250 million. We used this strategic finance to settle current liabilities arising from the acqui-

sition of the LWSF Group. On the balance sheet date there were credit lines from banks amounting to € 351.8 million 

with terms up to 39 months, of which € 49.2 million were used at short term. At the end of the financial year LEONI also 

agreed new long-term loans with banks in the amount of € 60 million. 

The instruments of leasing and factoring, which we use to improve the liquidity structure, are also managed at 

head office. At the end of 2008, factoring reduced trade receivables by the amount of € 61.0 million (previous year:  

€ 70.0 million). 

Interest rate risks on borrowed funds are hedged with underlying instruments such as caps, swaps and collars 

with the same maturities. As at 31 December 2008 the nominal volume of existing interest rate swaps was  

€ 142.7 million (previous year: € 83.7 million), with nil in interest rates caps (previous year: € 10 million) and collars in 

the amount of € 136.0 million (previous year: nil).

To reduce the impact of exchange rate variation on consolidated earnings, foreign currency items are netted with-

in the Group. For the other amounts we make use of    currency hedging transactions; mostly in the US dollar, the 

pound sterling, Polish zloty, Romanian leu and Swiss francs. At the end of 2008, the volume came to € 324.2 million  

versus € 393.0 million on the same closing day one year earlier.

Positive free cash flow in the fourth quarter despite share buy-back

LEONI took advantage of the low share price for a share buy-back programme in the autumn of 2008. From mid October 

to mid December the Company bought a total of 2.97 million shares at an average price of € 9.79 via the stock market.  

These treasury shares are to be employed above all to fund future acquisitions. 

Despite this share buy-back, a negative result after taxes and substantial capital spending, LEONI generated posi-

tive free cash flow of € 12.6 million in the fourth quarter. Over fiscal 2008 as a whole, however, free cash flow was 

negative in the amount of € 60.4 million. The comparable figure of minus € 234.4 million in the previous year very 

much reflected prepayment of the price to purchase the LWSF Group. Before payouts for dividends, acquisitions and 

the share buy-back programme, fiscal 2008 free cash flow came to a negative figure of € 13.9 million as opposed to a 

positive amount of € 100.6 million in the previous year. Along with the reduced consolidated net income, this reflected 

in particular the further year-on-year increase by € 58 million in spending on property, plant and equipment as well as 

intangible assets. Net financial liabilities amounted to € 533.2 million, up from € 473.2 million at the end of 2007. 

in € ‘000 2008 2007 Change

Cash and cash equivalents 133,672 38,672 95,000

Current financial liabilities (92,204) (215,001) 122,797

Non-current financial liabilities (574,693) (296,882) (277,811)

Net financial position (533,225) (473,211) (60,014)

    Notes, note 19, page 125

    More information on inter-

 est rate and  currency risks  

 Risik report, page 74
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Statement of cash flows

The LEONI Group generated cash provided by operating activities of € 132.7 million in 2008, down by about € 58 mil-

lion from the previous year’s figure of € 190.8 million. The reduction in consolidated net income of about € 81 million to 

€ 5.2 million was offset by an included increase in depreciation/amortisation of about € 38 million and optimised work-

ing capital of around € 55 million. There were at the same time reductions in other financial assets of € 101.9 million 

and inventories of € 43.3 million. 

The cash outflow for investments totalled € 137.3 million during the period under report. The previous year’s high 

figure of € 401.5 million included prepayments associated with the LWSF takeover. Spending on property, plant and 

equipment as well as intangible assets and acquisitions was offset in 2008 by the takeover of cash and cash equivalents 

upon purchase of the LWSF Group and of Lik Avto as well as a purchase price repayment. Cash provided by financing 

activities came to € 96.7 million (previous year: € 114.7 million). We used the long-term loans signed in 2008 largely to 

settle current liabilities totalling € 168.6 million. Furthermore, an amount of € 29.1 million was spent to buy back the 

Company’s own shares and one of € 26.7 million to pay out dividends. On balance, cash and cash equivalents were up by 

€ 92.1 million in 2008. 

Consolidated statement of cash flows (abridged version in € ‘000) 2008 2007

Cash provided by operating activities 132,726 190,837

Cash used for capital spending activities (137,256) (401,464)

Cash provided by financing activities 96,664 114,747

Decrease/increase in cash and cash equivalents 92,134 (95,880)

Cash and cash equivalents on 31 December 133,672 38,672

Capital expenditure 

Capital spending totalled € 336.6 million in 2008 (previous year: € 132.6 million). LEONI invested € 158.4 million in prop-

erty, plant and equipment as well as intangible assets (previous year: € 93.7 million). Of that, € 93.6 million was spent in 

the Wiring Systems division (previous year: € 37.7 million) and € 53.1 million in the Wire & Cable Solutions division  

(previous year: € 48.0 million). In addition, spending on acquisitions and investments totalled € 178.1 million (previous 

year: € 38.9 million). The acquisitions in 2008 involved primarily the purchase of the LWSF Group in the amount of  

€ 142.0 million and of the shares in the Korean wiring systems manufacturer Daekyeung.

The Wiring Systems division forged ahead in 2008 with setting up and expanding capacity for new projects 

with the motor vehicle industry. Among others, we expanded production facilities in China, Morocco, Tunisia and the 

Ukraine. A new plant, which supplies mainly the US commercial vehicle industry, went into operation in Durango, 

Mexico. At our facility in Arad, Romania, we invested in plant for production of electrical components. In Naberezhnye 

Chelny (Tatarstan), Russia we prepared for production of wiring systems to supply the country’s largest commercial ve-

hicle manufacturer, KAMAZ. The upcoming supply for the Dacia Logan also involved capital investment. We acquired 

production lines for our Russian subsidiary Lik Avto in Gorodets.   

 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008

 95.7  87.0 194.8 132.6 336.6

Capital expenditure   [ € million ]

 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008

 83.9  111.1 136.1 190.8 132.7

Operating cash flow   [ € million ]
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In its Wire & Cable Solutions division LEONI launched an extensive capital investment programme in 2008 that was 

implemented with few exceptions despite the tough environment towards yearend. The main focus was on Germany 

and China. In Germany, LEONI invested among other things in increasing the number of machines used to produce  

automotive data cables and in new production plant for drive system and seismic cables at its facility in Roth. 

Furthermore, a programme to modernise cable production for large petrochemical and industrial plant has begun at 

our facility in Stolberg. The Fiber Optics business unit optimised its glass fiber production in Neuhaus/Schierschnitz 

and built an assembly facility in Sonneberg. We also enlarged capacity to apply the innovative irradiation crosslink-

ing technology – with an additional facility in Bautzen near the Polish border and expanding the existing capacity in 

Switzerland. In China, the focus of capital expenditure was on setting up production lines for ABS sensor cables as well 

as expanding production capacity for the major Airbus contract.  

Asset situation

Balance sheet analysis

The LEONI Group’s assets totalled € 1,848.4 million at the end of 2008. Compared with one year earlier, this corresponds 

to an increase of nearly 16 percent. The main reason for this enlargement of the balance sheet was the first-time con-

solidation of the LWSF Group, which was reflected in virtually all items. On the asset side, the impact of this initial con-

solidation was evident especially in non-current assets, with intangible assets rising strongly from € 43.6 million to  

€ 113.8 million and goodwill up from € 78.9 million to € 152.3 million. Furthermore, the increase in property, plant and 

equipment of about 38 percent to € 573.3 million reflected our ambitious capital investment programme. Another key 

factor in the balance sheet’s enlargement was the increase in cash and cash equivalents by € 95.0 million.

By contrast, current assets increased by only a modest 7 percent to € 938.2 million. The fact that initial consolida-

tion of the LSWF Group had less of an effect here is due above all to the business performance of the fourth quarter: 

the sharp decline in the volume of sales reduced receivables and other financial assets to € 387.5 million at yearend, 

down from € 532.0 million on 30 September 2008. The growth vis-à-vis the 2007 figure of € 304.1 million was thus ar-

rested to a considerable extent.

Asset and capital structure (€ million) 12/31/2008 12/31/2007

Current assets 938.2 877.2

Non-current assets 910.2 719.8

Assets 1,848.4 1,597.0

Current liabilities 672.9 668.2

Non-current liabilities 727.8 403.2

Equity 447.7 525.6

Total equity and liabilities 1,848.4 1,597.0
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There is, furthermore, the fact that we reduced inventories in a targeted way in the final three months of the year.  

This systematic management trimmed inventories from € 422.9 million at the end of September to € 347.3 million on 

31 December 2008. Inventory was thus, at € 344.1 million, virtually unchanged from the previous year’s figure despite 

consolidation of the LWSF Group. 

The reduction of inventories and receivables in the fourth quarter improved the liquidity situation: overall, cash 

and cash equivalents were up substantially year on year, from € 38.7 million to € 133.7 million. The items of “Acquired 

receivables relating to future acquisition” in the amount of € 136.5 million as well as “Prepayment of the purchase price 

for future acquisition” in the amount of € 146.9 million still presented on the 2007 balance sheet were eliminated upon 

acquisition of the LWSF Group effective 2 January 2008.

Consolidation of the LWSF Group also made its mark on the liabilities side of the consolidated balance sheet: on the 

one hand there was an increase in trade liabilities and other financial liabilities from € 316.4 million to € 444.5 million. 

Secondly, non-current liabilities rose from € 296.9 million to € 574.7 million due to funds borrowed for this acquisition. 

This is reflected particularly in the issue of the long-term borrower’s note loans, which LEONI placed in March 2008. The 

funds provided by this were used above all to settle current financial liabilities, which were down to € 92.2 million from 

€ 215.0 million at the end of 2007.

Equity came to € 447.7 million on 31 December 2008 versus € 525.6 million on the same date one year earlier. 

Among other things, this reflected the purchase of the Company’s own shares in the amount of € 29.1 million, which 

is netted against equity. LEONI held 2.97 million treasury shares at the end of the year, which equates to 10 percent 

of the share capital. Due to the limited net income of € 5.2 million and the dividend of € 26.7 million paid out in 2008, 

retained earnings were down by € 21.6 million to € 314.1 million. In the 2008 financial year, additional other compre-

hensive income in a negative amount of € 26.9 million took the total to negative € 38.2 million. Of this, currency differ-

ences accounted for negative € 3.4 million, cash flow hedges for negative € 23.2 million and changes in the fair value of 

securities for negative € 0.3 million. Due to the opposing trend in equity and total consolidated assets, the equity ratio 

decreased from 32.9 percent to 24.2 percent.

 

 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008

 41.6  40.6 35.1 32.9 24.2

Equity ratio  [ % ]
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Disclosures pursuant to Art. 315 (4) of the German Commercial Code

Composition of share capital: 

The share capital in LEONI AG amounts to € 29.7 million and is divided into 29.7 million registered shares. All shares are 

subject to the same rights and obligations. Each share provides one vote at the Annual General Meeting and is key to 

the shareholders’ share of the profit.

Constraints concerning the voting rights or the transfer of shares:  

We are not aware of any constraints affecting voting rights. Transfer constraints exist in so far as shares that members 

of the management and executives receive in the context of a long-term incentive programme are subject to a holding 

period.

There are no shareholdings, either direct or indirect, that exceed 10 percent of the voting rights  

at the present time. 

Nor are there any shares with special rights that grant control rights. 

The control of voting rights in the case of shareholding by employees who do not directly  

exercise their control rights: 

So far as employees are shareholders, they are entitled to directly exercise the control rights associated with their 

shares in accordance with the Articles of Association and the law. 

Statutory provisions and rules in the Articles of Association on the appointment and  

recall of members of the Management Board and on changes to the Articles of Association: 

The appointment and recall of management board members is governed by Articles 84 and 85 of the German Public 

Companies Act as well as in Article 31 of Germany’s Co-determination Act. Accordingly, the Supervisory Board ap-

points members to the Management Board for a maximum of five years. Pursuant to Article 5 (1) of the Articles of 

Association, the Management Board has at least two members. Furthermore, pursuant to Article 5 (2) of the Articles 

of Association, the Supervisory Board appoints the Management Board members and determines their number. It is 

entitled to appoint deputy members of the Management Board as well as a chairman and a deputy chairman of the 

Management Board. Article 179 of the Public Companies Act stipulates that amendments to the Articles of Association 

require a shareholder resolution at the Annual General Meeting. Pursuant to Article 19 of the Articles of Association, the 

Supervisory Board is entitled to adopt amendments and additions to the Articles of Association that pertain only to the 

version. The Supervisory Board is authorised, furthermore, to amend the version of the Articles of Association in line 

with the exercise of an increase in share capital by utilisation of authorised capital as well as in line with the extent of 

shares issued from contingent capital and after expiry of the term of authorisation.

 

Powers of the Management Board to issue or buy back shares:  

Purchase of the Company’s own shares – The Annual General Meeting on 15 May 2008 entitled the Management 

Board of LEONI AG to acquire shares in the Company with a notional stake in the current share capital of up to 10 per-

cent until 14 November 2009. Such a purchase may be transacted via the stock market or by means of a public offer to 

all shareholders. The entitlement has been used: on 14 October 2008 the Management Board launched a programme 
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to buy back shares via the stock market. Up to and including 10 December 2008, a total of 2.97 million shares were 

bought back at an average price of € 9.79; the entitlement was thus used up in full.

Authorised capital – Furthermore, the Management Board is authorised pursuant to Article 4 (5) of the Articles of 

Association to increase the share capital in the period up to 2 May 2011 and with the approval of the Supervisory Board 

once or in partial amounts by up to € 14.85 million by issuing new shares on a cash or non-cash basis. Shareholders 

must be granted a right to subscribe. However, the Annual General Meeting entitled the Management Board, with the 

approval of the Supervisory Board, to rule out shareholders’ subscription rights in certain cases.  

Contingent capital – Furthermore, the Management Board is authorised pursuant to Article 4 (6) of the Articles of 

Association to issue warrant-linked bonds or convertible bonds by 2 May 2011 and thereby to increase the share capital 

by up to € 14.85 million on a contingent basis. The contingent capital increase can be carried out to the extent only to 

which holders or creditors of warrants or conversion rights exercise their warrants or conversion rights.

Agreements of the Company that are conditional upon a change of control as a result of a takeover bid:

In the event of a change of control as a result of a takeover bid, the corporate bond issued in 2006 in the amount of  

€ 200 million, the borrower’s note loans issued in 2008 in the total amount of € 250 million as well as other loan agree-

ments may be called in immediately. Furthermore, in such an event some of the major customers, suppliers as well as 

other joint venture partners also have the right to terminate contractual agreements with the Company prematurely.

LEONI AG agreements for the event of a takeover bid that would provide  

members of the Management Board or staff with compensation: 

At the beginning of 2009 the service contracts of the Management Board members were extended to include a 

change-of-control clause. Each Management Board member is thereby entitled, in the event of a change of control, to 

extraordinary termination as well as to a settlement claim within three months. The settlement comprises the balance 

of annual compensation to the end of the term of the contract and is limited to a maximum three year’s compensation, 

or, if the remaining contract period is less than three years, to the sum outstanding for such remaining period. The an-

nual compensation comprises the fixed annual salary and 80 percent of the maximum attainable bonus.
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Procurement

LEONI operates strategic procurement management and maintains long-term relationships with suppliers to ensure 

ample, economical supply of raw and other materials. Copper, which we source from large suppliers, plays a key role 

in our procurement management. Its price is geared to the quoted on the London Metal Exchange. In the financial year 

2008, the copper price at first rose, but then fell sharply in the second half of the year. The price peaked in early March 

at € 5.88 per kilogramme and hit its low of € 2.05 on 18 December 2008. On average over the year the cost of a kilo-

gramme of copper was down to just € 4.75 from € 5.30 in the previous year. 

The copper prices charged to our customers in the automotive industry are always based on the price quoted on 

the exchange in the preceding months. To be able to guarantee these prices, LEONI has to hedge copper using forward 

contracts for future customer orders. This hedging follows the principle of “stop losses/cut profits” because we regard 

copper as a transitory item.

In its Wire & Cable Solutions division, LEONI requires, apart from copper and various other metals, mainly plastics 

such as polyvinyl chloride, polyethylene and polypropylene as well as special insulation materials and plasticisers. The 

prices of virtually all plastics rose significantly in the first half of the financial year 2008 because of the dramatic in-

crease in the price of oil. We avoided bottlenecks in sourcing plastics despite shortages thanks to a global procurement 

network and supplier-managed stockpiling. We enter so-called “success partnerships” with major suppliers to initiate 

and jointly implement future developments.  

Other performance indicators

Copper: low DEL prices and annual average in euros per 100 kg

Jan Feb Mar Apr May June July Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec    2008

600

550

500

450

400

350

300

250

200

Annual average
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The Wiring Systems division sources an important part of cables and conductors it requires within the Company 

from the Wire & Cable Solutions division. Other than that, components such as contacting systems and fastenings are 

mainly purchased from outside sources. The takeover of the LWSF Group, which resulted in volume benefits, enabled 

us to achieve crucial savings in this area in 2008. Increased use of an online procurement tool, which resulted in greater 

transparency of supply, as well as further optimisation of components in close collaboration with the suppliers also 

provided positive impetus.  

When awarded contracts by the automotive industry, the majority of our suppliers are stipulated directly by our 

customers. Together with these partners LEONI continually seeks optimisation opportunities with the aim of achieving 

further cost savings. In addition, we engage in strategic partnerships with key suppliers. The main focus of these part-

nerships is not just on pricing, but concerned with all-in sourcing along the whole supply chain: In cooperation with 

our strategic partners we develop complete logistics concepts for supplying our production facilities. 

Employees

Number of employees increased by LWSF takeover

The number of employees in the LEONI Group increased significantly in 2008 as a result of the takeover of the LWSF 

Group. Workforce reached a new high of 53,473 at the end of September. This was then followed in the fourth quar-

ter by considerable job shedding due to the sales crisis in the automotive industry. On 31 December 2008, LEONI had 

50,821 employees throughout the Group, i.e. 13,966 more than one year earlier.  

In the Wiring Systems division the number of employees had, by the end of December 2008, ultimately risen from 

28,262 to 42,633. The LWSF Group employed 13,445 of this total. In the Wire & Cable Solutions division the workforce 

decreased from 8,411 people to 8,008. This reflected mainly the job shedding at facilities in China. By contrast, we cre-

ated new jobs at various special cables facilities in Germany. The Group holding company had 180 staff at the end of 

2008 (previous year: 182). 

Broken down by region, there were increases in both Germany and other countries: The workforce in Germany 

grew from 4,060 people to 4,243. At our foreign facilities the number of employees increased from 32,795 to 46,578, 

equating to nearly 92 percent (previous year: 89 percent) of the total workforce. Of this, 21,682 people were employed 

in European countries other than Germany (EU total: 20,730), 2,809 in Asia, 19,285 in North Africa and 2,802 in the 

Americas. 

Employees by segments 

Wiring Systems 84 %
Wire & Cable Solutions 16 %
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Integration of the LWSF workforce

Integrating the employees of the LWSF Group was a primary task of human resources work in 2008. Thanks to our 

many years of experience with business acquisitions in the international marketplace this task was successfully mas-

tered. Cooperation in a spirit of mutual trust between management and the employee representatives formed another 

crucial basis for smooth execution of this and other significant projects. This applied equally to local employee rep-

resentatives and works council members, as well as the general works council in Germany, France and the European 

works council. 

More apprentices and trainees at LEONI 

In 2008, LEONI employed 171 (previous year: 164) apprentices in commercial and trade careers at 13 facilities in 

Germany. This number once again equated to more than the qualified staff we require in-house. Furthermore, the 

Company again offered places to gain entry-level qualifications in the context of the German government’s training ini-

tiative in conjunction with trade and industry.

Committed tutors prepare the apprentices at LEONI in depth for their intermediate and final exams. In the trades, 

we have dedicated teaching workshops available for this purpose. Commercial apprentices do stints in varying depart-

ments to learn the processes throughout the Company. There are also regular visits to foreign operations to attain in-

tercultural sensitivity at an early stage. During the year under report, our apprentices again scored above-average exam 

results, in some cases with special Chamber of Industry and Commerce commendations. LEONI provides additional in-

centive for exceptionally good scores by voluntarily offering bonuses. 

University graduates normally start their career at LEONI with trainee programmes. In the process they are fa-

miliarised with the Group’s structure, various business units and facilities, and given responsibility for projects from the 

beginning. At the end of 2008, LEONI employed nine trainees (previous year: six). The combination of in-house training 

and government-approved studies at a vocational academy, for which LEONI assumes the fees, has proven especially 

successful. In addition, LEONI offers a sizable number of young people the opportunity to familiarise themselves with 

the Company in the context of internships or a degree dissertation.

Staff advancement

As a company operating globally, LEONI runs group-wide staff and management training schemes across its various 

businesses. The foundation has in recent years enabled us to fill between 50 and 70 percent of skilled and management 

positions from within our own ranks. The rising number of international staff transfers requires specific preparation for 

deployment in foreign countries, including the required language and intercultural skills. We organise training schemes 

to this end for both our employees and their family members.

Practical advancement programmes give our employees the opportunity to systematically further their education 

also while continuing to pursue their careers. These programmes are just as popular as LEONI’s health management, 

which provides suggestions for fitness and a healthy lifestyle. 

Americas 2,802
Asia 2,809
Rest of Europe 2,905
Germany 4,243

Eastern Europe 18,777

North Africa 19,285
Worldwide 50,821

Employees by region
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Performance-related compensation and flexible working times

To promote entrepreneurial thinking and acting, LEONI involves its employees in decision-making at an early stage and 

also provides them the opportunity to participate materially in the Company’s success. In Germany, the compensation 

system consists of the fixed wage or salary as well as partially performance-related pay and profit participation in the 

form of variable compensation. In principle, non pay-scale employees are paid in relation to the Company’s success 

and their personal performance. With this flexible compensation we achieve on the one hand greater loyalty to the 

Company and promote commitment. On the other hand, LEONI gains flexibility in terms of personnel expenses and can 

thereby reduce business and employment-related risks. In order to actively support staff in assuring their living stand-

ard in retirement, we offer the opportunity within the Company pension scheme for personalised provision, especially 

in form of compensation deferral at attractive rates of interest and a performance-related bonus. 

The working time of our employees is flexible at many of our facilities. LEONI thereby simultaneously achieves bet-

ter adjustment to the requirements of production and greater compatibility between job and family. Models such as 

part-time working, flexitime working and trust-based working hours as well as job-sharing and teleworking contribute 

in this respect. At our location in Nuremberg, we also in 2008 introduced care for the children of our staff during the 

summer holidays.  

Employees as a key success factor

LEONI’s success is underpinned to a material extent by committed and skilled employees. It is therefore of crucial im-

portance to offer our staff attractive jobs. In early 2008, the Corporate Research Foundation selected LEONI as one of 

the “TOP employers in Germany” for what was the fifth time in succession already. The commendation praises the ad-

vancement opportunities offered, job security, corporate culture, market position, compensation and the work-life bal-

ance. A low rate of employee turnover also underscores our high standard in this regard. 

Safeguarding its human capital constitutes a challenge for LEONI not only in view of the demographic change. 

LEONI is increasingly positioning itself as an attractive employer and stepping up its recruitment marketing to be able 

to find a sufficient number of suitable candidates in the future as well as to bond them to the Company. With respect 

to young potential applicants, we further broadened our existing, good regional contact to schools with presentations 

and career days. In 2008, LEONI also took part in 25 university fairs, business networking events and trade conferences. 

In addition, we strengthened ties with select universities by way of joint work with individual, specialist departments 

including sponsorship of lecture halls. 
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Research & Development

LEONI conducts intensive research and development (R & D) work to underpin and further enhance its leading compet-

itive position in both of its business divisions. The focal areas are the development of customised products and sys-

tems as well as optimisation of production processes. The tasks are locally organised and integrated in the operating 

units. Both business divisions have specialist development departments for basic research. In its product and process 

development, as well as in its basic research, LEONI benefits from the wide-ranging know-how in both divisions and 

the collaboration between different business units. In addition, we cooperate with a large number of universities and 

scientific institutions, primarily in Germany. 

R & D activity stepped up considerably

During the year under report, Group-wide spending on R & D rose significantly, from € 55.9 million to € 88.3 million, 

due to integration of the LWSF Group and preparation for numerous new start-ups in the Wiring Systems division. The 

number of employees working in research & development also rose considerably, from 603 to 1,073. This increase in 

work yielded success in both divisions and resulted in a significant rise in the number of applications for new patents 

from 12 (in 2007) to 22 in 2008. 

R & D projects: Wiring Systems

The Wiring Systems division broadened its R & D capacity considerably in the period under report with the    takeover 

of the LWSF Group. We gained additional know-how above all in the areas of wiring system architecture, simulation 

and benchmarking. Integration of the new capacity was successfully completed in 2008. Elimination of overlap and 

reallocation of jobs established a new structure that enables global exchange of information and ideas as well as opti-

mum use of the synergies and capacity. Inclusion of the R & D work of our Korean partner Daekyeung also made further 

progress and is already proving itself in a current customer project. In total, LEONI now runs 10 centres worldwide for 

development work on wiring systems.  

We again concentrated on the subject of the green car in 2008. This encompasses on the one hand the accumu-

lation of know-how for the wiring of hybrid and electric vehicles. On the other hand, work continued at full pace on 

weight optimisation of our products in order thereby to make our contribution to reducing consumption and costs. 

In this respect, and in close collaboration with the Wire & Cable Solutions division, we tested alternative conductor  

materials such as brass. LEONI also made progress with aluminium: this lightweight metal was certified for use in bat-

tery cables, which are just about to go into production in one customer project. Furthermore, we focused on expand-

ing the expertise in the area of    electronic components.

With the support of the corporate Technology & Innovation development department, the Wiring Systems divi-

sion also forged ahead with work on other innovative applications for the motor vehicle industry. In so doing, LEONI co-

operates closely with automotive industry customers. At present, for example, we are working on a pedestrian impact 

protection system that is triggered by a sensor developed by LEONI, and on automated production of small cable har-

nesses for applications such as car doors. 

 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008

 44.1  41.9 47.4 55.9 88.3

R&D spending   [ € million ]

    Expansion of the component 

 business, page 52

   Reports by division, page 49
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R & D projects: Wire & Cable Solutions

In the Wire & Cable Solutions division, work in 2008 was focused above all on improving product properties, extending 

the range of products and services as well as customer-specific innovations. The division’s Research & Development 

centre supports the operating units in this process. The following are examples of some of the projects in 2008:

 In the case of wires and cables for the automotive industry, weight and cost reduction as well as optimisation 

of installation space continued to play a principal role. We achieved progress here by using new materials, such as 

brass for signal cables. The use of substantially downsized conductors made it possible, moreover, to further reduce 

the outer diameter and weight of supply lines in the motor vehicle. Another new development involves irradiation 

crosslinked automotive cables, which boast high thermal stability and resistance to mechanical strain. We also ex-

panded our range of special cables for the commercial vehicle industry. 

 To improve our range for the medical equipment industry, we extended the area of application for the cadmium-

free, high-performance strands made of LEONI Histral to highly sensitive usage.

 In the communications technology sector, LEONI presented new kinds of extremely robust outdoor telecom ca-

bles, among other things. In the manufacture of data cables, we achieved substantial quality improvements and 

cost savings based on changed design and production processes.  

 For the capital goods industry, we worked on new plastic compounds that provide the best possible mechanical 

properties even at very low temperatures. We also developed an especially easy to process, robust optical fiber for 

laser applications and launched initial trials aimed at producing fibers with defined cavities.  

 On the market for electrical appliances LEONI introduced new halogen-free, flame-retardant cordsets as well as 

cables with highly heat resistant cores. In order to penetrate more sales regions, the product range was adapted to 

country-specific standards, for example with special types of connectors for India and Thailand. 

 

State-aided basic research 

LEONI also continued its basic research at a high level in 2008. Many of the topics on which we are working are of pub-

lic importance and are therefore supported by the federal and state governments: in the Wire & Cable Solutions divi-

sion this includes the “Fabri” project subsidised by the German Federal Ministry for Education and Research (German 

abbrev. BMBF), for research on laser fibers and the “Nanolso” project, which is working on the use of nanotechnology 

for insulation systems. In addition, we performed research on the following projects: “Precision drilling technology 

to produce complex-shaped bore holes with high aspect ratios – MicroDrill” (Federal Ministry for the Economy and 

Technology) and “Energy-saving production of tinned copper wire” (Bavarian Ministry for the Economy, Infrastructure, 

Transport and Technology). 

The Wiring Systems division is participating in the “Plasma Printing” project, which is also aided by the BMBF. It 

involves research among other things on the potential uses of the Flamecon process developed by LEONI for mask and 

chemical-free application of coatings that can conduct electricity to various carrier materials. This technology is also 

used in a project of the Bavarian Research Foundation aimed at integrating spatial printed-circuit boards in motor ve-

hicles.

Likewise supported by the BMBF is the “Icefuel” project, on which the research departments of both our divisions 

are working jointly. As part of research on renewable energy, it involves systems for carrying and storing liquid hydro-

gen at extremely low temperatures and its use as a source of energy. 
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Sustainability

LEONI considers itself obliged to behave in a sustainable way vis-à-vis employees, customers and business partners 

as well as the environment and society. As part of our corporate responsibility, we ensure in particular observance 

of the principles of the    German Corporate Governance Code, resolute focus on quality and the environment as 

well as safeguarding human and employee rights. In a Social Charta, LEONI has since 2003 committed itself world-

wide to fundamental social rights and principles such as the protection of human rights, freedom of assembly as well 

as the ban on discrimination and child labour. We also encourage our business partners to adhere to these standards. 

Furthermore, the LEONI Code of Ethics agreed in 2007 obliges all employees to observe corporate and statutory rules, 

and appeals to the integrity of every employee. LEONI also considers social commitment to comprise specific   
  support for its employees as well as support of charitable associations and sponsorship of sport and the arts.  

Carbon Disclosure Project

To ensure that we impose minimum strain on the environment, we are continuously working on reducing CO
2
 emis-

sions in production and on increasing the energy efficiency of our products, for instance through   weight reduction. 

In 2008, LEONI participated in the Carbon Disclosure Project (CDP) for the first time. It is an initiative that, on behalf of 

institutional investors, surveys the world’s largest, market-listed companies on volume of emissions. LEONI was one of 

the few participants to also register indirect emissions, arising for example from business travel, commuting and goods 

transport. The resulting findings on all CO
2
-emitting activity enable us to extrapolate further optimisation measures 

for the future. An internal evaluation of all currently available CDP data (2007) from LEONI and comparable companies 

found that our CO
2
 emissions relative to sales put us in midfield and that we are well below the average when meas-

ured by the number of employees. 

Quality management

The high quality of its products, services and processes constitutes a key factor to LEONI’s success. We therefore oper-

ate a certified quality management system, which relies on the commitment, creativity and skills of employees and is 

presented in a process-oriented way in a management handbook. In addition, LEONI commits forward-looking capital 

investment in state-of-the-art production plant to safeguard its technologically leading position and process reliability. 

Certification of our facilities to international standards documents the demanding quality benchmark that we meet.  

In the Wire & Cable Solutions division all plants are certified to the ISO 9001 standard. In addition, there are 

sector-specific certifications – for example of the automotive and aerospace industries – for facilities that supply cus-

tomers in such sectors. In 2008, we successfully passed both scheduled annual repeat audits and the initial audit of our 

new production line for the high temperature cables of LEONI Hightemp Solutions pursuant to ISO 9001. Ongoing ad-

vanced training programmes for our employees, internal monitoring audits as well as the introduction of continuous 

improvement processes according to the KAIZEN principle at various facilities are also making a significant contribution 

to quality assurance.  

   Corporate Governance Report

 page 28

   Research & Development 

 page 69

   Employees, page 66
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Quality management in the Wiring Systems division is based on the automotive industry standard TS 16949 and con-

siders the specific requirements of the customers. All plants worldwide are certified and are subjected to recurring au-

dits on an annual basis. The focus of work in 2008 was on integration of the LWSF Group and preparation for joint certi-

fication in 2009. Furthermore, the processes for the impending start-ups were optimised in close collaboration with the 

customers.

Our customers again affirmed the exemplary quality of our products and services. Among others, LEONI received 

awards as an outstanding supplier from the carmakers General Motors and Land Rover as well as from the construction 

machinery specialist Caterpillar. 

 

Environmental management

LEONI pursues resolute environmental management that ensures sparing use of resources, the deployment of alterna-

tive sources of energy and recycling of raw materials at its facilities. Dedicated environmental management systems 

have been set up in both divisions for this purpose. 

In the Wire & Cable Solutions division, the environmental management system is based on the principles of the 

international DIN ISO 14001 standard. The facilities are successively being certified to this standard. In 2008, our subsid-

iary Haarländer in Roth near Nuremberg was successfully audited for the first time, and three further production facili-

ties in Germany and Mexico were recertified. By yearend, 14 facilities were thus certified to this standard. In addition, 

we carried out internal audits on national and international levels as planned during the period under report. These 

provide us with ongoing comparison across our facilities of ecological data and reveal potential synergistic benefits. A 

newly developed system of key figures will in the future enable us to show and evaluate the environmental impact of 

the certified facilities. As part of a dissertation, we also commissioned a system to show environment-related costs.

We again in 2008 promoted the ecological awareness of our employees in training courses and seminars. 

Furthermore, we appointed additional environment officers who coordinate the ecological activity of the individual 

business units and ensure that new legal requirements such as the EU Chemicals Directive are observed. Specific ener-

gy saving measures, such as a cooling water management system at our plant in Slovakia that is geared to the outside 

temperature and a daylight-governed lighting system at our facility in Roth, resulted in significant ecological progress. 
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In the Wiring Systems division, environmental management is part of the SHE (Safety, Health & Environment) policy 

that is standard across the division. Based on the principles of German occupational health and safety as well as envi-

ronmental legislation and the European guidelines, we developed an SHE management system that is gradually being 

implemented at LEONI’s wiring systems facilities worldwide and audited in rotation. It serves to make even better use 

of our resources and to further optimise the SHE-related interests. Facilities outside Europe are thus also benefiting 

from the strict SHE requirements that are binding on LEONI in Germany. Of course our production facilities also fulfil 

any national requirements that go beyond the German ones.  

A large proportion of our facilities were, furthermore, certified to international environmental protection stand-

ards such as ISO 14001, EMAS and OSHAS 18001. In the past financial year several facilities in China, Germany, Portugal, 

Romania and Tunisia successfully passed either initial or repeat audits. Ecological commitment also yields practical 

benefit: with targeted improvement measures we managed to reduce energy and water consumption as well as CO
2
 

emissions at various production facilities. 

Supplementary report

The global financial and economic crisis intensified further in early 2009. The decline in demand continued in many 

sectors, especially so in the motor vehicle industry. Germany’s carmakers, for instance, in January of this year exported 

39 percent fewer cars than one year earlier. The domestic registration figures dropped by 14 percent, although there 

was sign of improvement towards the end of the month after the environmental premium came into effect and the 

agreement on vehicle road licensing tax. The downtrend also persisted in the commercial vehicle industry. Numerous 

manufacturers responded by extending their production stoppages and short-time working. 

 

Measures to adjust capacity and reduce costs

The difficult setting also made its mark on LEONI. To cushion the impact of vehicle manufacturers calling less of our 

product forward and the weakness of demand in other sectors, we have continued to adjust the capacity at numerous 

facilities in line with demand. To begin with, overtime and leave accounts were reduced further, while temporary and 

fixed-term employment contracts still in place were terminated. At almost all of our German plants we have registered 

short-term working or used the option to cut working hours in accordance with the special collective agreement relat-

ing to employment development. In addition, we were for operational reasons compelled to terminate the employ-

ment of staff above all at foreign facilities, but also at two locations in Germany. At some production facilities, for ex-

ample in the Ukraine and in North Africa, we were able to avoid redundancies through individual agreements on more 

flexible working time. The sales office in Detroit was closed due to the persistently critical trend in the US automotive 

industry. 

Furthermore, during management meetings in January 2009 we put all cost items – from material and personnel 

expenses to capital expenditure – under the microscope and worked out an extensive cost reduction programme. 

Various internal projects as well as acquisition and investment plans were postponed as well.
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Risk policy

LEONI’s business activity with a global focus is inevitably associated with risks, which cannot entirely be ruled out de-

spite all due diligence. Risk policy as set by the Management Board determines the work of all people involved in the 

process of risk management. The overriding principle of this policy is to take advantage of existing opportunities, but 

to accept the risks associated with the business activity only if it can be expected to make an appropriate contribution 

to enterprise value. As a general rule, risks and opportunities are defined at LEONI as deviation from the planned result. 

Dealing with risks on a regular basis and the obligation to report on them sharpens the risk awareness of employees on 

all management levels.

Efficient risk management system

LEONI has an efficient risk management system, which includes the corporate risk manager and about 160 mana- 

gers involved in the operations of all relevant business areas acting as risk monitors. A unit that reports directly to the 

Management Board is in charge of monitoring and coordinating the risk management process at head office. It also 

determines and describes the Group’s overall risk situation. Immediate responsibility for early recognition, control and 

communication of the risks rests with the managers in operations. Based on their reports, the risk management and 

controlling of the business divisions prepares quarterly reports for the corporate risk manager, who compiles these in 

quarterly reports for the Management Board.

Apart from the reporting, a list of risks by division is updated once a year in risk management workshops, and the 

likely range of fluctuation in market risks is ascertained for the aggregate statement that looks ahead over the next five 

years. The corporate risk manager ensures that the Management Board and the Supervisory Board are informed of key 

changes in the risk situation without delay.  

Individual interviews are conducted for each business unit to prepare for the annual risk workshops. Ascertainment 

of the likely range of fluctuation in market risks is integrated in the planning process and again scrutinised during the 

individual interviews. The focal points of the workshops during the year under report were updating of the lists of 

risks as well as corporate documentation of the internal control system and compliance. A separate risk workshop was 

held for the LWSF Group. Its integration in our risk management system was completed as early as the second quarter 

of 2008. 

A regularly held risk management meeting further improves the risk management system. During these meet-

ings, the legal, internal audit, finance, insurance and tax departments exchange information with the risk managers 

and controllers of the divisions. All risks, as well as the measures to counteract them, are recorded on a workflow-sup-

ported database. 

The risk reporting and workflow-supported database ensures that existing risks are identified, monitored and 

controlled as well as being systematically reduced by the countermeasures applied. Risk management is also inte-

grated in the existing planning, controlling as well as information systems and covers all companies in the LEONI Group 

worldwide. This likewise ensures that information from operational and strategic controlling is used to identify and 

recognise risks at an early stage. 

Risk report
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Opportunity management

Opportunity management is organised on a local basis. In the operating units and in the case of major projects it relies 

on the tools of risk monitoring. Advantage can thus be taken of opportunities in a targeted way and based on weighing 

potential risks. In our corporate risk management, opportunities flow into our aggregate statement as the likely range 

of fluctuation. In so doing, we apply what is known as Monte Carlo simulation; a method that facilities assessment of 

the likelihood that opportunities and risks will occur. The    forecast provides information on specific opportunities.

Market risks

Customers in the automotive industry and its suppliers account for about 70 percent of LEONI’s consolidated sales. 

The current business performance of this sector therefore has great influence on consolidated sales and earnings. Our 

dependence on a small number of major customers constitutes a risk that the Wiring Systems division is reducing 

by gaining new customers and, most recently, by taking over the LWSF Group. Loss of a customer could neverthe-

less have a large impact, even though there would be a fairly long lead-time before the effect sets in because of the 

lengthy contract periods covering a particular model range. We counteract this risk additionally by establishing very 

close and stable customer relationships. This is based on extensive development work and outstanding service 

in terms of delivery. However, the downturn that set in towards the end of 2008 has increased the risk of insolvency 

among our customers. Yet a complete failure of a manufacturer in or provider of development services to the automo-

tive industry still seems relatively unlikely. Such a failure would bring the entire supply chain to a standstill and have a 

considerable impact not only on LEONI. The possibility cannot be ruled out, however, that carmakers and/or suppliers 

become insolvent or obtain Chapter 11 protection (USA) in 2009. This could result in substantial pressure on LEONI’s 

earnings.

The current decline in demand is affecting all of our automotive industry customers. LEONI is responding with 

cutbacks in production that are in line with those of the customer and an extensive cost reduction programme at its 

production facilities as well as in administration. As the carmakers have up to now and in each case shut down whole 

plants for a limited period, it is impossible for LEONI to adjust capacity across the board. That is why the focus is on 

making our capacity more flexible. Along with the measures already applied, such as terminating temporary em-

ployment contracts, reduction in weekly working hours as well as short-time working, permanent staffing levels have 

also been adjusted to the lower capacity utilisation.  

The trend in the automotive industry of sharing the development costs with suppliers and the persistent pressure 

on prices affects LEONI, too. In both development projects and series production we therefore rely, together with our 

customers and our sub-suppliers, on thorough and comprehensive quality control and qualification routines. We con-

front the pressure on prices with effective, stringent cost management in all areas of our Company, setting up pro-

duction facilities in low-wage countries and by resolutely optimising purchasing prices, which we also closely monitor.

    page 81
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Procurement risks

LEONI uses copper in all of its business segments. The global market price of this raw material, which is subject to sub-

stantial fluctuation, therefore exerts a major influence on the cost of materials in the Group. This pronounced volatility 

can largely be passed on to our customers based on contractual agreements to this effect – normally after a time lag. If 

the price of copper rises for a protracted period of time, this time lag can exert an adverse effect on the reporting date. 

Commodity futures transactions are signed with respect to existing customer orders to minimise risks. The fall in unit 

sales could result in overhang that would also have an adverse effect if the copper price drops. If the price has fallen 

sharply up to the reporting date, copper inventories may be exposed to the risk of devaluation. The sharp drop in the 

copper price particularly towards the end of 2008 therefore resulted in substantial need for write-downs on our copper 

inventory.

The second large group of materials in the LEONI Group, which are used mainly in the Wiring Systems division, 

comprises bonding systems consisting of plastic casings and metal contacts. These almost exclusively involve tool-

specific components, which are mostly procured from a single supplier because of customer specifications or for com-

mercial reasons. The reduction in capacity utilisation due to the decline in unit sales could result in these suppliers de-

manding higher prices and thus in higher prices to procure the corresponding components. 

The likelihood of supply bottlenecks has diminished due to underutilised production capacity. The week-by-

week production stoppages of our customers do, however, exert considerable strain on the supply chain. There is the 

risk that ramping production up again could be delayed. We are monitoring the increased risk of insolvency among  

our suppliers by means of both internal and outside supplier ratings. Disruption due to the failure of suppliers can no 

longer be ruled out, however. 

Location risks

LEONI AG had a total of 87 facilities in 35 countries in 2008. Policy on choice of location is on the one hand geared 

closely to the requirements of our customers, which LEONI follows into foreign markets. On the other hand, the con-

stant pressure on prices and costs compels us to continue relocating production to low-wage countries. This 

means that buyers in many instances have to be supplied across several national boundaries. There are also political 

risks in some countries.

Production for large new contracts is started up according to a meticulously structured plan. Should we fail to en-

sure that production starts up on schedule and according to the requirements of our customers this could have serious 

consequences for future business. We are aware of the importance of such projects to our own success and monitor all 

phases of the production start-up with stringent project management to ensure their success. 

It would be impossible to immediately replace the production capacity of large facilities with up to 6,000 employ-

ees in the event of an outage. Just-in-time delivery, the single-source principle of some customers and the use of cus-

tomised cable harnesses extend this risk further. The likelihood of failure to deliver due to such an occurrence has al-

ways been kept exceptionally low thanks to the project monitoring described above. Owing to the size it has attained, 

LEONI operates a considerable number of production facilities worldwide, which have backup capacity as is prudent 
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and accepted by the carmakers. Moreover, preventive measures have been applied at all production facilities and 

are documented in a global emergency plan that has been agreed with the respective customer. These range from a 

round-the-clock guard service to extensive fire protection systems. Furthermore, no LEONI facility is located in an area 

known to be under serious threat of earthquakes, flooding or other natural disasters.

Personnel risks

The aggravated shortage of skilled professionals in Germany as well as changes in the availability of personnel and the 

resulting rise in wage and salary costs at labour-intensive production locations in Eastern Europe present human re-

source management with particular challenges. This situation is brought about on the one hand by the large number 

of production operations being relocated from the western European industrialised countries to Eastern European 

countries with low wage levels. On the other hand, however, there are also – due particularly to the accession of these 

countries to the EU and the resulting freedom of movement – signs of increasing migration of labour at all qualification 

levels from east to west. Effort has been stepped up to increase staff loyalty – for example with internal programmes 

to provide employees with further qualifications and aimed at integration as well as offering a wide range of social 

benefits – to maintain the ability to recruit and tie staff as an attractive employer. 

IT risks

Running a company like LEONI that operates on a global scale is only possible with the help of sophisticated IT systems. 

Constant readiness to supply goods and services – especially to the automotive industry that frequently calls for either 

just-in-time or just-in-sequence delivery – also depends on availability of the IT systems and their data at all times. 

Serious disruption such as system outages or loss of data could threaten LEONI’s ability to supply, temporarily stop cus-

tomers’ production and hence result in facing far-reaching claims for compensation. LEONI therefore constantly works 

– in some instances with the support of outside specialists – at optimising its IT set-up, both in terms of concept and 

operation. One example of this is the installation of a second, backup computer centre for emergency use, which has a 

direct glass fiber optic cable connection to the Group’s headquarters.

IT security officers ensure, on the basis of rules that are binding throughout the Group, that this area is given 

high priority in our Company, that the corresponding rules and regulations are adhered to and that IT risk management 

is constantly improved.
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Financial risks

The prime objectives of financial management controlled at LEONI Group’s head office are to assure the liquidity of the 

group of companies worldwide, to optimise finance costs and income as well as to manage and minimise currency and 

interest rate risks. To achieve this, we use a wide range of financial instruments to keep our exposure to individual 

markets or instruments as low as possible, and pursue long-term collaboration with international banks that is based 

on mutual trust. As a matter of principle, LEONI attaches great value to a solid finance structure. This is intended to 

safeguard our status as a company with a good credit rating on the capital market, among banks and suppliers with-

out the need for external rating, financial covenants or other collateralisation. Our liquidity management makes use of, 

among other things, a cash pooling system with pools in the home countries of the currencies most important to the 

Group. Furthermore, LEONI AG executes the majority of the payments for the Group.

All customers with whom the LEONI Group intends to conclude business on a credit basis are subject to credit 

screening. Furthermore, receivables are monitored continuously. The existing guideline for Group-wide accounts re-

ceivable management also comprises, along with rules governing commercial credit insurance, the internal and ex-

ternal credit limit setting process. Due to the current economic crisis, it is at present no longer possible to hedge our 

receivables from some automotive industry customers by means of either commercial credit insurance or factoring. 

While taking potential reaction into account, LEONI is attempting to shorten the payment terms for these customers. 

However, due to the reduction in some cases of the volume of product called forward by the affected manufacturers, 

the corresponding receivables and thus the risk to LEONI are also reduced. 

The Group uses interest rate swaps, caps and collars to avoid interest rate-related risks. Derivative contracts (in-

terest rate) are handled exclusively by LEONI AG. Derivative contracts (interest rate) hedge the risk of changes in inter-

est rates on current and non-current borrowing requirements. 

Although we conduct our business mainly in euros or in the local currency of the respective country, we are in-

creasingly faced with currency risks due to the globalisation of the markets. In the Group’s holding company, LEONI 

AG, the Corporate Finance department deals with the resulting currency risks – in collaboration with and based on the 

conditions set by the currency committee with respect to limits and terms. Hedging transactions are executed in line 

with the existing underlying transactions as well as the planned transactions. Apart from the actual hedging transac-

tions, which are used to hedge against key risks, we primarily take advantage of the option of netting foreign currency 

items within the Group. Further details of liquidity, interest rate and currency risks are described in the    Notes.

Goodwill and non-current assets are tested for impairment, which covers all Group companies worldwide. There 

is the risk that further deterioration in the market situation could result in impairment of assets and/or goodwill. 

Testing of goodwill and intangible assets with an indefinite useful life for impairment is carried out at least once a year. 

   Notes, note 26, page 132
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Furthermore, a review always also takes place if events or circumstances indicate that there may be an impairment loss. 

Assets with a finite useful life, which comprise mainly property, plant and equipment as well as intangible assets, are 

always tested for impairment whenever there are indications that impairment may have occurred.

In the fourth quarter of 2008, LEONI tested both goodwill and non-current assets for impairment. These tests 

found no need for write-downs. The computations are in each case based on the value in use as the recoverable 

amount. To estimate the value in use the Group must estimate the probable future cash flows of the cash-generating 

units to which the non-current asset or goodwill relates, and moreover choose a reasonable interest rate to compute 

the present value of these cash flows (discounted cash flow method). The cash flows are extrapolated from the busi-

ness planning for the next five financial years, excluding any restructuring measures to which the Group has not yet 

committed and material, future capital expenditure that would raise the performance of the cash-generating units 

tested. The business planning is prepared on a bottom-up basis, meaning that the budgeted figures are prepared 

in detail for each business unit and subsidiary and condensed to the segments and the Group as a whole. The busi-

ness planning underlying the impairment tests was adjusted to the latest information in the fourth quarter due to 

the worsening of earnings projections associated with the financial market crisis and the looming economic slump. 

Key planning assumptions are based on the unit-sales projections of the carmakers that communicate these figures. 

Accordingly, the recoverable amount or the value in use is heavily dependent on the projections for quantities sourced. 

The recoverable amount is, furthermore, heavily dependent on the discount rate applied under the discounted cash 

flow method. 

Compliance risks

Setting up of corporate compliance management and documentation of the internal control system was completed 

during the year under report. The compliance risks have been reported on a quarterly basis since mid 2008. Since the 

beginning of 2009, these risks are being monitored by a corporate compliance manager, and their management has 

been further improved. These tasks are performed by those responsible for risk management. The focal points of com-

pliance at LEONI are conduct in keeping with the Code of Ethics and the prevention of corruption it involves, the Social 

Charta as well as the guidelines on abiding by competition law and export controls.

The Code of Ethics and the Social Charta are published on our   LEONI website and are available for download. 

Export control regimes, such as the continuously updated boycott and embargo lists, entail the risk of rule transgres-

sion in occasional instances. To avoid this, continuous tests are run, for instance by way of the IT systems and training 

sessions for those responsible for observing export controls are carried out.  

   www.leoni.com
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Liability risks

LEONI’s output is used primarily for technically sophisticated products and equipment with high safety standards. We 

minimise the associated risks by taking effective measures as part of process safety and quality management. All 

plants are certified, depending on the customer group they supply, to either DIN EN 9001:2003 or to ISO/TS 16949:2002, 

and in some cases additionally to ISO 14001. There is also insurance cover for operating, product and environmental 

liability as well as for product recalls.

Environmental risks

Environmental risks can virtually be ruled out because of the production methods used at LEONI. As environmentally 

harmful production materials constitute the exception, it is comparatively easy to take specific, preventive measures 

and at comparatively minor expense. Furthermore, we take corresponding care from the outset. 

Overall risk exposure

As a consequence of the financial crisis and the global slump in the unit output of the automotive industry, particu-

larly the market and financial risks to which LEONI is exposed have increased in comparison with the previous risk 

report. The threat of insolvency involving customers and suppliers has become the most significant individual risk. 

Performance-related risks have diminished due to the reduced capacity utilisation. The risks described are, from to-

day’s perspective, manageable. A comparison of overall risk exposure and equity shows that there is no threat to the 

Company’s continued future existence.
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Macroeconomic conditions

The downward momentum that has persisted since the autumn of 2008 will, in the opinion of the Institute for World 

Economics (IfW), accelerate in early 2009, meaning that a number of countries are likely to register a severe slump  

in output. The IfW has also forecast a weak fundamental trend for later in the year, even though the emergency meas-

ures initiated by central banks and governments around the world may drive intermittent recovery of demand and pro-

duction. 

All economic researchers have recently pointed to the high degree of uncertainty in their forecasts, given that 

the length and future impact of the financial crisis is virtually impossible to estimate. The experts are largely agreed 

that the economies of the industrialised countries will be in recession in 2009 and that rates of growth in the emerging 

countries will be significantly curtailed. The International Monetary Fund (IMF), for example, expects economic activity 

in the industrialised countries to decline by about 2 percent, with Germany even likely to underperform this with minus 

2.5 percent. For the emerging and developing countries the IMF forecasts a growth rate nearly halved down to just  

3.3 percent. In that case, the global economy would grow by only about 0.5 percent in 2009, which would be the low-

est rate since the end of the Second World War.

Business by sector

The prospects for the markets of greatest importance to LEONI have also become gloomier and remain fraught with 

great uncertainty: Many of the multinational carmakers find themselves unable, due to the unprecedented sales cri-

sis, to issue any guidance for the current financial year. The German VDA industry association projects that demand for 

passenger cars will decrease by up to 11 percent globally in 2009. At best, any stabilisation might occur in China and 

India, whereas the other markets will from today’s perspective have to cope with a significant decline. The German car 

market will probably contract considerably, although the federal government’s economic stimulus programme and the 

changes to motor vehicle road licensing tax might exert a dampening effect. The forecasts for global commercial ve-

hicle sales, which are likely to decrease sharply above all in Western Europe, Russia and in the Mercosur region as well 

as in the US and the rest of NAFTA, are heavily subdued. In view of a significant drop in orders, the two major aircraft 

manufacturers also anticipate a worldwide decrease in sales.

Prospects for the German machinery and plant engineering sector are likewise unfavourable. The VDMA indus-

try association lowered its 2009 forecast in February and now estimates that output will decrease by an average of  

7 percent. In the German electrical engineering and electronics sector it will, according to the ZVEI industry as-

sociation, prove difficult to achieve the forecast 2 percent sales increase. The ITC sector expects the market across 

Germany to stabilise, with any boost anticipated mainly from digital consumer electronics. The sales of the telecom-

munications industry are, by contrast, forecast to shrink again. The prospects for the medical equipment industry, 

which, according to industry representatives, intends to increase its German sales by 2 to 3 percent, are still relatively 

favourable. 

Forecast



82

LEONI AG’s business performance

Sales and earnings

Against the backdrop of the extremely tough underlying conditions, LEONI AG expects a significant decrease in sales 

across its group in fiscal year 2009, as well as further decline in operating profit compared with 2008. The uncer-

tainty about future performance, especially so in the global automotive sector, means that the size of the decrease 

cannot be specified. Like many of our customers, we are for now taking a short-term view and therefore cannot plan 

beyond the next three months. In order to improve the quality of earnings we launched an extensive cost reduction 

programme that adjusts our spending to the altered sales situation. As a result, the number of employees in the LEONI 

Group will probably decrease considerably in 2009. It is from today’s perspective not possible to provide any reliable 

guidance for business performance in 2010. 

In the Wiring Systems division, sales relating to current projects will in 2009 track the trend in the automotive 

market. Various start-ups, especially so in the small and compact car segment as well as in the lower to upper mid 

range, will counteract this decline. Among others, we will commence supply for the Dacia Sandero, Opel’s new Astra 

and Zafira models, PSA’s C2 and C3, the Mercedes E-Class as well as BMW’s updated 5, 6 and 7 Series models. The fact 

that the earnings contribution will still be small during the start-up phase has to be taken into account in this respect.

Sales in the Wire & Cable Solutions division will also decline in 2009. However, we do in this case also supply sec-

tors that have up to now been virtually unaffected by the current state of the economy. The average price of copper, 

which we pass onto our customers in corresponding costs, also exerts a major influence on the division’s sales. Yet the 

fluctuation in sales due to the copper price has no impact on earnings. 

Financial situation

Based on finance measures taken in recent years, LEONI is solidly positioned and stably funded for the long term. Only 

to a minor extent will any debt have to be discharged during the current financial year. We are postponing various capi-

tal investment projects in order to bolster liquidity. Capital expenditure will nevertheless probably amount to about  

€ 120 million in 2009. In the Wiring Systems division, replacement models in the automotive industry mean that setting 

up and expansion of capacity will in various cases be necessary despite the crisis.

 

Future direction and opportunities

LEONI AG will, as a matter principle, continue to pursue its earnings-oriented growth strategy, even though some 

projects are being postponed in 2009 because of the difficult underlying conditions. We will in the upcoming months 

forge ahead with the cost reduction programme, which provides for significant savings in all areas. The only area 

excluded from this is development work because safeguarding its power of innovation is of strategic importance to 

LEONI’s future success. Weight saving through the use of alternative materials in wiring systems will be one of the top-

ics playing a key role in R & D. Another focal point involves the expansion of products and services on offer for profit-

able niche markets; for example the petrochemical industry and the fiber-to-the-home business. In regional terms, 

LEONI will focus more on countries with long-term growth potential. Among others, these include China, India and 

Russia. 
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Despite the economic crisis, we see a range of opportunities for future growth in both divisions: 

The Wiring Systems division will continue to be able, based on its power of innovation, to benefit from the rising 

proportion of electronics and the trend towards alternative drive technologies in motor vehicles. Our range of high 

quality products and services, which will be expanded even further in 2009 by starting production of our own electri-

cal components, is a factor contributing to the fact that LEONI is obtaining crucial new orders even in the currently dif-

ficult economic phase. The new and follow-on orders recently received from the car and commercial vehicle industry 

should already further increase LEONI Wiring Systems’ market share. In addition, the new operations in Russia and the 

investment in South Korea-based Daekyeung with its production facilities in China strengthen our starting position in 

both the Russian and Asian vehicle markets. 

Our improved production structure also provides favourable prospects. North Africa is becoming increasingly im-

portant in our production network as a result of the LWSF Group takeover and gradual relocation. The current situation 

shows that this region provides the best conditions for wiring systems production in terms of both personnel expenses 

and exchange rates. Further savings potential lies in the use of capacity that has become available, due to a smaller vol-

ume of product called forward in existing projects, for new start-ups. This reduces the need for capital spending. When 

its plants are less utilised, LEONI can also step up optimisation of processes and concentrate production for various or-

ders from one customer at a single facility.

The wide ranging activity in the Wire & Cable Solutions division enhances LEONI’s opportunities in forward-

looking niche markets and thereby reduces exposure to the motor vehicle business. Many of the sectors served, such as 

the medical equipment, aerospace, solar energy and petrochemical industries, the internet and the FTTH sector as well 

as irradiation crosslinking technology provide undiminished, good opportunities for growth. We shall in the future be 

able to take greater advantage of these because we have significantly better starting positions in several segments: In 

the aviation industry, the major order from Airbus Industries gives us a boost. On the European market for communica-

tions technology, we are benefiting from the LEONI WCS Benelux distribution company established at the beginning 

of 2009 and from having pooled FTTH operations in a dedicated business unit. In the irradiation crosslinking business, 

LEONI is meeting the strong demand with expanded capacity. Our new facility in Bautzen near the Polish border is es-

pecially promising in this respect because the sales opportunities for this technology are particularly good in Eastern 

Europe. We also anticipate positive impetus from the large contract covering the wiring for the Gotthard tunnel, in 

which LEONI can prove its competence as a systems provider.  

These multifaceted opportunities demonstrate that LEONI is well prepared for the future despite the difficult set-

ting. The savings programme that we launched will also raise our cost flexibility and thereby further enhance our posi-

tion in the market. Once the measures have been implemented we shall emerge strengthened from the crisis. As soon 

as the economy picks up again LEONI will be able to benefit more than average and to resume its long-term course of 

expansion. 

Nuremberg, 23 February 2009

The Management Board

Dr Klaus Probst                 Dieter Bellé                    Uwe H. Lamann



“The current situation will clearly shift our focus. Once the cost reduc-

tion programme has been implemented and business processes have conse-

quently been optimised, LEONI will be able to enter the next growth phase 

more efficiently. This will certainly enhance our ability to compete.” 

Consolidated financial statements
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86 LEONI AG Consolidated income statement

€ ‘000    01/01 to 12/31 Notes 2008 2007

Sales 2,911,964

     

 2,366,779 

Cost of sales (2,465,619) (1,927,329)

Gross profit on sales 446,345  439,450 

Selling expenses (154,471)  (128,643) 

General and administration expenses (140,310)  (110,499) 

Research and development expenses (88,292)  (55,887) 

Other operating income [ 6 ] 11,033  9,865 1

Other operating expenses [ 6 ] (20,707)  (15,630) 1

Income/expenses from associated companies and joint ventures [ 16 ] 2,086  (554) 

EBIT 55,684 138,102

Finance revenue [ 7 ] 2,866 2,148 1

Finance costs [ 7 ] (41,377) (24,128)

Other income from share investments (1,413) 409

Income before taxes 15,760  116,531 

Income taxes payable [ 8 ] (10,563) (30,312)

Net income 5,197  86,219 

 attributable to: Equity holders of the parent 5,085  85,240 

  Minority interests 112  979 

Earnings per share (basic and diluted) in € [ 28 ] 0.17 2.87 

Weighted average shares outstanding (basic and diluted) [ 28 ] 29,183,169 29,700,000 

1 After reclassification of the currency exchange gains of € 8,483 k presented under finance revenue in the previous year, which resulted in an increase of € 1,442 k 
in other operating income and in a decrease of € 7,041 k in other operating expenses; cf. Notes 2 and 6. 
     

 under IFRS
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LEONI AG Consolidated statement of cash flows

€ ‘000   01/01 to 12/31 2008 2007

Net income 5,197 86,219

Adjustments to reconcile cash provided by operating activities:

 Income taxes 10,563 30,312

 Net interest 39,660 21,980

 Dividend income (358) (369)

 Depreciation and amortisation 110,229 72,669

 Other non-cash expenses and income (2,086) 554

 (Gain)/loss on disposal of non-current assets (132) (2,105)

Change in operating assets and liabilities, adjusted for the impact of changes in the scope of consolidation

 Change in receivables and other fincancial assets 101,904 29,535

 Change in inventories 43,302 (3,747)

 Change in other assets (7,627) (1,971)

 Change in provisions (11,098) (8,928)

 Change in liabilities (90,029) 20,903

Income taxes paid (30,683) (32,435)

Interest paid (38,140) (23,278)

Interest received 1,666 1,129

Dividends received 358 369

Cash provided by operating activities 132,726 190,837

Capital expenditures for intangible assets (11,682) (7,922)

Capital expenditures for property, plant and equipment (141,644) (87,026)

Purchase of minority interests (415) (2,338)

Acquisitions of subsidiaries net of cash and cash equivalents 34,151 (25,174)

 thereof:  Cash paid € (9,574 k)   (previous year: € (29,801 k)) 

   Acquired cash and cash equivalents € 43,745 k  (previous year: € 4,627 k)

Acquired receivables relating to future acquisition 0 (136,500)

Prepayment of the purchase price for future acquisition 0 (146,852)

Acquisitions of associated companies and joint ventures (24,342) (1,135)

Capital expenditures for other financial assets (523) (2,060)

Cash receipts from disposal of assets 7,199 7,543

Cash used for capital spending activities (137,256) (401,464)

Cash receipts from acceptance of financial debts 321,124 170,879

Cash repayments of financial debts (168,635) (31,646)

Buy-back of own shares (29,095) 0

Dividend payment (26,730) (23,760)

Dividend paid to minority interests 0 (726)

Cash provided by financing activities 96,664 114,747

Increase/Decrease in cash and cash equivalents 92,134 (95,880)

Currency adjustment 2,866 (1,186)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 38,672 135,738

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 133,672 38,672

 under IFRS
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Assets    € ‘000 Notes 12/31/2008 12/31/2007

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 133,672 38,672

Trade receivables and other financial assets [ 9 ] 387,505 304,065

Acquired receivables relating to future acquisition [ 9 ] 0 136,500

Other assets [ 10 ] 48,552 38,177

Receivables from income taxes 21,213 11,019

Inventories [ 12 ] 347,304 344,085

Assets held for sale [ 11 ] 0 4,700

Total current assets 938,246 877,218

Property, plant and equipment [ 13 ] 573,342 414,933

Intangible assets [ 14 ] 113,801 43,600

Goodwill [ 15 ] 152,280 78,949

Shares in associated companies and joint ventures [ 16 ] 25,762 1,715

Other financial assets [ 17 ] 11,215 12,484

Deferred taxes [ 8 ] 21,520 8,072

Prepayment of the purchase price for future acquisition [ 5 ] 0 146,852

Other assets [ 18 ] 12,252 13,132

Total assets 1,848,418 1,596,955

Equity and liabilities    € ‘000 Notes 12/31/2008 12/31/2007

Current liabilities

Current financial debts and current proportion of long-term financial debts [ 19 ] 92,204 215,001

Trade accounts payable and other financial liabilities [ 20 ] 444,508 316,410

Income taxes payable 29,150 49,462

Other current liabilities [ 21 ] 79,559 70,045

Provisions [ 22 ] 27,480 17,241

Total current liabilities 672,901 668,159

Long-term financial debts [ 19 ] 574,693 296,882

Long-term financial liabilities 12,289 3,661

Other non-current liabilities 6,242 5,682

Pension provisions [ 23 ] 50,527 38,375

Other provisions [ 22 ] 24,828 17,879

Deferred taxes [ 8 ] 59,250 40,675

Equity [ 24 ]

Share capital [ 24 ] 29,700 29,700

Additional paid-in capital [ 24 ] 170,381 170,381

Treasury shares [ 24 ] (29,095)  0 

Retained earnings [ 24 ] 314,121 335,766

Accumulated other comprehensive income [ 24 ] (38,245) (11,372)

Group interests [ 24 ] 446,862 524,475

Minority interests [ 24 ] 826 1,167

Total equity 447,688 525,642

Total equity and liabilities 1,848,418 1,596,955

LEONI AG Consolidated balance sheet  under IFRS
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LEONI AG Consolidated statement of changes in equity

Accumulated other 

comprehensive income

€ ‘000

Share

capital

Additional 

paid-in 

capital

Treasury 

shares

Retained 

earnings

Cumulative 

translation 

adjustments

Available- 

for-sale 

investments

Cash flow

hedges

Group 

interests

Minority 

interests Total equity

1 January 2007 29,700 170,381 0 274,229 6,550 309 (1,829) 479,340 2,361 481,701

Net income    85,240   85,240 979 86,219

Other comprehensive  

income    57 (11,306) (40) (5,056) (16,345) (88) (16,433)

Total comprehensive  

income    68,895 891 69,786

Dividend payment (23,760)  (23,760) (726) (24,486)

Increase in  

minority interests 358 358

Decrease in  

minority interests (1,717) (1,717)

31 December 2007 29,700 170,381 0 335,766 (4,756) 269 (6,885) 524,475 1,167 525,642

1 January 2008 29,700 170,381 0 335,766 (4,756) 269 (6,885) 524,475 1,167 525,642

Net income 5,085 5,085 112 5,197

Other comprehensive  

income (3,410) (269) (23,194) (26,873) 1 (26,872)

Total comprehensive  

income (21,788) 113 (21,675)

Share buy-back (29,095) (29,095) (29,095)

Dividend payment (26,730) (26,730) (26,730)

Decrease in  

minority interests (454) (454)

31 December 2008 29,700 170,381 (29,095) 314,121 (8,166) 0 (30,079) 446,862 826 447,688

 under IFRS



90 General and accounting principles

[ 1 ]   General principles

LEONI AG („LEONI“, the „Group“ or the „Company“) was founded 

in Germany under the name of Leonische Werke Roth-Nürnberg, 

Aktiengesellschaft by an agreement dated 23 April 1917 and was en-

tered in the commercial register on 2 February 1918. LEONI AG is reg-

istered with the District Court of Nuremberg under number HRB 202. 

The Company is based in Nuremberg, at Marienstrasse 7. The Group’s 

principal activities are described in Note 25.

These consolidated financial statements of LEONI AG have 

been prepared based on Section 315a of the German Commercial 

Code (HGB – “Consolidated Financial Statements pursuant to the 

International Financial Reporting Standards“) in accordance with the 

International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and the associated 

interpretations (SIC/IFRIC interpretations) as obliged to by Directive 

(EU) no. 1606/2002 of the European Parliament and of the Council 

concerning the adoption of international accounting standards in the 

European Union. The term IFRS also covers the still valid International 

Accounting Standards (IAS). 

LEONI’s consolidated financial statements on 31 December 2008 

have been prepared in euros. Except where stated otherwise, all 

amounts are presented in thousands of euros (“€ k”). The balance 

sheet is structured by term, while the income statement is prepared 

using the function of expense method. Where the balance sheet and 

income statement items are summarised to improve clarity of presen-

tation, they are shown separately in the Notes. 

The accounting and valuation methods applied in the consoli-

dated financial statements on 31 December 2008 are in line with 

those of the previous year with the exception of the new IFRS require-

ments applied for the first time in the 2008 financial year. These are 

explained under Note 3. Furthermore, the presentation of exchange 

differences within the income statement has been changed. Detailed 

explanation of this is provided in Note 2 under “Foreign currency 

translation”. 

The Management Board on 23 February 2009 authorised the  

presented consolidated financial statements for the year ended  

31 December 2008 for submission to the Supervisory Board.

The consolidated financial statements including the list of 

shareholdings will be published in the electronic Federal Gazette 

(Bundesanzeiger) under number HRB 202.

 [ 2 ]   Principles of consolidation  
as well as summary of key accounting  
and valuation methods

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a his-

torical cost basis, except for derivative financial instruments and 

available-for-sale financial assets that have been measured at fair 

value. 

Principles of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of LEONI 

AG and of all subsidiaries that are either directly or indirectly control-

led by LEONI AG. There is control when LEONI AG holds, either directly 

or indirectly, the majority of the voting rights or in other ways has the 

power to govern the financial and operating policies of the enterprise 

so as to obtain benefits from its activities.

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the time of acquisition, 

i.e. from the time when the Group has acquired control over the sub-

sidiary. Inclusion in the consolidated financial statements ends as 

soon as LEONI no longer has control. 

Equity investments in companies are accounted for using the eq-

uity method wherever significant influence over the operating and 

financial policies can be exerted; this is principally in instances where 

LEONI holds between 20 and 50 percent of the voting rights (associ-

ates). Joint venture companies are also measured under the equity 

method. A joint venture company involves the establishment of a 

separate company in which each venturer has an interest. A joint ven-

ture is a contractual arrangement whereby two or more parties un-

dertake an economic activity that is subject to joint control. 

The financial statements of the subsidiaries as well as the associ-

ates and the joint ventures are prepared using uniform accounting 

policies on the same balance sheet date as the financial statements of 

the parent company. 

All business combinations are accounted for under the purchase 

method. According to this method, the purchase price has been al-

located to the fair value of the interest held in the net assets of the 

consolidated subsidiaries at the time of acquisition. In doing so, all 

Notes
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identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities are adopted 

at fair value and recognised accordingly in the consolidated balance 

sheet. After adjustments to the fair values of assets acquired and li-

abilities assumed are made, any resulting positive difference is capi-

talised in the balance sheet as goodwill. Situations in which the fair 

value of net assets is greater than the purchase price paid result in a 

negative difference. In the event that such a difference remains fol-

lowing reassessment of the allocation of the purchase price or de-

termining the fair value of acquired assets, liabilities and contingent 

liabilities, this is recognised as income immediately. The proportion of 

assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of the subsidiary applica-

ble to minority interest are also adopted at fair value. Yet goodwill is 

reported only to the extent that it applies to the Group and is not ex-

trapolated to minority interest.

When acquiring minority interests, the difference between the 

purchase price paid and the carrying amount attributable to the fair 

value of these net assets is shown as goodwill (parent entity exten-

sion method).

According to IFRS 3, Business Combinations, goodwill is no longer 

amortised over its useful life, but is according to IAS 36 subjected to 

an impairment test at least once a year, which may lead to an impair-

ment loss (impairment-only approach). 

All intercompany balances, income, expenses as well as unreal-

ised profits and losses from intercompany transactions are eliminated 

in full. 

Foreign currency translation

These consolidated financial statements are prepared in the presenta-

tion currency, the euro, which is the functional currency of the group 

parent company, LEONI AG. The financial statements of the foreign 

subsidiaries included in the consolidated financial statements with a 

functional currency other than the euro, are, under IAS 21, translated 

into the Group currency, the euro, according to the functional cur-

rency concept. The functional currency of the individual subsidiaries 

is the currency of the primary economic environment in which the 

company operates. The financial statements prepared in the respec-

tive functional currency of the subsidiary are translated using the 

closing rate method, i.e. the assets and liabilities are translated from 

the functional currency to the presentation currency at the closing 

exchange rate on the balance sheet date, while the statements of in-

come are translated using annual average exchange rates (arithmetic 

average of the monthly average exchange rates). Any differences aris-

ing from the translation of assets and liabilities compared with the 

previous year’s translation as well as translation differences between 

the income statement and the balance sheet are recorded separately 

under the item “accumulated other comprehensive income” within 

equity and accordingly have no effect on net income. On the disposal 

of a foreign operation, the cumulative amount of the exchange differ-

ences in the other comprehensive income relating to that foreign op-

eration is recognised in the income statement when the gain or loss 

on disposal is recognised. 

A foreign currency transaction, i.e. a transaction entered into by 

a consolidated company in a currency other than its functional cur-

rency, is recorded, on initial recognition in the functional currency, 

by applying to the foreign currency amount the spot exchange rate 

between the functional currency and the foreign currency at the date 

of the transaction. In the subsequent periods monetary assets and 

liabilities are revalued using the closing rate at each balance sheet 

date. The resulting currency differences are recorded in the income 

statement. Non-monetary items are still carried at the transaction 

rate, or, if they are measured at fair value in a foreign currency are 

translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value 

was determined. 
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The exchange rates of the companies material to the consolidated  

financial statements have changed as follows:

Average exchange rate at balance sheet date (1 euro in foreign currency units)

Country Currency ISO Code 12/31/08 12/31/07

Brazil Real BRL 3.2843 2.6205

China

Renminbi 

Yuan CNY 9.6090 10.7400

United Kingdom Pound GBP 0.9600 0.7346

Korea Won KRW 1775.0000 1377.0000

Mexico Peso MXN 19.3500 16.0700

Poland Zloty PLN 4.1823 3.5928

Romania Leu RON 3.9994 3.5910

Switzerland Franc CHF 1.4860 1.6557

Slovakia Crown SKK 30.1260 33.5250

South Africa Rand ZAR 13.1698 10.0300

USA Dollar USD 1.3977 1.4716

Annual average exchange rate (1 euro in foreign currency units)

Country Currency ISO Code 2008 2007

Brazil Real BRL 2.6829 2.6722

China

Renminbi 

Yuan CNY 10.2693 10.4308

United Kingdom Pound GBP 0.7985 0.6861

Korea Won KRW 1602.6923 1274.6923

Mexico Peso MXN 16.3985 15.0077

Poland Zloty PLN 3.5425 3.7879

Romania Leu RON 3.6906 3.3581

Switzerland Franc CHF 1.5845 1.6432

Slovakia Crown SKK 31.1928 33.6965

South Africa Rand ZAR 11.9514 9.6499

USA Dollar USD 1.4739 1.3743

Since 1 January 2008, exchange gains or losses arising after measur-

ing monetary, principally intercompany items that were previously 

presented under finance costs or finance revenue, or separately out-

side operating income as exchange gains or losses from financing 

transactions are allocated to operating income to the extent that 

they are exchange gains or losses directly related to an operating 

transaction. The previous year’s income statement figures were re-

classified accordingly for the purpose of comparability. The previous 

year’s currency result included in operating income was therefore ad-

justed by € 8,483 k. The reclassification is presented in detail in Note 

6. Earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT), which are still reported 

for the individual business segments under segment reporting, still 

represent the operating result, which is also that measured under 

the equity method, because companies measured by this method 

are mainly joint ventures in which LEONI exercises joint control. EBIT 

is therefore still derived from gross profit on sales less selling costs, 

general administrative expenses as well as research and develop-

ment expenses, plus other operating income and less other operat-

ing expenses, as well as plus the income from associated companies 

and joint ventures (result of measurement by the equity method). 

Due to the changed allocation of certain exchange gains or losses to 

operating income, EBIT is presented not only in the segment report-

ing, but also separately in the consolidated income statement as a 

subtotal reconciled in the segment reporting. The previous “operat-

ing earnings” subtotal is therefore no longer included in either the 

consolidated income statement or the segment reporting. 

Revenue recognition

Revenues are generated mainly from the sale of products. Pursuant 

to IAS 18, sales revenues are generally recognised net of value added 

tax (VAT) upon delivery of products to the customer or upon fulfil-

ment of service contracts. Delivery has occurred when the risks and 

rewards associated with ownership have been transferred to the 

buyer. Provisions for customer rebates and discounts as well as for 

returns and other adjustments are provided for in the same period 

the related sales are recognised. Fulfilment of service contracts oc-

curs when substantially all performance obligations have been met. 

In the case of long-term development contracts, revenues are rec-

ognised according to the stage of completion provided that the 
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contracts meet the conditions for applying the percentage-of-com-

pletion method pursuant to IAS 11. This applies to the development 

contracts described below. 

Interest income is recognised as interest accrues. By using the ef-

fective interest rate method this means that the interest income rec-

ognised is the amount produced by using the effective interest rate. 

This is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash flows 

through the expected life of the financial instrument to the net carry-

ing amount of the financial asset. 

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholder’s right to 

receive payment is established.

Research and development costs 

Research costs are expensed as incurred.

Development costs are expensed as incurred unless they relate 

to customer-specific development contracts accounted for pursuant 

to IAS 11, or they meet the criteria of IAS 38 for capitalisation as an in-

tangible asset. Pursuant to IAS 11 for customer-specific development 

contracts that meet the corresponding conditions the percentage-of-

completion method is applied. The capitalised amount is disclosed 

as trade receivables from development contracts. The percentage of 

completion is determined according to the ratio of total costs to costs 

incurred (cost-to-cost method). The income from development con-

tracts is reported under sales in the income statement.

Government grants

A government grant is recognised when there is sufficient assurance 

that the grant will be received and that the enterprise will comply 

with the conditions attaching to it. Expense-related grants are recog-

nised as income on a systematic basis over the periods necessary to 

match them with the associated costs. Grants for an asset are deduct-

ed from the cost of the asset. 

Inventories

Inventories encompass raw materials, production supplies and goods 

purchased as well as work in progress and finished goods. They are 

stated at the lower of cost and the net realisable value. Raw materi-

als, production supplies as well as goods purchased are evaluated 

at cost using the weighted average cost formula or at the lower net 

realisable value at the balance sheet date. The net realisable value is 

computed based on the estimated selling price in the normal course 

of business less the estimated costs of completion and the estimat-

ed costs necessary to make the sale. Cost of conversion of work in 

progress and finished products comprise, alongside the direct costs 

of production material and production wages, proportionate material 

and production overhead costs based on standard capacity. 

Non-current assets held for sale

A non-current asset, or a disposal group, is classified as held for sale 

if the related carrying amount is realised mainly by a sale transaction 

and not by continued use, and if the criteria pursuant to IFRS 5 in this 

regard are met. If non-current assets or a disposal group are classified 

as held for sale, depreciation is ceased and the Company determines 

the fair value of such assets. If the fair value of the assets held for sale 

or the disposal group, less the selling costs, is less than the net carry-

ing amount of the assets, a write-down is made on the fair value, less 

the selling costs. If the disposal plan changes and the criteria pursu-

ant to IFRS 5 for an asset or disposal group that were classified as held 

for sale are no longer met, they are no longer presented separately 

but reclassified to the balance sheet item where they were originally 

recorded. They are valued at the lower of the carrying amount before 

the asset or disposal group was classified as held for sale (as adjusted 

for any subsequent depreciation, amortisation or revaluation that 

would have been recorded without classification as held for sale) and 

their recoverable amount at the date of the decision not to sell.
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Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment is, upon initial recognition, valued at 

cost. Attributable borrowing costs are capitalised as part of the cost 

of a qualifying asset pursuant to IAS 23. A qualifying asset is an asset 

that necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready for its 

intended use. Government grants for capital investments reduce the 

cost of those assets for which the grant was awarded. In the subse-

quent periods, property, plant and equipment is carried at cost less 

accumulated depreciation. It is depreciated over its probable eco-

nomic life. Immovable assets are mostly depreciated on a straight-

line basis and movable assets are, depending on their type of use, 

depreciated using either the straight-line method or, if so required 

by their actual use, the declining method. When carrying out larger-

scale maintenance, the costs are recognised in the carrying amount 

of the item of property, plant or equipment, provided that recogni-

tion criteria are met.

The following useful lives are assumed for depreciation:

Buildings and facilities max. 40 years

Machinery and equipment max. 12 years

Factory and office equipment 2 – 10 years

Computer hardware 3 – 5 years

Leased installations are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the 

respective shorter period of the term of the lease or the estimated or-

dinary useful life.

A property, plant or equipment is derecognised either when it is 

disposed of or when no further economic benefit is to be expected 

from either the use or disposal of the asset. The gains or losses result-

ing from derecognition are determined as the difference between 

the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount and are, in the 

period in which the asset is derecognised, recorded in the income 

statement. 

The residual values of the assets, useful lives and depreciation 

methods are reviewed at the end of the financial year, and if neces-

sary adjusted.

Leases

Leases are classified as either finance or operating. Leasing transac-

tions whereby LEONI is the lessee and bears all substantial risks and 

rewards typical of ownership from use of the leased asset are account-

ed for as finance leases. Accordingly, the lessee capitalises the leased 

asset and records the corresponding lease obligation on the balance 

sheet at the fair value of the leased asset or, if lower, at the present 

value of the minimum lease payments. The leased asset is depreci-

ated over its useful life. If there is no reasonable certainty at the be-

ginning of the lease that the Group will obtain ownership, the leased 

asset is depreciated in full over the shorter of the estimated useful life 

of the asset and the lease term. Lease payments are apportioned be-

tween the finance charges and reduction of the lease liability so as to 

achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the li-

ability. Finance charges are recognised in the income statement. All 

other leasing agreements entered into by LEONI, as a lessee, are ac-

counted for as operating leases. The lease payments are expensed on 

a straight-line basis over the lease term. 

Whether an arrangement contains a lease is determined on the 

basis of the arrangement’s economic substance at the time it was con-

cluded and requires an assessment whether meeting the contractual 

arrangement depends on the use of a certain asset or certain assets 

and whether the arrangement gives the right to use the asset. For ar-

rangements entered into before 1 January 2005, the date of inception 

is deemed to be 1 January 2005 in accordance with the transitional re-

quirements of IFRIC 4.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets comprise patents, software, licenses and similar 

rights, as well as customer relationships, brands, technology and pro-

duction know-how acquired in the context of business combinations. 

An intangible asset that results from development expenditure is capi-

talised if a newly developed product or process can be clearly defined, 

is technically feasible and is intended for either own use or for sale. 

Capitalisation also assumes that the development expenses can with 
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a sufficient degree of likelihood be covered with future inflow of cash 

and cash equivalents and the other IAS 38.57 criteria are met.

Intangible assets acquired separately are, upon initial recogni-

tion, valued at cost. The costs of intangible assets acquired as part of 

business combinations equal their fair values as at the date of acquisi-

tion. In the subsequent periods, intangible assets are carried at their 

cost less any accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impair-

ment losses. Measurement in the subsequent periods should differ-

entiate between intangible assets with a finite useful life and with an 

indefinite useful life.

According to IAS 38, intangible assets with a finite useful life 

must be amortised over their useful life. The Company therefore, in 

accordance with these requirements, amortises delivery rights and 

development costs capitalised as assets in line with expected sales 

and other intangible assets with a finite useful life have been amor-

tised on a straight-line basis over their useful lives to their estimated 

residual values, which is normally nil. Other intangible assets with a 

finite useful life are mainly software licenses with an estimated use-

ful life of 3 years as well as customer relationships with useful lives of 

3 to 19 years as well as technology and production know-how with 

a useful life of 6 to 15 years, in both cases acquired in the context of 

business combinations. The amortisation method and the amorti-

sation period for an intangible asset with a finite useful life are re-

viewed, at least, at the end of each financial year. Any changes to the 

amortisation method and the amortisation period due to revision of 

the expected useful life or the expected use of the asset’s future eco-

nomic benefit are treated as changes in estimates. 

According to IAS 38, intangible assets with an indefinite useful 

life have no longer been amortised; instead such intangible assets 

must, according to IAS 36, be reviewed for impairment at least annu-

ally and written down to their lower recoverable amount. The review 

is carried out as at 31 October of each year according to the same 

principles as in the case of goodwill. The remarks below therefore ap-

ply accordingly.

Intangible assets with an indefinite useful life are reviewed once a 

year to determine whether the estimate of assessment of an indefi-

nite useful life is still justified. If this is not the case, the assessment is 

prospectively changed from an indefinite to a definite useful life. On 

the balance sheet date, LEONI recorded brands acquired in the con-

text of business combinations as intangible assets with an indefinite 

useful life. 

Intangible assets are derecognised when they are disposed of or 

when no further economic benefit is to be expected from either their 

use or disposal.

Goodwill

Goodwill from a business combination is, upon initial recognition, 

measured at cost calculated as the excess of the costs to acquire the 

business combination over the interest of the acquirer in the fair val-

ues of the acquired company’s identifiable assets, liabilities and con-

tingent liabilities. After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at the 

acquisition cost less any accumulated impairment losses. 

Goodwill is not amortised; instead it is in line with the require-

ments of IAS 36 reviewed for impairment at least annually. The Group 

reviews the goodwill for impairment annually as at 31 October. A re-

view also takes place if events or circumstances indicate that there 

may have an impairment loss. For the purpose of the impairment test, 

goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition 

date, allocated to the Group’s cash-generating units that are expect-

ed to benefit from the synergies of the business combination. This 

applies regardless of whether other assets or liabilities of the acquired 

business are allocated to these cash-generating units. Goodwill is 

tested at the level of the cash-generating units to which it is allocated 

by comparing the carrying amount of the cash-generating unit or 

units with the recoverable amount. Impairment has occurred if the 

carrying amount exceeds the recoverable amount, requiring a write-

down to the recoverable amount. The recoverable amount corre-

sponds to the higher of the two amounts from the fair value less cost 
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to sell and value in use. The value in use of a cash-generating unit is 

defined as the present value of projected cash flows to the Company 

from the cash-generating unit. To determine the value in use, the 

projected cash flows are discounted to their present value based on 

a discount rate before tax that reflects current market assessments of 

the time value of money and the risks specific to the cash-generating 

unit. An appropriate valuation model is applied to determine the fair 

value less cost to sell. This is based on valuation multiples, discounted 

cash-flow valuation models, stock market prices and other available 

indicators of the fair value.

Later reversal based on disappearance of the reason for a good-

will impairment recorded in previous financial years or interim report-

ing periods is not permitted. 

Impairment testing of intangible assets with finite life and 

property, plant and equipment

An assessment is made at each balance sheet date whether there are 

any indications that an impairment loss may have occurred. If there 

are such indications, the recoverable amount of the asset is deter-

mined and compared with its carrying amount. If the recoverable 

amount is lower than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is rec-

ognised on the lower recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is 

the higher of the two amounts from the fair value less cost to sell and 

value in use. The latter is the present value of future cash flows that 

can probably be derived from the asset. To determine the value in use, 

the projected cash flows are discounted to their present value based 

on a discount rate before tax that reflects current market assessments 

of the time value of money and the risks specific to the cash-generat-

ing unit. An appropriate valuation model is applied to determine the 

fair value less cost to sell. This is based on valuation multiples, dis-

counted cash-flow valuation models, stock market prices or market 

values and other available indicators of the fair value.

If specific cash flows generated largely independently from other 

assets or groups of assets cannot be allocated to the individual as-

sets, they are tested for impairment based on the smallest, overriding 

cash-generating unit of assets.

If the reasons for applying the impairment charge have disappeared, 

the write-down on the asset is reversed. Such reversal is limited to the 

amount that would have resulted when taking amortisation respec-

tively depreciation into account.

Regardless of whether there is evidence of impairment, a corre-

sponding test for impairment is applied once a year to both intangible 

assets that are not yet ready for use and intangible assets with an in-

definite useful life. 

Shares in associated companies and joint ventures 

Shares in associated companies and in joint venture companies are ac-

counted for under the equity method. The shares are valued with their 

purchase price on the acquisition date, which is increased or reduced 

respectively in the subsequent periods for any changes in net assets 

of the company such as the proportionate share of net income or loss 

and by received dividends. The proportionate net income or loss is de-

termined using the accounting policies described in this Note. In line 

with the treatment of fully consolidated subsidiaries, the goodwill in-

cluded in the carrying amount of companies accounted for under the 

equity method are no longer amortised either. Instead of a test for im-

pairment of equity method goodwill, the whole investment account-

ed for under the equity method is reviewed for impairment according 

to IAS 36. The Group determines on each balance sheet date whether 

there are objectively discernible indications that the investment in an 

associated company or joint venture might be impaired. If this is the 

case, the difference between the fair value of the investment and the 

carrying amount is expensed as an impairment loss.

Financial instruments

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to both a financial 

asset of one enterprise and a financial liability or equity instrument 

of another enterprise. Financial instruments recorded as either finan-

cial assets or financial liabilities are as a matter of principle presented 
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separately. They are reported on a net basis only where a right of set-

off with respect to the amounts exists at the present time and it is 

intended to settle net. 

Financial instruments are recognised as soon as LEONI becomes 

a contracting party to the financial instrument. In the case of regular 

way purchases or sales in the context of a contract whose conditions 

provide for the asset to be delivered within a period of time that is 

normally determined by the rules or conventions of the respective 

market, the settlement date, i.e. the date on which the asset is sup-

plied to or by LEONI, is pertinent to initial recognition as well as dere-

cognition.

Financial assets comprise in particular cash and cash equivalents, 

trade receivables as well as other originated loans and receivables, fi-

nancial instruments held to maturity as well as both primary and de-

rivative financial assets held for trading purposes. 

Financial liabilities normally provide a claim for return in cash or 

another financial asset. These comprise particularly bonds and other 

securitised liabilities, trade liabilities, liabilities to banks, liabilities 

under finance leases, borrower’s note loans and derivative financial 

liabilities.

Financial assets are derecognised when one of the three follow-

ing conditions is met:

- The contractual rights to receive the cash flows from a financial 

asset are extinguished.

- Although the Group retains the rights to receive the cash flows 

from financial assets, it assumes a contractual obligation to im-

mediately pay the cash flows to a third party in the context of 

an agreement that meets the requirements of IAS 39.19 (“pass-

through arrangement”).

- The Group has transferred its contractual rights to receive the 

cash flows from a financial asset and substantially all the risks and 

rewards incident to ownership of the financial asset have thereby 

been transferred, or alternatively when control of the financial as-

set has been transferred.   

Cash receipts from the sale of receivables that were not yet 

passed on to the buyer of the receivables on the balance sheet 

date are reported under other financial liabilities.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation underlying 

the liability has been met, terminated or extinguished.

Financial instruments are initially recognised at their fair value. 

The assumption or issue of directly attributable transaction costs is 

considered when determining the carrying amount if the financial in-

struments are not measured at fair value through profit or loss.

For subsequent measurement the financial instruments are allo-

cated to one of the measurement categories listed in IAS 39 to which 

they are designated at the time of their initial recognition. 

Financial assets

Financial assets are divided into the following categories:

- Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

 This category comprises financial assets held for trading (FAHft) 

and financial assets that were, upon initial recognition, des-

ignated as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 

(FVtPL). Financial assets are classified as held for trading if they 

are acquired and held with a view to disposal in the near future. 

Derivatives, including embedded derivatives recognised separate-

ly, are also classified as held for trading with the exception of such 

derivatives that were designated as a hedging instrument and are 

effective as such.

 Gains or losses on financial assets of this category are recognised 

with effect on earnings.

 Neither in the 2008 financial year nor in the previous year did the 

Company classify any primary financial assets as held for trading, 

nor did it make use of the option to designate financial assets at 

fair value through profit or loss upon their initial recognition.
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- Held-to-maturity investments

 Held-to-maturity investments (HtM) are non-derivative financial 

assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturity 

that an enterprise has the positive intent and ability to hold to 

maturity. They are measured at amortised cost using the effective 

interest rate method. Gains or losses are recognised in net profit 

or loss when the financial asset is derecognised or impaired, as 

well as through the amortisation process.

 The Group had financial assets of this category in neither fiscal 

year 2008 nor the previous year. 

- Loans and receivables

 Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with 

fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an ac-

tive market. Following initial recognition, loans and receivables 

are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate 

method less any impairment. 

 Valuation allowances are made when receivables are uncollectible 

or probably uncollectible and a reliable estimate of the valuation 

allowance can be made. There is need for valuation allowance 

when there are objectively discernable indications such as re-

ceivables overdue for a prolonged period, initiation of foreclosure 

measures, looming default or overindebtedness as well as insol-

vency proceedings having been applied for or commenced. Trade 

receivables with usual payment terms, which normally do not 

exceed twelve months, are therefore recognised at the nominal 

amount, less appropriate allowances. Receivables that do not bear 

interest or bear below market interest rates and have an expected 

term of more than one year are discounted with the discount sub-

sequently amortised to interest income over the term of the re-

ceivable. 

 Impairment of trade receivables is recognised in separate impair-

ment accounts. Impairment losses of all other financial assets are 

recognised directly.

 Gains or losses are recognised in the income statement when the 

loans and receivables are derecognised or impaired, as well as 

through the amortisation process.

- Available-for-sale financial assets

 Available-for-sale financial assets (AfS) are non-derivative finan-

cial assets that are designated as available for sale and are not 

classified in one of the aforementioned categories. They must be 

measured at their fair value. The gains or losses resulting from 

valuation at fair value are recorded separately as accumulated 

other comprehensive income within equity. If there are significant 

loss events or, in the case of equity instruments, losses ongo-

ing over a longer period, this will be expensed accordingly in the 

income statement. The Group assumes there to be a significant 

loss event involving impairment of more than 20 percent and 

prolonged decline in value of equity instruments to be probable 

when there has been continued loss in value over a period of 12 

months. Later reversals of impairment on available-for-sale finan-

cial assets are as a matter of principle recorded as accumulated 

other comprehensive income. Only in the case of debt instru-

ments are reversals recognised in the income statement up to 

the original amount of impairment, with any amounts above that 

recorded as accumulated other comprehensive income. Provided 

that there is no quoted market price in an active market for in-

vestments in equity instruments and that their fair value can-

not be reliably measured, they are carried at acquisitions cost. A 

write-down to the present value of the future cash flows is made 

in the case of a decline in value other than temporary.
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Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities that fall into the category of “financial assets at fair 

value through profit or loss” are also carried at fair value in the sub-

sequent periods with the resulting gains or losses recognised in the 

income statement. 

This category comprises financial liabilities held for trading 

(FLHfT) as well as liabilities that were, upon initial recognition, des-

ignated as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 

(FVtPL). Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if they 

are acquired and held with a view to disposal in the near future. 

Derivatives, including embedded derivatives recognised separately, 

are also classified as held for trading with the exception of such de-

rivatives that were designated as a hedging instrument and are effec-

tive as such.

Neither in the 2008 financial year nor in the previous did the 

Company classify any primary financial liabilities as held for trading, 

nor did it make use of the option to designate financial liabilities at 

fair value through profit or loss (FVtPL) upon their initial recognition.

All financial liabilities that do not fall into this category and are 

not derivative financial instruments are measured at amortised cost 

using the effective interest rate method. In the case of current li-

abilities, the amortised cost corresponds to either their repayment or 

settlement value. Gains or losses are recognised in the income state-

ment when the liabilities are derecognised or amortised.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash in hand, cheques and im-

mediately disposable bank deposits with an original maturity of three 

months or less. Cash is recognised at par value. 

Derivative financial instruments and hedging activities

Derivative financial instruments entered into by the LEONI Group are 

recorded at their fair value on the balance sheet date. Depending 

on their maturity, derivatives with a positive fair value are reported 

as current or non-current other financial assets and derivates with 

a negative fair value are reported as current or non-current other fi-

nancial liabilities. In general, the Group recognises the changes in fair 

value of derivative financial instruments as earnings. However, the 

Group records changes in fair value of foreign currency derivatives 

used to hedge anticipated foreign currency denominated cash flows 

on firm commitments and forecast transactions in accumulated other 

comprehensive income on the balance sheet without impact on net 

income until the hedged item is recognised in earnings when the 

requirements of the standard to apply cash flow hedge accounting 

are met. The reclassification from accumulated other comprehensive 

income into earnings occurs in the same period as the underlying 

transaction takes place and has effect on net income. The ineffective 

portions of the fair value changes of those derivatives are recognised 

in earnings immediately. The fair value changes of interest rate deriv-

atives designated to hedge non-current liabilities subject to interest 

rate fluctuation are also recognised in accumulated other comprehen-

sive income without affecting earnings if they meet the requirements 

to apply cash flow hedge accounting. The amounts recorded in this 

account subsequently lead to the interest expenditure from the rel-

evant underlying transaction recorded in the income statement being 

balanced.

Commodity future transactions that are settled in cash are recog-

nised as derivatives, changes in the fair value of which are recognised 

in the cost of sales.
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Contracts entered into for the purpose of receipt or supply of non-fi-

nancial items according to the Group’s expected purchase, sale or us-

age requirements and held as such (own use contracts) are reported 

not as derivative financial instruments but as pending transactions.

If contracts contain embedded derivatives, such derivatives are 

reported separately from the host contract when the economic char-

acteristics and risks of the embedded derivative are not closely re-

lated to the economic characteristics and risks of the host contract. 

The review whether a contract contains an embedded derivative that 

must be reported separately from the host contract is made at the 

time when the Company became a contracting party. A reassessment 

is made only when there are major changes to the terms of the con-

tract that result in a significant change to the cash flows.

Accruals

Accruals are also reported under liabilities. Accruals are liabilities to 

pay for goods or services that have been received but have not been 

paid or invoiced by the supplier. 

Pension and other post-employment benefits

The valuation of defined-benefit pension obligations is based upon 

actuarial computations using the projected-unit-credit method in ac-

cordance with IAS 19. Changes in the actuarial assumptions or differ-

ences between the actual development and the original assumptions 

as well as gains or losses on the pension plan or plan assets (actuarial 

gains or losses) as a difference between the actual and expected re-

turn on plan assets are amortised over the average remaining serv-

ice period of active employees expected to receive benefits under 

the plan, if a corridor of 10 percent of the present value of defined 

benefit obligation (DBO) or the fair value of plan assets is exceeded. 

Past service cost is expensed on a straight-line basis over the average 

period until the benefits become vested. To the extent that the ben-

efits are already vested immediately following the introduction of, or 

changes to, a pension plan, an enterprise should recognise past serv-

ice cost immediately. 

The amount recognised as a defined benefit asset or liability 

comprises the present value of the defined benefit obligation, adjust-

ed by the actuarial gains or losses not yet recognised, less the past 

service cost not yet recognised and less the fair value of plan assets 

out of which the obligations are to be settled directly. The value of a 

defined benefit asset is limited to the sum of previously unrecognised 

past service cost and any the present value of any economic benefits 

available in the form of refunds from the plan or reductions in future 

contributions to the plan. 

 The interest costs relating to retirement benefit obligations as 

well as the expected return on plan assets are presented under fi-

nance costs. 

Other provisions 

Other provisions are recorded when a present legal or constructive 

obligation to a third party has been incurred from past events, the 

payment is probable and the amount can be reasonably estimated. 

So far as the Group expects repayment for an accrued provision at 

least in part for example from an insurance policy, such repayment is 

recognised as a separate asset provided the inflow of the repayment 

is virtually certain. The provisions are valued according to IAS 37 with 

the best estimate of the amount of the obligation. Where provisions 

do not become due until after one year and a reliable estimate of the 

payment amounts and dates is possible, the present value for the 

non-current proportion is determined on a discounted basis. Accrued 

interest is recognised under interest expense.

Obligations to dispose of an asset and to re-cultivate its site or 

similar obligations must be recognised as a component of acquisition 

and production costs and simultaneously recognised as a provision. 
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In the subsequent periods this amount added to the asset is to be de-

preciated over its residual useful life. The payment obligation or pro-

vision is accreted to its present value at the end of each period.

Restructuring provisions are recognised when the constructive obli-

gation has arisen according to the criteria under IAS 37.72.

Accruals are not reported under provisions, but rather under li-

abilities. 

Income taxes

The current tax assets and tax liabilities for the current and prior pe-

riods are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from the 

taxation authority or paid to the taxation authority. Calculation of the 

amount is based on the tax rates and tax laws in force on the balance 

sheet date.

Deferred tax is, pursuant to IAS 12, formed according to the bal-

ance sheet liability method. This provides that tax assets and liabili-

ties for all temporary differences, apart from the exceptions under 

IAS 12.15, IAS 12.24, IAS 12.39 and IAS 12.44, between the carrying 

amount on the consolidated balance sheet and the amount for tax 

purposes as well as for tax loss carryforwards are recognised (tem-

porary concept). Deferred taxes are measured using the currently en-

acted tax rates in effect during the periods in which the temporary 

differences are expected to reverse. The effect on deferred tax assets 

and liabilities of a change in tax law is recognised in the period that 

the law is enacted. Deferred tax assets are applied only to the extent 

that it is more likely than not that the tax benefit will be realised. The 

deferred tax assets are reviewed in this regard on each balance sheet 

date.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if they relate to in-

come taxes levied by the same taxation authority and the Group has 

a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current 

tax liabilities.

Income taxes referring to items that are recognised directly in eq-

uity are also recognised in equity and not in the income statement.

 

Earnings per Share

Earnings per share are computed in accordance with IAS 33, Earnings 

per Share. The basic earnings per share are computed by divid-

ing consolidated net income due to the LEONI shareholders by the 

weighted average of the number of ordinary shares outstanding 

during the relevant period. The diluted earnings per share are com-

puted by dividing consolidated net income attributable to the LEONI 

shareholders by the total of the weighted average number of ordinary 

shares outstanding, plus the weighted average number of securities 

that can be converted into ordinary shares. There was no dilution in 

the reporting periods presented.

Statement of cash flows

The statement of cash flows is classified by operating, investing and 

financing activities in accordance with IAS 7. The cash flows from 

operating activities are determined by using the indirect method 

whereby net profit or loss is adjusted for the effects of transactions of 

a non-cash nature, any deferrals or accruals of past or future operat-

ing cash receipts or payments, and items of income or expense asso-

ciated with investing or financing cash flows. Undistributed income 

from entities valued under the equity method is principally reported 

under “other non-cash expenses and income”.

Interest paid and interest and dividends received are classified as 

cash flows from operating activities. Dividends paid are classified as a 

financing cash flow. 

The cash holdings comprise cash and cash equivalents. These 

include cash in hand, cheques and immediately disposable bank de-

posits with an original maturity of up to three months. The effect of 

exchange rate-related changes in value on cash and cash equivalents 

is presented separately so that the cash and equivalents at the begin-

ning and end of the period can be reconciled.
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Segment reporting

The Company’s segment reporting is prepared in accordance with 

International Accounting Standard 14. Within LEONI Group, output 

determines the primary basis of segment reporting. Segmentation 

by both business and region is based on internal financial reporting. 

The segment result is earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT) and is 

based on operating earnings plus income from associated companies 

and joint ventures less expenses from associated companies and joint 

ventures. 

Key judgments, estimates and assumptions 

When preparing the consolidated financial statements management 

makes judgments, estimates and assumptions that influence the 

amounts of assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities as well as the 

expense and income reported on the balance sheet date. The uncer-

tainty that these assumptions and estimates involve can, however, in 

future periods cause outcomes that result in major adjustment to the 

carrying amounts of the assets and liabilities concerned. 

The most significant assumptions concerning the future as well as 

other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the balance sheet date, 

which present a risk that material adjustment to the carrying amounts 

of the assets and liabilities will be necessary within the next financial 

year, are explained hereinafter.

Testing of the goodwill and intangible assets with an indefinite 

useful life for impairment is based on their value in use. Non-current 

assets with a finite useful life were also largely tested for impairment 

based in their value in use. To estimate the value in use the Group 

must estimate the probable future cash flows of the cash-generating 

units to which the non-current asset or goodwill relates, and moreo-

ver choose a reasonable interest rate to compute the present value 

of these cash flows (discounted cash flow method). The cash flows 

are extrapolated from the business planning for the next five finan-

cial years, excluding any restructuring measures to which the Group 

has not yet committed and material, future capital expenditure that 

would raise the performance of the cash-generating units tested. The 

business planning is prepared on a bottom-up basis, meaning that 

the budgeted figures are prepared in detail for each business unit and 

subsidiary and condensed to the segments and the Group as a whole. 

The business planning underlying the impairment tests was adjusted 

to the latest information in the fourth quarter due to the worsen-

ing of earnings projections associated with the financial market cri-

sis and the looming economic slump. This also applies to the tests 

for impairment of goodwill, which must be carried out annually as 

at 31 October. Key planning assumptions are based on the unit-sales 

projections issued by the carmakers. Accordingly, the recoverable 

amount or value in use is heavily dependent on the projections for 

quantities sourced. The recoverable amount is, furthermore, heavily 

dependent on the discount rate applied under the discounted cash 

flow method. 

In the case of intangible assets with an indefinite useful life this 

exclusively involves brands acquired in a business combination. The 

carrying amount on 31 December 2008 was € 2,311 k (previous  

year: € 2,311 k). Intangible assets with finite useful lives involved 

a carrying amount of € 111,490 k on 31 December 2008 (previous 

year: € 41,289 k). Property, plant and equipment came to a carrying 

amount of € 573,342 k on 31 December 2008 (previous year:  

€ 414,933 k). Goodwill amounted to € 152,280 k on 31 December 2008 

(previous year: € 78,949 k). Further detail is to be found under  

Notes 13, 14 and 15.

Management must, with respect to accounting for capitalised 

deferred taxes relating mainly to unused loss carryforwards, make 

estimates and judgments concerning future tax planning strategies, 

the expected timing and the amount of taxable income available 

in the future for use of the loss carryforwards. Deferred tax assets 

are recognised to the extent that deferred tax liabilities in the same 

amount and with the same term applicable to them are expected. 

Furthermore, deferred tax assets are recognised only if future tax-

able income is with high probability expected that is sufficient to use 

the deferred tax assets from loss carryforwards and temporary dif-

ferences. For this judgment the taxable income is derived from the 

business planning that has been prepared according to the principles 

described above. Due to the mounting uncertainty about the future, 

the period under consideration is normally three years. In the case of 

entities in loss situations, deferred tax assets are not recognised until 
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[ 3 ]   New accounting requirements

New accounting requirements applied for  

the first time in the financial year

Application of IFRIC (Interpretation of the International Financial 

Reporting Committee) 11 of “IFRS 2 – Group and Treasury Share 

Transactions” has been binding in the European Union since  

1 January 2008. This interpretation addresses two questions regard-

ing IFRS 2, “Share-based Payment”. On the one hand it resolves 

whether certain transactions are to be accounted for as an equity-

settled share-based payment transaction or cash. On the other hand 

the Interpretation provides guidance on share-based payment ar-

rangements in which two or more companies of the same group are 

involved. This new Interpretation had no effect on the Group’s results 

and financial position.

The Interpretation IFRIC 14 of “IAS 19 – The Limit on a Defined 

Benefit Asset, Minimum Funding Requirements and their Interaction” 

must be applied to financial years beginning on or after 1 January 

2008, but was not endorsed in the European Union until December 

2008. IFRIC 14 provides guidance on setting the maximum amount 

of the surplus from a defined benefit plan that may, under IAS 19, be 

recognised as an asset. This new Interpretation had no effect on the 

Group’s results and financial position.

Changes to International Accounting Standard 39 “Financial 

Instruments – Recognition and Measurement” and to International 

Financial Reporting Standard 7 “Financial Instruments: Disclosures” 

were, in view of the financial crisis, brought into effect in the 

European Union on 15 October 2008. These changes made it possible 

under exceptional circumstances from 1 July 2008 to reclassify certain 

financial instruments from “held for trading” to another category. The 

changes had no effect on the Group’s financial position or perform-

ance.

there are signs of a turnaround or it is highly probable that the future 

positive results can be generated. On 31 December 2008 the carrying 

amount of deferred tax assets was € 21,520 k (previous year:  

€ 8,072 k). Further details are presented in Note 8.

The pension expense pertaining to defined benefit plans post 

employment is determined based upon actuarial computations. 

These measurements are based on assumptions and judgments with 

respect to discount rates, expected return on plan assets, future 

wage and salary increases, mortality and future pension increases. 

Due to the non-current nature of such plans, such estimates are sub-

ject to material uncertainties. A discount rate of 6.1 percent was as-

sumed for retirement benefit obligations in Germany. At a rate  

0.4 percent lower the defined benefit obligation would have been  

approx. € 2 million less. As the corridor method is used, this would 

not have had any influence on the pension provision and profit or  

loss for the 2008 financial year. The impact on profit or loss for the 

subsequent year is insignificant. Pension provisions amounted to  

€ 50,527 k on 31 December 2008 (previous year: € 38,375 k). There 

was on 31 December 2008 an asset of € 9,290 k (previous year:  

€ 10,753 k) pertaining to the retirement benefit plan in the United 

Kingdom. Further details are presented in Note 23.



104

Future, new accounting requirements 

A)  The following accounting requirements endorsed by the European 

Union (EU) were not applied because application will only become 

obligatory in future periods: 

 

 IFRS 8, “Operating Segments”, stipulates the requirements con-IFRS 8, “Operating Segments”, stipulates the requirements con-

cerning the information to be provided under segment reporting 

and replaces IAS 14. IFRS 8 follows the management approach 

that provides for reporting based only on the internal organisa-

tional and reporting structure as well as what management uses 

internally for evaluating segment performance. IFRS 8 is to be 

applied to financial years beginning on or after 1 January 2009. 

Based on the information currently available, management does 

not expect any material effect on the Group’s financial position 

and performance.

 Interpretation IFRIC 13 “Customer Loyalty Programmes” be-Interpretation IFRIC 13 “Customer Loyalty Programmes” be-

comes effective for financial years beginning on or after 1 July 

2008. According to this Interpretation, loyalty award credits 

(“points”) awarded to customers must be accounted as a sepa-

rate component of the sales transaction in which they were 

granted. A portion of the fair value of the consideration received 

is therefore allocated to the award credits (points) and deferred. 

This then recognised as revenue over the period that the award 

credits are redeemed. Based on the information currently avail-

able, management does not expect any material effect on the 

Group’s financial position and performance.

 In April 2007 the IASB issued a change to IAS 23. The revised IAS 

23 requires capitalisation of borrowing costs that are directly 

attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a 

qualifying asset. The previous option of expensing these bor-

rowing costs as they were incurred therefore no longer exists. 

The new requirement is to be effective for financial years be-

ginning on or after 1 January 2009. Neither in the past 2008 fi-

nancial year nor previously has the Group made any use of the 

option, having in accordance with IAS 23 capitalised borrowing 

costs in connection with qualifying assets. The change to IAS 

23 therefore had no effect on the Group’s financial position and 

performance. 

 IAS 1 “Presentation of Financial Statements” was revised and is-IAS 1 “Presentation of Financial Statements” was revised and is-

sued in September 2007. It is to be effective for financial years 

beginning on or after 1 January 2009. The revised IAS 1 involves 

in particular changes to the description of the components of 

the financial statements as well as the presentation and com-

position of the components of the financial statements. The 

Standard separates owner and non-owner changes in equity. In 

addition, the Standard introduces a statement of comprehensive 

income: presenting all items of income and expense recognised 

in the income statement, together with all other items of rec-

ognised income and expense, either in one single statement, or 

two linked statements. The Group has not yet decided on one of 

these two forms of presentation.  

 

 The IASB issued an amendment to IFRS 2 “Share-based 

Payment” in January 2008 that clarifies the definition of a vest-

ing condition and prescribes the treatment for an award that is 

cancelled. The Group does not anticipate any impact on its fi-

nancial position or performance because there are currently no 

agreements that are subject to these new requirements. 

 In February 2008, the IASB issued amendments to IAS 32 

“Financial Instruments: Presentation” and IAS 1 “Presentation of 

Financial Statements”, yet the European Union did not endorse 

these until January 2009. These revised requirements must be 

applied for the first time to financial years beginning on or after 

1 January 2009. The revisions provide a limited scope exception 

for puttable instruments to be classified as equity if they fulfil a 

number of specified features. The amendments to the Standard 

will have no impact on the financial position or performance of 

the Group, as the Group has not issued such instruments.

 In May 2008, the IASB issued amendments to IFRS 1 “First-Time 

Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards” pur-

suant to IFRS and IAS 27 “Consolidated and Separate Financial 

Statements”, which must be applied for the first time to financial 

years beginning on or after 1 January 2009. The European Union 

endorsed these amendments in January 2009. The amend-

ment to IFRS 1 allows an entity to determine the ‘cost’ of invest-

ments in subsidiaries, jointly controlled entities or associates in 

its opening IFRS financial statements in accordance with IAS 27 

or using a deemed cost. The amendment to IAS 27 requires all 
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dividends from a subsidiary, jointly controlled entity or associ-

ated to be recognised in the income statement in the separate 

financial statements. These new requirements have no impact on 

LEONI’s consolidated financial statements. 

 In May 2008 the IASB as part of its annual updates issued its first 

omnibus of amendments to various IFRS standards, which the 

European Union endorsed in January 2009. The updates are in-

tended to remove inconsistencies of the International Financial 

Reporting Standard and to clarify their wording. The improve-

ments comprise 35 changes to the standards and consist of two 

parts, of which the first entails changes to the accounting stand-

ard for presentation, recognition and measurement purposes, 

whereas the second part comprises terminology and editorial 

changes. So far as not stipulated otherwise in the respective 

Standard, the amendments must be effective for financial years 

beginning on or after 1 January 2009. The Group is currently as-

sessing the impact of these amendments on its financial position 

and performance. Based on the information currently available, 

management does not expect any material effect.

B)  The European Union (EU) has not yet endorsed the following ac-

counting requirements issued by either the IASB or IFRIC: 

 IFRIC 12 “Service Concession Arrangement” was issued by 

the IFRIC in November 2006 and must be effective at the lat-

est for reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2008. 

However, this requirement has so far not been endorsed in the 

European Union. The interpretation applies to service concession 

operators and explains how to account for the obligations under-

taken and rights received in service concession arrangements. 

 IFRIC 15 “Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate” was 

issued in July 2008 and becomes effective for financial years be-

ginning on or after 1 January 2009. This interpretation is to be 

applied retrospectively. It clarifies when and how revenue and 

related expense from the sale of a real estate unit should be rec-

ognised if an agreement between a developer and a buyer is 

reached before the construction of the real estate is completed. 

Furthermore, the interpretation provides guidance on how to  

determine whether an agreement is within the scope of IAS 11  

or IAS 18. 

 IFRIC 16 “Hedges of a Net Investment in a Foreign Operation” 

was issued in July 2008 with the stipulation that it is to be ap-

plied for the first time and prospectively to financial years be-

ginning on or after 1 October 2008. The interpretation provides 

guidance on the accounting for a hedge of a net investment in a 

foreign operation. It provides guidance on identifying the foreign 

currency risks that qualify for hedge accounting in the hedge of 

a net investment, where within the group the hedging instru-

ments can be held in the hedge of a net investment and how an 

entity should determine the amount of foreign currency gain or 

loss, relating to both the net investment and the hedging instru-

ment, to be recycled on disposal of the net investment.  

 IFRIC 17 “Distributions of Non-cash Assets to Owners” was is-IFRIC 17 “Distributions of Non-cash Assets to Owners” was is-

sued in November 2008 with the stipulation that the new re-

quirements be applied for the first time to reporting periods 

beginning on or after 1 July 2009. The interpretation addresses 

accounting for non-cash dividends to owners. A liability to pay 

a non-cash dividend must thereby be recognised at the time 

from which payment is no longer at the discretion of the entity. 

It must be measured at the fair value of the asset to be distrib-

uted. At the time the non-cash dividend is paid, the difference 

between the carrying amount of the previously recognised divi-

dend liability and the carrying amount of the net assets distrib-

uted is recognised in profit or loss. 

 IFRS 3R, “Business Combinations Revised” and the supplemen-IFRS 3R, “Business Combinations Revised” and the supplemen-

tary IAS 27A “Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements” 

were issued in January 2008. Both must be effective for the first 

time for financial years beginning on or after 1 July 2009. IAS 3R 

introduces changes in the accounting for business combinations 

occurring after this date that will impact the amount of goodwill 

recognised, the reported results in the period that an acquisi-

tion occurs, and future reported results. IAS 27A requires that a 

change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary is, without loss 

of control, accounted for as an equity transaction. Therefore, 

such transaction will no longer give rise to goodwill, nor will it 

give rise to a gain or loss. Furthermore, the amended standard 

changes the accounting for losses incurred by the subsidiary as 

well as the loss of control of a subsidiary. Other consequential 
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amendments were made to IAS 7 “Statement of Cash Flows”, 

IAS 12 “Income Taxes”, IAS 21 “The Effects of Changes in Foreign 

Exchange Rates”, IAS 28 “Investment in Associates” and IAS 31 

“Interests in Joint Ventures”. 

 In August 2008, amendments to IAS 29 “Financial Instruments: 

Recognition and Measurement – Eligible Hedged Items” were 

issued with the stipulation that they must be applied for the 

first time to financial year beginning on or after 1 July 2009. The 

amendment addresses the designation of a one-sided risk in a 

hedged item, and the designation of inflation as a hedged risk or 

portion in particular situations. It clarifies that an entity is per-

mitted to designate a portion of the fair value changes or cash 

flow variability of a financial instrument as hedged item. 

 The application of the above-mentioned rules will be binding 

in the future so far as they are endorsed by the EU. The Group is 

analysing the impact of these amended and new requirements. 

Based on the current status of this analysis, this is not expected 

to have any material effect on the consolidated financial state-

ments.

[ 4 ]   Scope of consolidation 

Along with LEONI AG, the consolidated financial statements account 

for 24 companies in Germany and 69 companies outside Germany in 

which LEONI AG is entitled, either directly or indirectly, to a majority 

of the voting rights. The scope of consolidation does not include any 

special-purpose entities because LEONI does not control any compa-

nies that were established for a special purpose without or with only 

limited equity interest. 

Number of fully consolidated companies 12/31/2008 12/31/2007

Germany 25 25

Outside 69 61

Total 94 86

The Russian company OOO LEONI Wiring Systems (RUS) based in 

Naberezhnye Chelny, Tatarstan was established and included in the 

scope of consolidation in the 2008 financial year. The company, which 

belongs to the Wiring Systems division, will produce cable harnesses 

for its first order from Kamaz, one of world’s largest commercial vehi-

cle manufacturers.

The following companies were deconsolidated due to liquida-

tion and after the respective assets and liabilities were transferred to 

other Group companies: in the Wiring Systems division the Chinese 

company LEONI Wiring Systems (Changzhou) Co. Ltd. and the 

Ukrainian company LEONI Wiring Systems UA Mukachevo (GmbH); 

and in the Wire & Cable Solutions division the British company LEONI 

UK Limited, the Belgian company LEONI Cable Assemblies (Belgium) 

N.V., the Irish company LEONI Ireland Ltd. as well as two Chinese com-

panies, namely LEONI (Changzhou) Wire Co. Ltd. and LEONI (Xiamen) 

Electronics Co. Ltd.. Due to merger within the Group, the Polish sub-

sidiary LEONI Automotive Cables Polska sp. Z.o.o. and the Italian 

subsidiary LEONI Felisi S.r.l. were absorbed within the Wire & Cable 

Solutions division. 

Acquisitions are explained under Note 5.

The associated companies and joint ventures disposed of in the 

2008 financial year involved the 33 percent equity interest in the 

American associate Rosenberger LEONI Site Solutions. 

A complete list of the fully consolidated companies as well as of 

the associates and joint ventures on 31 December 2008 is shown at 

the end of these notes. 
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[ 5 ]   Acquisitions of subsidiaries,  
joint ventures and minority interests

In the 2008 financial year: 

On 2 January 2008, LEONI acquired from Valeo SA (vendor) 100 per-

cent of the shares in the French company Valeo Systèmes de Liaison 

based in Montigny-le-Bretonneux near Versailles, which has direct or 

indirect holdings in further 14 subsidiaries and a 50 percent share in 

a joint venture. The company has meanwhile been renamed LEONI 

Wiring Systems France SA and is allocated to the Wiring Systems divi-

sion. The acquired group of companies develops, produces and dis-

tributes wiring systems for vehicles including the related components 

for a customer base comprising PSA, Renault-Nissan, Fiat and Seat as 

well as several automotive component suppliers. 

On 31 December 2007 LEONI prepaid € 145,400 k towards the 

purchase price to the vendor based on a purchase price estimate as 

well as considering incidental acquisition expenses of € 1,452 k. In  

addition, LEONI on 31 December 2007 acquired from the vendor re-

ceivables amounting to € 136,500 k pertaining to its subsidiaries for 

sale. Both items were recorded as open on the balance sheet dated  

31 December 2007.

Considering a repayment and other incidental acquisition costs  

at the beginning of 2008 in the amount of € 4,881 k, the provisional  

acquisition costs for the shares stood at € 141,971 k on 31 December 

2008. This includes incidental acquisition costs of € 1,656 k. De-

pending on the receipt of qualified orders, there may be a change 

amounting to about € 1.2 million in acquisition costs at the begin-

ning of 2009. The business was first consolidated at the time of ac-

quisition. The allocation of the purchase price resulted in goodwill in 

the amount of € 67,477 k arising, aside from the acquired work force 

and the expected synergies, particularly as a premium for the access 

to the market potential going beyond the acquired customer base. 

These parts of the goodwill do not meet the criteria for separate rec-

ognition as an intangible asset. The overview below shows the fair 

values of identifiable assets and liabilities on the date of acquisition. 

€ ‘000

Recognised  

at acquisition

Carrying 

amount

Intangible assets 80,224 879

Property, plant and equipment 90,575 77,720

Other financial assets 950 950

Shares in associated  

companies and joint ventures 19 19

Inventories 45,318 43,284

Deferred taxes 5,792 8,184

Trade receivables relating to future acquisition 183,921 183,921

Cash and cash equivalents 42,844 42,844

Other assets 18,437 18,437

468,080 376,238

Deferred taxes 15,089 1,297

Pension provisions 11,630 11,630

Financial debts 4,087 4,087

Trade accounts payable  

and other financial liabilities 162,853 162,853

Liabilities to associated companies 136,500 136,500

Provisions 24,718 21,776

Other liabilities 38,709 38,709

393,586 376,852

Net assets 74,494 (614)

Goodwill 67,477

Provisional cost of the shares 141,971

In LEONI’s consolidated financial statements, the liabilities to consoli-

dated affiliated companies as presented in the table in the amount 

of € 136,500 k were applied against the receivables from Valeo SA’s 

former subsidiaries acquired from Valeo SA on 31 December 2007. The 

acquired intangible assets involve almost exclusively contractual and 

non-contractual customer relationships.
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The acquired group of companies contributed € 573,576 k to consoli-

dated sales and incurred a loss of € 26,144 k to the consolidated net 

income in the period under report.

On 1 January 2008, LEONI acquired the business operations of 

Brunswick-based Robot-tec Machine Perception GmbH & Co. KG. The 

acquisition costs amounted to € 450 k. The business was first consoli-

dated in the Wire & Cable Solutions division at the time of acquisi-

tion. Allocation of the purchase price resulted in goodwill amounting 

to € 225 k. The fair values of identifiable assets and liabilities were as 

follows on the date of acquisition:

€ ‘000

Recognised  

at acquisition

Carrying 

amount

Intangible assets 95 0

Property, plant and equipment 47 51

Inventories 83 93

Net assets 225 144

Goodwill 225

Acquisition costs 450

The business contributed sales of € 536 k and € 51 k to consolidated 

net income.

On 6 November 2008, LEONI purchased 100 percent of the shares 

in the Russian company Lik Avto based in Gorodets from the Russian 

automotive component supplier Itelma. The company produces 

cable harnesses for the Russian business of foreign car and light 

commercial vehicle manufacturers; currently for the Dacia Logan 

model of the Avtoframos company. The costs to acquire these shares 

amounted to € 2,725 k, which includes € 325 k in incidental acqui-

sition costs. In addition to these purchase costs, LEONI AG granted 

the acquired company a loan in the amount of € 7,700 k. The busi-

ness was first consolidated at the time of acquisition. The allocation 

of the purchase price resulted in goodwill in the amount of € 4,047 k 

arising, aside from the acquired work force and expected synergies, 

particularly as a premium for the access to the Russian market poten-

tial going beyond the acquired customer base. The overview below 

shows the fair values of identifiable assets and liabilities on the date 

of acquisition.

€ ‘000

Recognised  

at acquisition

Carrying 

amount

Intangible assets 749 0

Property, plant and equipment 1,973 1,973

Inventories 1,120 1,120

Trade receivables and other financial assets 1,423 1,423

Cash and cash equivalents 901 901

Other assets 1,432 1,432

7,598 6,849

Trade payables and other financial liabilities 598 598

Other liabilities 622 622

1,220 1,220

Net assets 6,378 5,629

Goodwill 4,047

Acquisition costs 10,425

The acquired company contributed € 1,430 k to consolidated sales 

and incurred a loss of € 446 k to the consolidated net income in the 

period under report. Had the acquisition taken place at the begin-

ning of the financial year, consolidated sales would have come to  

€ 2,914,624 k with consolidated net income amounting to € 3,248 k.

On 30 May 2008, LEONI purchased 50 percent of the shares in the 

Korean wiring systems manufacturer Daekyeung T&G Co. Ltd., which 

in turn holds 100 percent of the shares in three Chinese subsidiaries, 

as well as 50 percent of the shares in its affiliate DLS Co. Ltd.; both 

companies are based in Busan. Including a purchase price adjust-

ment of € 1,888 k made in August 2008 and further incidental acqui-

sition costs, the acquisition costs totalled € 24,342 k. Both companies 

are jointly controlled and have therefore been measured under the 

equity method since the date of acquisition. The at-equity result and 

thus the contribution to consolidated earnings came to € 1,915 k in 

the 2008 financial year. An agreement was reached with respect to 

the outstanding shares in both companies that these may, under 

certain conditions, be acquired up to 31 December 2012, but that 

they must on a debt-free basis be acquired at the latest on 1 January 

2013 for a price of probably 40,000 million Korean won, which corre-

sponds to about € 22.5 million.
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In August 2008, LEONI purchased the outstanding shares equating 

to 9.8 percent in FiberTech GmbH Special Optical Fiber Technologies, 

and in September 40 percent of the shares in Kerpen (Thailand) Co. 

Ltd. The acquisition costs for both transactions amounted to € 405 k 

and resulted in goodwill of € 18 k as well as negative goodwill of  

€ 66 k recognised in other operating income. Both companies be-

long to the Wire & Cable Solutions division. In October 2008, LEONI 

acquired the outstanding 10 percent of the shares in the Czech com-

pany neumatic cz. s.r.o., based in Turnov. The acquisition costs came 

to € 10 k, resulting in goodwill in the same amount.

The following overview shows acquisition costs incurred in the 

2008 financial year involving the acquired subsidiaries, joint ventures 

and minority interests as well as the related cash amounts: 

€ ‘000

2008

Cost

2008  

of which paid in cash Difference

Valeo Systèmes de Liaison

(renamed LEONI Wiring Systems France S.A.) 141,971 (47,725) 189,696

Robo-tec Machine Perception GmbH & Co.KG 450 450 0

Lik Avto 10,425 9,524 901

Payment of the amount outstanding to purchase Silitherm s.r.l. 0 3,600 (3,600)

Subsidiaries 152,846 (34,151) 186,997

Daekyeung T&G Co. Ltd. (incl. affiliate DLS Co. Ltd.) 24,342 24,342 0

Joint ventures 24,342 24,342 0

FiberTech GmbH Special Optical Fiber Technologies 385 385 0

Kerpen (Thailand) Co. Ltd. 20 20 0

neumatic cz s.r.o. 10 10 0

Minority interests 415 415 0

Total 177,603 (9,394) 186,997
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In the 2007 financial year:

On 2 July 2007, LEONI acquired 80 percent of the shares in the 

Italian special cables manufacturer Silitherm s.r.l. based in Monticelli 

d’Ongina (PC). The company specialises in developing, manufactur-

ing and selling silicone-based high temperature cables. It was first 

consolidated in the Wire & Cable Solutions division at the time of  

acquisition. The costs to acquire this 80 percent holding amounted  

to € 18,100 k including incidental acquisition costs amounting to  

€ 342 k. An option contract was concluded covering the outstanding 

20 percent of the shares in Silitherm s.r.l, which entitles LEONI to ac-

quire or the vendor to tender the outstanding 20 percent in 2010 at 

a purchase price of € 3,600 k. The obligation arising from this option 

contract was already required to be reported in the 2007 consoli- 

dated financial statements. Acquisition of the company therefore 

resulted in goodwill totalling € 8,992 k, due in particular to the pre-

mium incurred for access to the market for silicone-based high tem-

perature cables. The fair values of identifiable assets and liabilities 

were as follows on the date of acquisition:

 

€ ‘000

Recognised  

at acquisition

Carrying 

amount

Intangible assets 10,365 28

Property, plant and equipment 2,392 2,047

Inventories 3,167 3,167

Deferred taxes 0 148

Receivables 6,491 6,491

Cash and cash equivalents 4,492 4,492

Other assets 118 118

27,025 16,491

Deferred taxes 3,927 96

Pension provisions 464 464

Liabilities 9,926 9,926

14,317 10,486

Fair value of net assets 12,708 6,005

Goodwill 8,992

Acquisition costs 21,700

thereof acquistion costs of 80 % of the shares 18,100

thereof acquistion costs of call-put-option 3,600

In the 2007 financial year, Silitherm s.r.l contributed € 16,283k to 

consolidated sales and € 930 k to consolidated net income. Had the 

acquisition taken place at the beginning of the 2007 financial year, 

consolidated sales would have amounted to € 2,382,028k, with con-

solidated net income amounting to € 87,005 k.

On 8 August 2007, LEONI acquired the business operation of the 

Spanish company Furas S.A. based in Piera (Barcelona) in the context 

of an asset deal as well as its shares in the Moroccan subsidiary Furas 

Maroc SARL, thus giving the Group 100 of these shares. The activity 

of this cable manufacturer and assembler comprises developing, pro-

ducing and selling PVC-insulated, rubber-insulated and fabric-braided 

cables and cord sets as well as special cables for professional steam 

generators. It was first consolidated in the Wire & Cable Solutions 

division at the time of acquisition. The acquisition costs including 

the incidental acquisition costs of about € 373 k totalled € 6,325 k. 

Allocation of the purchase price resulted in goodwill amounting to 

€ 2,787 k, incurred mainly as a premium for access to the market for 

high-quality power cords. The fair values of identifiable assets and li-

abilities were as follows on the date of acquisition: 

€ ‘000

Recognised  

at acquisition

Carrying 

amount

Intangible assets 5,261 196

Property, plant and equipment 4,085 4,086

Inventories 5,590 5,330

Deferred taxes 51 51

Receivables 1,239 1,239

Cash and cash equivalents 14 14

Other assets 79 79

16,319 10,995

Provisions 143 0

Trade accounts payable 8,180 8,180

Other liabilities 4,458 4,458

12,781 12,638

Fair value of net assets 3,538 (1,643)

Goodwill 2,787

Acquisition costs 6,325

 

The acquired activity added € 12,057k to consolidated sales and in-

volved a negative amount of € 1,046k with respect to net income in 

the 2007 financial year. Had the acquisition taken place at the begin-

ning of the 2007 financial year, consolidated sales would have come to 

€ 2,390,733k, with consolidated net income amounting to € 85,527k. 
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On 20 June 2007, LEONI acquired the outstanding 50 percent of the 

shares in advintec GmbH based in Laatzen from its French joint ven-

ture partner Cimlec Industrie S.A. for a price of € 150 k. The joint ven-

ture, established in 2005, of the Wire & Cable Solutions division was 

previously accounted for by the equity method in the consolidated 

financial statements. Since acquisition of the outstanding shares, the 

company has been consolidated in full in LEONI‘s consolidated finan-

cial statements. Goodwill in the amount of € 93 k arose from initial 

consolidation at the time of acquisition. 

In addition, LEONI acquired, via LEONI NBG Fiber Optics GmbH 

based in Gmünd, Austria, the business operation of 2Test ApS based 

in Allerød, Denmark effective 1 July 2007. The acquisition enabled 

LEONI to sell fiber optics-based telecommunications and data net-

work solutions in the Scandinavian market. The acquisition costs 

amounted to € 703 k, with initial consolidation resulting in goodwill 

of € 390 k. 

The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of advintec 

GmbH and of the business operation of the Danish company 2Test 

ApS were as follows on the date of acquisition:

 

€ ‘000

Recognised  

at acquisition

Carrying 

amount

Intangible assets 173 0

Property, plant and equipment 5 5

Inventories 160 160

Deferred taxes 157 0

Receivables 650 650

Other assets 19 19

1,164 834

Provisions 28 28

Liabilities 709 709

737 737

Fair value of net assets 427 97

Revaluation due to the  

step acquisition of advintec GmbH (57)

Goodwill 483

Acquisition costs 853

Both companies belong to the Wire & Cable Solutions division and 

contributed € 1,013k to consolidated sales and involved a negative 

amount of € 58k with respect to consolidated net income in the 2007 

financial year. Had the two acquisitions taken place at the beginning 

of the 2007 financial year, consolidated sales would have come to  

€ 2,368,463k with consolidated net income amounting to € 86,348k.

On 23 November 2007, LEONI acquired 90.2 percent of the shares 

in FiberTech GmbH Special Optical Fiber Technologies based in Berlin, 

one of Europe’s leading providers of high-quality special glass fibers 

and complete fiber optic systems for laser beam transmission. These 

products are used, among other areas, in medical equipment as well 

as in industrial applications. The acquisition costs including incidental 

acquisition costs amounting to € 23 k totalled € 4,523 k. The company 

and its subsidiaries, BTO GmbH Fiber Technologies based in Wildau 

and FiberTech USA Inc. based in Arizona were first consolidated in the 

Wire & Cable Solutions division at the time of acquisition. Allocation 

of the purchase price resulted in goodwill amounting to € 1,259 k. 

The fair values of identifiable assets and liabilities were as follows on 

the date of acquisition:

€ ‘000

Recognised  

at acquisition

Carrying 

amount

Intangible assets 2,944 5

Property, plant and equipment 1,473 1,473

Shares in associated companies 240 8

Inventories 565 565

Deferred taxes 0 3

Receivables 781 781

Cash and cash equivalents 121 121

6,124 2,956

Deferred taxes 849 0

Other provisions and liabilities 1,656 1,656

2,505 1,656

Fair value of net assets 3,619 1,300

Goodwill 1,259

Minority interest (355)

Acquisition costs 4,523
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In the 2007 financial year, the acquisition contributed € 321 k to con-

solidated sales and involved a negative amount of € 48 k with re-

spect to consolidated net income. Had the acquisition taken place at 

the beginning of the 2007 financial year, consolidated sales would 

have come to € 2,370,917 k with consolidated net income amounting 

to € 86,698 k.

In the Wire & Cable Solutions division, minority interests were 

acquired in 3 fully consolidated subsidiaries in the 2007 financial 

year. Effective 1 January 2007, LEONI acquired a further 24 percent 

of the shares in Kerpen (S.E.A.) Pte. Ltd. based in Singapore at a price 

of € 1,105 k, with the Group thereby now holding 75 percent of the 

shares. Goodwill in the amount of € 503 k arose from the acquisition. 

On 12 July 2007, LEONI acquired the outstanding 20 percent of the 

shares in UK subsidiary LEONI Tailor-Made Cable UK Limited at a price 

of € 149 k, which resulted in goodwill amounting to € 44 k. On 20 

November 2007, LEONI acquired the outstanding 18 percent in LEONI 

Special Cables Iberica S.A. based in Barcelona for € 50 k, which result-

ed in goodwill of € 29 k.

In its Wiring Systems division, LEONI on 1 November 2007 acquired 

the still outstanding 25 percent of the shares in its fully consolidated 

Chinese subsidiary LEONI Wiring Systems (Changchun) Co. Ltd. for a 

price of € 1,034 k. This resulted in goodwill amounting to € 26 k.

On 1 January 2007, LEONI acquired 51 percent of the shares in 

Jena-based j-fiber GmbH. The purchase costs amounted to € 1,135 k. 

The company as well as its two subsidiaries, FiberCore Machinery Jena 

GmbH and j-plasma GmbH, both of which are based in Jena, have 

since then been accounted for by the equity method in the consoli-

dated financial statements as part of the Wire & Cable Solutions divi-

sion as they are jointly managed on a contractual basis. The company 

is one of Europe’s leading suppliers of optical glass fibers, which are 

used primarily in cables for corporate networks as well as in the tele-

communications industry. The j-fiber subsidiary j-plasma is focused 

on manufacturing what are known as special preforms (glass blocks), 

which are processed into glass fibers for sophisticated applications in 

medical and automation equipment, among others. 

The following overview shows acquisition costs incurred in the 

2007 financial year involving the acquired subsidiaries, joint ventures 

and minority interests as well as the related cash amounts:

€ ‘000

2007

Cost

2007  

of which paid in cash Difference

advintec GmbH 150 150 0

Furas S.A. 6,325 6,311 14

Silitherm s.r.l. 21,700 13,608 8,092

2TestApS 703 703 0

FiberTech GmbH 4,523 4,402 121

Subsidiaries 33,401 25,174 8,227

j-fiber GmbH 1,135 1,135 0

Joint ventures 1,135 1,135 0

Kerpen (S.E.A.) Pte. Ltd. 1,105 1,105 0

LEONI Tailor-Made Cable UK Limited 149 149 0

LEONI Special Cables Iberica S.A. 50 50 0

LEONI Wiring Systems (Changchun) 1,034 1,034 0

Minority interests 2,338 2,338 0

Total 36,874 28,647 8,227
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[ 6 ]   Other operating income and 
other operating expenses

The other operating income in the amount of € 11,033 k (previous 

year: € 9,865 k) includes government grants related to income of  

€ 4,797 k (previous year: € 248 k), attributable mainly to an export 

subsidy programme in Egypt. 

The other operating expenses include restructuring expenses 

amounting to € 7,410 k (previous year: € 6,286 k). Along with trans-

fers to restructuring provisions (cf. explanations in Note 22 in this 

regard), this involved mainly current expenses for employee termina-

tion payments. The expenses break down to € 2,172 k (previous year: 

€ 500 k) for the Wire & Cable Solutions division and € 5,238 k (previ-

ous year: € 5,786 k) for the Wiring Systems division. 

Notes to the  
consolidated income statement

The currency result belonging to the operating result amounted to 

a negative figure of € 5,469 k in the period under report and is in-

cluded in other operating expenses (previous year: other operating 

income of € 1,442 k). The exchange gains of € 8,483 k that were in 

the previous year presented under finance revenue were reclassi-

fied to other operating income due to the changed allocation of ex-

change gains or losses for reasons of comparability as explained in 

Note 2 on the topic of “Foreign currency translation”. The operating 

exchange losses of € 7,041 k that were in the previous year included 

in other operating expenses were also reclassified to and netted in 

other operating income so that the other operating income of the 

previous year includes an exchange gain of € 1,442 k. Due to these 

reclassifications the other operating expenses are € 7,041 k lower 

than presented in the previous year’s report while other operating 

income is € 1,442 k higher. The table below presents the reclassifica-

tion of the previous year’s figures in summarised form for reasons of 

comparability:

€ ‘000 12/31/2007 

before reclassification reclassification 

12/31/2007  

after reclassification

other operating income 8,423 1,442 9,865

 thereof exchange gains 0 1,442 1,442

other operating expenses (22,671) 7,041 (15,630)

 thereof exchange losses (7,041) 7,041 0

Finance revenue 10,631 (8,483) 2,148

 thereof exchange gains 8,483 (8,483) 0
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[ 8 ]   Income taxes

Taxes on income including deferred taxes break down as follows for 

fiscal 2008 and fiscal 2007:

€ ‘000 2008 2007

Current taxes 7,126 33,872

Deferred taxes 3,437 (3,560)

Income taxes 10,563 30,312

In the 2008 financial year, the Group recorded income taxes of  

€ 9,254 k (previous year: income tax expense of € 1,436 k) within  

accumulated other comprehensive income. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities should be measured at the  

tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is 

realised or the liability is settled. For the Group’s German companies, 

the deferred taxes on 31 December 2008 were calculated using a cor-

porate tax rate of 15 percent, unchanged from the previous year, for 

all temporary differences. Again included was a solidarity surcharge 

of 5.5 percent (previous year: 5.5 percent) on the corporate tax plus 

an average trade tax rate of 13.0 percent (previous year: 13.0 percent). 

Including the impact of the solidarity surcharge and the trade tax,  

the tax rate applied to calculate deferred taxes for German compa-

nies thus amounts to a combined 28.9 percent (previous year:  

28.9 percent).

For non-German companies the country-specific, respective tax 

rates have been used.

In the financial year, changes in foreign tax rates were recognised 

in the income statement in the amount of € 280 k and concerned 

Chinese subsidiaries whose tax status had changed. Changes in 

German tax rates needed to be considered only in the previous year 

due to the Corporation Tax Reform Act 2008 and resulted in deferred 

tax income of € 5,614 k. The change in foreign tax rates of the pre-

vious year concerned mainly a tax rate change in Switzerland, which 

resulted in deferred tax income in the 2007 financial year. The re-

conciliation below takes the impact of each of these tax rate changes 

into account.

[ 7 ]   Finance revenue and costs
 

€ ‘000 2008 2007

Interest income 1,717 2,148

Exchange gains 1,149 0

Finance revenue 2,866 2,148

€ ‘000 2008 2007

Interest expenses 37,736 22,379

Finance cost from pension obligations 2,302 1,015

Interest expense from measure-

ment of other provisions 1,339 734

Finance costs 41,377 24,128

The finance costs of € 37,736 k (previous year: € 22,379 k) include in-

terest expenses that were computed on the basis of the effective in-

terest method. The finance revenue includes interest income of  

€ 1,717 k (previous year: € 2,148 k) that was computed on the basis  

of the effective interest method. 
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The following table reconciles the statutory income tax expense to 

the effective income taxes presented in the financial statements for 

the respective financial year. For calculating the statutory income tax 

expense we multiplied the amount of pre-tax earnings by the com-

bined income tax rate of 15.8 percent (previous year: 26.4 percent) 

applicable to the financial year. The combined income tax rate in-

cludes the corporate tax rate of 15 percent (previous year: 25 percent) 

and the solidarity surcharge of 5.5 percent in each case.

  

2008 2007

€ ‘000 in % € ‘000 in %

Expected corporate tax expense  

incl. solidarity surcharge (2008: 15.8 %; 2007: 26.4 %) 2,494 15.8 30,735 26.4

German trade income taxes net of corporate tax benefit 806 5.1 2,792 2.4

Foreign tax rate differentials (963) (6.1) (4,929) (4.2)

Change in tax rate/tax law (280) (1.8) (8,076) (6.9)

Valuation allowances on deferred tax assets 13,489 85.6 488 0.4

Reversal of valuation allowances on deferred tax (1,104) (7.0) 0 0.0

Use of loss carryforwards for which no tax assets were recognised in the previous years (11,763) (74.6) (3,660) (3.1)

Non-deductible interest 5,815 36.9 0 0.0

Flat non-deductible operating expenses of 5 % on dividends 1,002 6.3 422 0.3

Other non-deductible operating expenses 4,557 28.9 2,060 1.7

Prior-period tax expense (3,290) (20.9) 10,444 9.0

Other (200) (1.2) 36 0.0

Effective income taxes/tax rate 10,563 67.0 30,312 26.0

The change in valuation allowances on deferred tax assets in the 

amount of € 13,489 k (previous year: € 488 k) involved write-downs 

on deferred tax assets recorded in the past and tax assets not de-

ferred during the financial year. The valuation allowances concern 

primarily deferred tax assets from loss carryforwards to the extent it 

is considered more likely than not that such benefits will be realised 

in future years. In determining the valuation allowance all factors 

including legal factors and information available were taken into ac-

count. Write-downs were applied in part because of the economic 

downturn looming in the fourth quarter of 2008, especially so in the 

automotive industry. In the past financial year, the Group generated 

tax benefit through the use of tax loss carryforwards, for which no 

deferred tax assets were recognised in previous year, in the amount 

of € 11,763 k (previous year: € 3,660 k). Furthermore, valuation allow-

ances in the amount of € 1,104 k (previous year: nil) were reversed in 

the income statement in the financial year. These reversals were on 

the one hand applied to the tax loss carryforwards of our Brazilian 

subsidiary whose earnings have improved on a sustained basis. 

Secondly, the merger of two subsidiaries in Italy will make loss carry-

forwards useable in the future.



116

The deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are derived from 

the different amounts recorded under the following balance sheet 

items:

 

LEONI AG Consolidated balance sheet LEONI AG Consolidated income statement

€ ‘000 2008 2007 2008 2007

Inventories 3,584 854 2,730 58

Accounts receivable and other assets 7,449 1,594 5,777 441

Property, plant and equipment 4,533 3,913 620 (1,933)

Intangible assets 3,132 3,924 (792) 426

Non-current financial assets 531 590 (59) 312

Tax loss carryforwards 39,826 23,012 14,224 (1,471)

Liabilities and provisions 25,381 11,517 8,038 (1,118)

Pension provisions 8,209 1,836 6,373 (1,239)

Total 92,645 47,240

Valuation allowance (28,342) (17,982) (12,385) (488)

Deferred tax assets 64,303 29,258

Inventories 8,915 10,641 1,760 3,686

Accounts receivable and other assets 7,989 8,004 15 (3,769)

Property, plant and equipment 28,589 20,786 (6,303) 2,815

Intangible assets 34,863 12,909 (10,911) 3,554

Non-current financial assets 4,547 3,275 (1,534) 185

Liabilities and provisions 13,359 5,266 (8,199) 2,730

Pension provisions 3,771 980 (2,791) (629)

Deferred tax liabilities 102,033 61,861

Deferred tax income/expense (3,437) 3,560

Net deferred tax income/expenses (37,730) (32,603)

The net amount of deferred tax assets and liabilities is derived as  

follows:

€ ‘000 2008 2007

Deferred tax assets 49,862 26,054

Valuation allowance (28,342) (17,982)

Net deferred tax assets 21,520 8,072

Deferred tax liabilities 59,250 40,675

Net deferred tax assets/tax liabilities (37,730) (32,603)

Deferred taxes on outside basis differences were not recognised be-

cause reversal of differences arising for example from dividend pay-

ments can be managed and no material tax effects are to be expected 

in the foreseeable future. Outside basis differences amounted to  

€ 184,349 k on 31 December 2008.

On the balance sheet date the Group had mainly foreign income 

tax but also German corporate tax loss carryforwards totalling  

€ 126,416 k, of which € 73,912 k may, based on legislation applicable 

on 31 December 2008, be carried forward indefinitely and in unlimited 
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amounts. In Germany, however, losses carried forward from the 2004 

tax-assessment year may be deducted from income without restric-

tion up to € 1,000 k only. Any remaining amount of income may be 

offset by loss carryforwards by up to 60 percent. The remaining tax 

loss carryforwards pertain exclusively to foreign subsidiaries will ex-

pire by 2021 at the latest if not utilised. 

The Group’s German trade tax loss carryforwards amounted to  

€ 10,554 k on the balance sheet date, all of which, based on legisla-

tion applicable on 31 December 2008, may be carried forward indefi-

nitely and in unlimited amounts. The options to offset against future 

income correspond to the corporate tax loss carryforwards. 

In the past financial year, German trade tax loss carryforwards in 

the amount of € 509 k (previous year: € 19,805 k) were utilised, while, 

as the previous year, no corporate tax loss carryforwards were used. 

Foreign income tax loss carryforwards amounting to € 44,366 k (pre-

vious year: € 9,537 k) and no foreign trade tax loss carryforwards for 

allowable income taxes (previous year: € 1,931 k) were utilised. 

 

[ 9 ]   Accounts receivable and 
other financial assets 

 

€ ‘000 2008 2007

Trade receivables 327,449 269,860

Trade receivables from development contracts 44,360 19,725

Accounts receivable from  

associated companies and joint ventures 4,764 4,373

Other financial assets 10,932 10,107

387,505 304,065

Acquired receivables relating to future acquisition 0 136,500

387,505 440,565

In the previous year, the acquired receivables relating to future ac-

quisition amounting to € 136,500 k involved the wiring systems busi-

ness of Valeo taken over on 2 January 2008, namely Valeo Connective 

Systems. In addition to prepayment of the purchase price in the 

amount of € 145,400 k, the Company on 31 December 2007 acquired 

the loan receivables from the subsidiary of the vendor, Valeo, ac-

quired on 2 January 2008 (cf. Note 5). 

Trade receivables are non-interest bearing. On the balance sheet 

date, trade receivables were reduced by factoring amounting to  

€ 60,964 k (previous year: € 69,984 k). Expenses still to be incurred in 

connection with factoring are of minor significance. 

The trade receivables from development contracts involve cus-

tomer-specific development contracts accounted for in accordance 

with IAS 11. The sales for the financial year include revenue amounting 

to € 22,741 k (previous year: €14,782 k) from such development con-

tracts. The expenses recognised correspond to the sales. 

Notes to the balance sheet
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The allowances for trade receivables were as follows: 

€ ‘000 2008 2007

Allowance as of 1 January 8,104 10,179

Additions due to changes in 

scope of consolidation 3,892 387

Currency translation adjustments (256) (240)

Additions (allowances recognised as expense) 2,834 1,740

Usage (3,572) (2,479)

Reversal (1,265) (1,483)

Allowance as of 31 December 9,737 8,104

 

The table below shows non-current and current financial receivables 

that, on the balance sheet date, were neither impaired nor overdue as 

well as overdue receivables that are not impaired:

 

€ ‘000

Carrying 

amount

of which:  

neither impaired 

nor passed 

due on the 

reporting date

of which:  

not impaired on the reporting date and passed due in the following periods

Less  

than 30 days

Between 30 

 and 60 days

Between 61 

and 90 days

Between 91 

and 180 days

Between 181 

and 360 days

More than 

360 days

12/31/2008

Trade receivables 327,449 237,634 34,209 6,286 1,590 5,021 10,285 2,083

Trade receivables from  

development contracts 44,360 44,360 0 0 0 0 0 0

Other financial receivables 16,063 13,240 0 15 7 7 6 2

12/31/2007

Trade receivables 269,860 202,764 28,976 5,398 3,412 3,421 3,092 520

Trade receivables from  

development contracts 19,725 19,725 0 0 0 0 0 0

Acquired receivables related 

to an impending purchase 136,500 136,500 0 0 0 0 0 0

Other financial receivables 12,870 11,906 51 0 0 0 0 0
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The carrying amount of impaired receivables is € 33,127 k (previous 

year: € 23,190 k). 

The maximum risk of loan default corresponds to the carrying 

amount of the receivables. There were not, with respect to the nei-

ther impaired receivables nor the overdue receivables, any signs on 

the reporting date that the debtors will fail to make payment. 

Receivables were covered by Hermes credit insurance in the 

amount of € 84,423 k (previous year: € 73,224 k). 

[ 10 ]   Other assets 
 

 € ‘000 2008 2007

Advanced payment 2,735 2,931

Receivables for VAT 28,452 24,844

Receivables for other taxes 2,596 2,145

Other assets 5,062 4,160

Prepaid expenses 9,707 4,097

48,552 38,177

[ 11 ]   Assets held for sale

The assets reported as held for sale in the previous year involved land 

and buildings in the Wiring Systems division, which were disposed 

of in the 2008 financial year. Realisation of the sale provided income 

of € 200 k.

[ 12 ]   Inventories
 

€ ‘000 2008 2007

Raw materials and manufacturing supplies 145,882 135,653

Work in progress 57,643 64,940

Finished products and merchandise 143,779 143,492

347,304 344,085

The amount of impairment of inventories, recognised as expense, is 

€ 25,426 k (previous year: € 9,333 k). This expense is included in the 

cost of sales. The large write-down on inventory was necessary due 

mainly to the slump in the price of copper. 

The inventory recognised as expense in the cost of sales (inven-

tory used) in the financial year amounted to € 1,767,181 k (previous 

year: € 1,434,792 k).

The carrying amount includes inventories in the amount of  

€ 45,722 k (previous year: € 25,240 k) that were measured at net  

realisable value.
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 [ 13 ]   Property, plant and equipment
 

€ ‘000

Land,

leasehold rights

and buildings

Technical equipment, 

plant and machinery

Other equipment, 

factory and 

other equipment

Advance payments 

and assets under

construction Total

Net book value on 1 January 2007 166,034 158,554 42,470 30,022 397,080

Acquisition costs on 1 January 2007 248,755 438,650 136,104 30,226 853,735

Currency differences (951) (4,366) (700) (499) (6,516)

Additions 10,414 23,058 16,958 34,904 85,334

Add. due to changes in scope of consolidation 953 6,594 364 46 7,957

Re-classification of assets held for sale 513 0 0 0 513

Disposals 26,235 25,717 12,090 106 64,148

Transfers 7,304 25,714 4,238 (37,256) 0

31 December 2007 240,753 463,933 144,874 27,315 876,875

Accumulated depreciation on 1 January 2007 82,721 280,096 93,634 204 456,655

Currency differences (363) (2,897) (353) 3 (3,610)

Additions 8,019 40,315 15,045 (22) 63,357

Add. due to changes in scope of consolidation 0 0 0 0 0

Re-classification of assets held for sale 0 0 0 0 0

Disposals 18,750 24,098 11,556 56 54,460

Transfers 0 0 0 0 0

31 December 2007 71,627 293,416 96,770 129 461,942

Net book value on 31 December 2007 169,126 170,517 48,104 27,186 414,933

Acquisition costs on 1 January 2008 240,753 463,933 144,874 27,315 876,875

Currency differences 5,841 (590) 2,142 727 8,120

Additions 5,092 44,727 18,203 77,832 145,854

Add. due to changes in scope of consolidation 30,227 54,761 4,933 2,673 92,594

Disposals 1,000 10,980 8,449 557 20,986

Disposals due to changes in 

scope of consolidation 519 425 289 15 1,248

Transfers 12,570 24,121 4,007 (40,698) 0

31 December 2008 292,964 575,547 165,421 67,277 1,101,209

Accumulated depreciation on 1 January 2008 71,627 293,416 96,770 129 461,942

Currency differences 690 (3,567) 1,390 (9) (1,496)

Additions 11,136 57,753 18,104 0 86,993

Add. due to changes in scope of consolidation 0 0 0 0 0

Disposals 726 10,135 7,384 79 18,324

Disposals due to changes in 

scope of consolidation 519 486 243 0 1,248

Transfers 0 0 0 0 0

31 December 2008 82,208 336,981 108,637 41 527,867

Net book value on 31 December 2008 210,756 238,566 56,784 67,236 573,342
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The land and buildings classified as held for sale in the previous year 

are included in the previous year’s disposals at a net carrying amount 

of € 5,878 k. They were in the previous year recognised under other 

current assets. 

Interest amounting to € 286 k (previous year: € 439 k) was capi-

talised in the financial year. The underlying interest rates conform to 

the local circumstances of the respective country.

Government grants amounting to € 2,865 k (previous year:  

€ 698 k) to spend on property, plant and equipment were deducted 

from costs in the 2008 financial year. The funds received amounted to 

30 percent of the cost to purchase the subsidised assets. There is an 

obligation to tie the funds for 5 years with respect to purpose of the 

grant and to create 30 jobs for this period.

Property, plant and equipment was subjected to an impairment 

test in the fourth quarter of 2008 because of the deterioration of 

earnings projections associated with the financial market crisis and 

the looming economic slump. These assets were tested based on 

their value in use by applying the discounted cash flow method. As 

specific cash flows generated largely independently from other assets 

or groups of assets cannot be allocated to the individual assets, they 

are tested for impairment based on the smallest, overriding cash-

generating unit of assets. The explanations in Note 15 with respect 

to the method and the underlying planning assumptions relating to 

goodwill impairment testing apply similarly. The pre-tax discount 

rates applied ranged from 6.31 percent to 9.26 percent.

The impairment test did not result in any need for write-down. 

As in the previous year, there was consequently no impairment ap-

plied to property, plant and equipment in the 2008 financial year.

The Group’s management holds the view that in Wire & Cable 

Solutions division, by prudent judgment, any fundamentally possi-

ble change to basic assumptions for determining the value in use of 

the cash-generating units would not lead to the carrying amounts of 

the cash-generating units exceeding their recoverable amount. One 

cash-generating unit in the High Temperature Cables business and 

one cash-generating unit in the Cable Assemblies business constitute 

the exception in this respect. In both units, worsening particularly of 

earnings projections and the resulting cash flow forecasts could re-

sult in need to write down on property, plant and equipment in the 

2009 financial year. Based on the assumptions made, the value in use 

at the cash-generating unit in the High Temperature Cables business 

exceeds the carrying amount of € 9.0 million by € 3.1 million. From 

an increase in the discount rate by one percentage point the value in 

use would, all other parameters being equal, be below the carrying 

amount. In the case of the Cable Assemblies cash-generating unit, 

the value in use exceeds the carrying amount of € 16.7 million by  

€ 23.2 million. An increase in the discount rate by more than the  

8.5 percentage points would, all other parameters being equal, take 

the value in use below the carrying amount.

In the Wiring Systems division, there could be need for write-

downs in almost all the business units acquired during the financial 

year, thus within the LWSF Group and at Lik Avto, as a result of the 

further worsening of earnings and the consequent forecasts as well 

as due to an increase in the underlying discount rates. The values in 

use at these cash-generating units are between € 4.6 and 41.1 mil-

lion above the carrying amounts of between € 22.5 and 222.0 million. 

From an increase in the discount rates by between 0.58 and 1.79 per-

centage points the values in use would, all other parameters being 

equal, be below their respective carrying amounts. For the remaining 

cash-generating units of the Wiring Systems division that were not ac-

quired in the 2008 financial year, the Group’s management holds the 

view that, with the exception on one cash-generating unit, there is 

not, by prudent judgment, any fundamentally possible change to ba-

sic assumptions for determining the value in use that could lead to an 

impairment charge. An increase in the discount rate by 1.77 percent-

age points would in the case of this cash-generating unit result, all 

other parameters being equal, its value in use of € 51.3 million drop-

ping below the carrying amount of € 38.1 million.

There was no appreciation either in this financial year or in the 

previous year.
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[ 14 ]   Intangible Assets 
 

€ ‘000

Trademarks,  

similar rights, 

software and others

Customer relation-

ships & order backlog Development costs

Advance

payments Total

Net book value on 1 January 2007 16,111 3,613 6,300 663 26,687

Acquisition costs on 1 January 2007 40,452 4,767 8,766 663 54,648

Currency differences (513) (58) (727) (22) (1,320)

Additions 5,381 0 534 2,452 8,367

Additions due to changes in 

scope of consolidation 10,094 8,646 0 0 18,740

Disposals 1,279 0 0 0 1,279

Transfers 518 0 297 (815) 0

31 December 2007 54,653 13,355 8,870 2,278 79,156

Accumulated amortisation on 1 January 2007 24,341 1,154 2,466 0 27,961

Currency differences (142) (5) (313) 0 (460)

Additions 5,723 1,976 1,615 0 9,314

Add. due to changes in scope of consolidation 0 0 0 0 0

Disposals 1,259 0 0 0 1,259

Transfers 0 0 0 0 0

31 December 2007 28,663 3,125 3,768 0 35,556

Net book value on 31 December 2007 25,990 10,230 5,102 2,278 43,600

Acquisition costs on 1 January 2008 54,653 13,355 8,870 2,278 79,156

Currency differences (360) 96 (1,636) 30 (1,870)

Additions 8,076 0 125 4,380 12,581

Add. due to changes in scope of consolidation 1,997 79,071 0 0 81,068

Disposals 1,009 911 0 150 2,070

Disposals due to changes in 

scope of consolidation 6 0 0 0 6

Transfers 1,355 0 649 (2,004) 0

31 December 2008 64,706 91,611 8,008 4,534 168,859

Accumulated amortisation on 1 January 2008 28,663 3,125 3,768 0 35,556

Currency differences (531) 89 (1,043) 0 (1,485)

Additions 7,187 14,249 1,353 0 22,789

Add. due to changes in scope of consolidation 0 0 0 0 0

Disposals 885 911 0 0 1,796

Disposals due to changes in 

scope of consolidation 6 0 0 0 6

Transfers 0 0 0 0 0

31 December 2008 34,428 16,552 4,078 0 55,058

Net book value on 31 December 2008 30,278 75,059 3,930 4,534 113,801
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The item trademarks and similar rights, software and other includes 

mainly technology as well as non-patented production know-how 

acquired in the context of business combinations. The residual value 

of the technology and the production know-how amounts to  

€ 10,217 k; the average residual useful life is 11 years. Also included 

are brands acquired in the context of business combinations in the 

amount of € 2,311 k, which are classified as intangible assets with 

an indefinite useful life as there is no foreseeable limit to the use of 

these brands. Impairment testing of these assets found no need for 

write-downs. The tests based the recoverable amount on the value in 

use. The explanations in Note 15 on goodwill impairment testing ap-

ply similarly. 

The contractual and non-contractual business relationships ob-

tained in the context of business acquisitions under the item custom-

er relationships and order backlog have a residual value of € 74,459 k 

(previous year: €10,293 k), the average residual useful life of which is 

8 years.

Like the procedure with property, plant and equipment, this in-

tangible asset with a finite useful life was also subjected to an impair-

ment test in the fourth quarter of 2008 because of the worsening of 

earnings projections associated with the financial market crisis and 

the looming economic slump. This involved these intangible assets 

being tested on the basis of the value in use of the cash-generating 

unit to which it was allocated and applying the discounted cash flow 

method. The explanations in Note 15 with respect to the method 

and the underlying planning assumptions relating to goodwill im-

pairment testing apply similarly. The pre-tax discount rates applied 

ranged from 6.31 percent to 9.26 percent.

The impairment test did not result in any need for write-down. 

Management’s assessment concerning the need to write down 

intangible assets due to fundamentally possible changes to basic as-

sumptions for determining the value in use of the cash-generating 

units is in line with that made in relation to testing property, plant 

and equipment for impairment under Note 13. 

Amortisation of intangible assets with a finite useful life is included in 

the cost of sales in the amount of € 16,761 k (previous year:  

€ 5,046 k), in selling expenses in the amount of € 3,388 k (previous 

year: € 719 k), in general and administrative expenses in the amount 

of € 1,238 k (previous year: € 2,115 k) as well as in research and devel-

opment costs in the amount of € 1,402 k (previous year: € 1,434 k). 

[ 15 ]   Goodwill

Goodwill in the financial year is summarised as follows:
 

€ ‘000 2008 2007

Acquisition costs on 1 January 84,091 70,573

Accumulated allowance 5,142 5,142

Carrying amount 1 January 78,949 65,431

Additions 71,776 14,123

Currency translation differences + 1,555 (605)

Acquisition costs on 31 December 71,776 84,091

Accumulated allowance 31 December 5,142 5,142

Carrying amount 31 December 152,280 78,949

The additions pertain to the subsidiaries acquired during the financial 

year (cf. Note 5) in the amount of € 71,748 k and to goodwill in the 

amount of € 28 k arising from purchase of the minority interests. 

The goodwill shown on 31 December 2008 breaks down to  

€ 79,520 k (previous year: € 76,937 k) for the Wire & Cable Solutions 

division and € 72,760 k (previous year: € 2,012 k) for the Wiring 

Systems division.   

For the purpose of the impairment test, all goodwill was allo- 

cated to the cash-generating units or groups of cash-generating 

units that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the business 

combination. The principal allocations were as follows:

goodwill in the amounts of € 13.2 million (previous year:  

€ 13.2 million), € 10.1 million (previous year: € 7.5 million) and  

€ 7.0 million (previous year: € 7.0 million) to three cash-generating 

units in the Special Cables business as well as in the amount of  
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€ 4.1 million (previous year: € 4.1 million) to a cash-generating unit in 

the Automotive and Standard Cables business and in the amount of  

€ 21.9 million (previous year: € 20.9 million) to the Hard business unit, 

which covers sterilisation and physical networking of industrial prod-

ucts. Furthermore, goodwill was allocated to a cash-generating unit 

in the High Temperature Cables business in the amount of € 9 million 

(previous year: € 9 million) and to a cash-generating unit in the Cable 

Assemblies business in the amount of € 2.8 million (previous year:  

€ 2.8 million).

The goodwill arising from acquisition of the LWSF Group in the 

amount of € 67.5 million on 2 January 2008 was allocated to the 

Wiring Systems division for the purpose of impairment testing based 

on realisable synergistic benefits. The goodwill arising from the pur-

chase in November 2008 of the Russian company Lik Avto in the 

amount of € 4 million was allocated to a business unit in the Wiring 

Systems division that is to draw the benefit of the synergies from this 

business combination. 

In all the goodwill impairment tests, determination of the recov-

erable amount was based on the value in use. The underlying cash 

flow forecasts are in each case based on the five-year business plan-

ning as approved by the Management Board. The cash flow planning 

is as a matter of principle on a bottom-up basis from the individual 

planning of the operating units. For the tests for impairment of 

goodwill that must be carried out annually as at 31 October, the un-

derlying business planning was adjusted to the latest information in 

the fourth quarter of 2008 due to the worsening of earnings projec-

tions associated with the financial market crisis and the looming eco-

nomic slump. The planning is based among other things on the unit 

sales announced by the carmakers. Furthermore, it takes into account 

price agreements based on experience and anticipated efficiency en-

hancements as well as a sales trend based on the strategic outlook. 

Cash flows after the five-year period were in each case extrapolated 

by applying a zero growth rate. The pre-tax discount rates applied 

ranged from 6.31 percent to 9.07 percent (previous year:  

9.3 percent to 11.5 percent).

The test for impairment of goodwill found no need for write-

down. 

The Group’s management holds the view that in Wiring Systems  

division, by prudent judgment, any fundamentally possible change 

to basic assumptions for determining the value in use of the cash-

generating units would not lead to the carrying amounts of the cash-

generating units exceeding their recoverable amount. The recently 

acquired Russian company Lik Avto constitutes an exception. Any 

worsening of earnings forecasts as well as an increase in the discount 

rate applied would result in need for write-down. The value in use 

exceeds the carrying amount of € 140.9 million by € 12.2 million. An 

increase in the discount rate by more than 0.58 of a percentage point 

would, all other parameters being equal, take the value in use below 

the carrying amount.

With respect to goodwill in the Wire & Cable Solutions division, 

management also holds the view that, by prudent judgment, any 

possible change to basic assumptions for determining the value in 

use could not result in having to record any impairment charges in 

the next financial year – with the exception of the goodwill that was 

allocated to a cash-generating unit in the Cable Assemblies business. 

In particular, any worsening of earnings prospects respectively in ex-

pected net cash flows could result in need for write-down. The value 

in use exceeds the carrying amount of € 16.7 million by € 23.2 million. 

An increase in the discount rate by more than 8.5 percentage points 

would, all other parameters being equal, take the value in use below 

the carrying amount. 

[ 16 ]   Shares in associated  
companies and joint ventures

The carrying amount of investments in associated companies and 

joint ventures is € 25,762 k (previous year: € 1,715 k). The increase was 

due to the acquisition of 50 percent of the shares in the Korean wiring 

systems manufacturer Daekyeung T&G Co. Ltd., which in turn holds 

100 percent of the shares in three Chinese subsidiaries, as well as  

50 percent of the shares in its affiliate DLS Co. Ltd.; both companies 

are based in Busan.
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The income and expenses from associated companies and joint ven-

tures break down as follows: 

 

€ ‘000 2008 2007

Income from associated  

companies and joint ventures 2,092 255

Expenses from associated  

companies and joint ventures (6) (809)

2,086 (554)

The following overview shows the 100 percent values for the assets 

and liabilities as well as the income, expenses and annual earnings of 

the associated companies and joint ventures:

   

€ ‘000 2008 2007

Current assets 42,121 11,816

Non-current assets 20,294 2,386

Current liabilities 38,646 11,557

Non-current liabilities 4,733 1,227

Equity 19,036 1,418

Total assets 62,415 14,202

Sales 71,728 22,715

Other income 6,301 1,823

Expenses 73,841 25,581

Net income 4,188 (1,043)

On 31 December 2008, the joint ventures had purchase order commit-

ments amounting to € 1,467 k and lease payment obligation amount-

ing to € 5,455 k. € 748 k and € 2,773 k of these respective amounts ap-

ply to LEONI in line with its shareholdings in these joint ventures.

 

[ 17 ] Other non-current financial assets

The other non-current financial assets amounting to € 7,403 k (previ-

ous year: € 9,760 k) comprise investments classified as available for 

sale securities. They are measured at their fair value on the balance 

sheet date in the amount of € 6,247 k (previous year: € 8,410 k). The 

fair value corresponds to the market value of the shares. Measurement 

at fair value resulted in loss in the financial year amounting to  

€ 2,162 k (previous year: € 40 k recognised in other comprehen-

sive income), which was recognised in the income statement in the 

amount of € 1,893 k. The residual amount of € 269 k was derecog-

nised as other comprehensive income. Securities in an amount of  

€ 1,156 k (previous year: € 1,350 k) are valued at cost because there is 

no quoted price in an active market and the fair value cannot be reli-

ably measured. The disposal of one investment valued at cost in the 

amount of € 197 k resulted in income of € 122 k. 

Loans granted to joint ventures are included with the amount of 

€ 425 k (previous year: € 321 k). In addition, the item includes loans 

to third parties amounting to € 2,614 k (previous year: € 1,869 k). 

 [ 18 ]   Other (non-current) assets

This item comprises mainly the prepaid pension cost amounting  

to € 9,290 k (previous year: € 10,753 k).

 [ 19 ] Financial debts

The financial debts comprise bonds, liabilities to banks, notes pay-

able and other loan obligations. They total € 666,897 k (previous 

year: € 511,883 k), of which € 574,693 k (previous year: € 296,882 k)  

is non-current. 

In the 2008 financial year LEONI AG issued two fixed income and 

two variable interest borrower’s note loans (Schuldscheindarlehen) 

dated 18 March 2008 in a total nominal amount of € 250 million. 

The two fixed-interest borrower’s note loans were concluded in 

an amount of € 24 million with a term of 5 years and in an amount 

of € 26.5 million with a term of 7 years. One variable-interest bor-

rower’s note loan has a nominal volume of € 136 million and a term 

of 5 years. The second variable-interest borrower’s note loan with a 

nominal volume of € 63.5 million has a term of 7 years. Derivative fi-

nancial instruments, namely an interest rate swap and three collars 

that all meet the conditions for cash flow hedge accounting and had 

a negative fair value of € 6,129 k on 31 December 2008, were entered 

into to limit the risk relating to the variable interest.
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All four borrower’s note loans were paid out at a rate of 99.55 per-

cent, meaning that the Group took in € 248,875 k. They do not serve 

as collateral and must be repaid in full upon respective maturity. 

As in the previous year, the financial debts include a bond issued 

by LEONI AG in July 2006 in the nominal amount of € 200 million. The 

bond matures in July 2013.

 

 [ 20 ] Trade payables and other 
financial liabilities

€ ‘000 2008 2007

Trade liabilities 369,654 249,679

Liabilities to associated companies 

and joint ventures 1,438 1,747

Other liabilities 73,416 64,984

444,508 316,410

Other liabilities include liabilities amounting to € 35,688 k  

(previous year: € 49.092 k) from the receipt of payment on  

receivables that were sold within factoring agreements. 

[ 21 ]   Other current liabilities 

€ ‘000 2008 2007

Liabilities to employees 36,945 28,701

Tax liabilities 14,040 17,050

Liabilities connected with social security 12,465 7,038

Other liabilities 14,453 16,507

Advance payments received 982 622

Deferred income 674 127

79,559 70,045

 

[ 22 ]   Provisions 

The changes in provisions are summarised as follows: 

 

in € ‘000

01/01/

2008

Addition 

to scope of 

consolidated 

financial 

statements Usage Dissolution Allocation

Allocation 

of interest

Currency 

differences

12/31/ 

2008

current  

provisions 

2008

non-

current 

provisions 

2008

current  

provisions 

2007

non-

current 

provisions 

2007

Personnel-related 

provisions 17,326 3,208 4,014 989 2,023 1,020 54 18,628 1,471 17,157 930 16,396

Provisions for 

product warranties 6,908 300 1,515 1,188 2,706 26 185 7,422 7,422 0 6,908 0

Other provisions 

for purchasing 

and distribution 2,830 3,975 3,230 581 2,941 0 54 5,989 5,791 198 2,684 146

Restructuring 

provisions 6,440 14,513 8,340 434 4,301 291 (297) 16,474 9,727 6,747 5,716 724

Other provisions 1,616 3,170 1,540 609 1,176 6 (24) 3,795 3,069 726 1,002 614

Total 35,120 25,166 18,639 3,801 13,147 1,343 (28) 52,308 27,480 24,828 17,240 17,880
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The personnel-related provisions involve mainly long-term provision 

for partial retirement agreements in Germany in the amount of  

€ 10,726 k (previous year: € 11,820 k) and provision for anniversary 

bonuses in the amount of € 5,346 k (previous year: € 3,976 k). The pro-

vision for anniversary bonuses is paid out according to the age struc-

ture of the workforce upon the employees’ respective anniversaries 

of service. Based on the current workforce, payments will mostly be-

come due in the next 22 years. The payments relating to provision for 

partial retirement will probably be spread over the next 6 years.

The product warranties are determined on the basis of past expe-

rience, with goodwill concessions also taken into account. 

There are also provisions for purchasing and distribution to cover 

onerous contracts. 

The restructuring provisions amounting to € 16,474 k (previous 

year: € 6,440 k) involve mainly severance costs in the Wiring Systems 

division at its facilities in Italy, Poland and Lilienthal, Germany. In the 

Wire & Cable Solutions division, this involves termination payments in 

Belgium and Germany. The non-current proportion of the restructur-

ing provisions involves mostly severance costs in Italy in the Wiring 

Systems division, payment of which stretches into the year 2013. Use 

of restructuring provisions comprises the amounts set aside in the 

previous year for termination payments at the Belgian facility of the 

Wire & Cable Solutions division and, in the Wiring Systems division, at 

the facilities in Lilienthal, Germany as well as in Hungary and France. 

In addition, they concern payment for a lease in England that was 

no longer required. The majority of the additions concern the Wiring 

Systems division, and here involve mainly termination payments in 

Poland. In the Wire & Cable Solutions division, this involves amounts 

set aside for termination payments in Germany.

[ 23 ]   Pension provisions

A number of different pension plans exist in Germany. The former 

pension trust of Leonische Drahtwerke AG, which covered all employ-

ees, was closed to people joining the Company after 31 December 

1981. The benefits of the pension trust were also divided. The pension 

trust is only used to pay current pension benefits to former benefi-

ciaries whereas future beneficiaries are subject to a defined benefit 

plan. The pension benefit payments are based upon years of service 

and the salary of the last year of employment. 

Pension obligations of acquired German companies are gener-

ally based on eligible compensation levels and/or ranking within the 

Company hierarchy and years of service, or on a fixed amount per 

year of service. All defined pension plans of acquired companies are 

closed. 

In Germany, LEONI grants defined benefits to most employees 

for the deferral of compensation. Amounts of deferred compensation 

earn interest at a rate of approx. six percent per year. These benefits 

are covered by capital insurance. The reinsurance policies are qualify-

ing insurance policies and are therefore recognised as plan assets.

In the United Kingdom, there exists a funded defined benefit 

plan for all employees of the company. Pension benefit payments are 

based upon the salary of the last year of employment as well as years 

of service and contributions of the employees to the plan. 

In Switzerland there is a statutory obligation to provide employ-

ees with pension insurance, which, along with retirement benefit, 

covers the risks of death and invalidity for the employees of the Swiss 

company to be insured. This involves a defined benefit plan handled 

by the pension trust of Studer Draht- und Kabelwerk AG. The retire-

ment benefit is determined upon retirement depending on credit bal-

ances in nominal savings accounts (old-age credit). 

In France there are defined benefit plans in accordance with the 

country’s legal requirements and other agreements. The collective 

agreement of the French metal-working trade union determines the 

size of the benefit. It is linked to monthly wages and salaries and de-

pends on years of service. 

At the Italian subsidiaries there are pension plans in accordance 

with the local legal requirements. These must be qualified as defined 

benefit plans pursuant to IAS 19 and were presented accordingly. 
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The development of the pension obligations and related plan assets is 

summarised as follows: 

 

Change in defined benefit obligations  € ‘000 2008 2007

Defined benefit obligations 

at the beginning of the fiscal year 192,492 214,936

Current service cost 3,450 3,985

Interest cost 10,192 9,475

Contributions by plan participants 3,267 2,976

Actuarial (gains) losses (18,461) (21,059)

Currency differences (18,739) (11,542)

Plan amendments/past service cost 906 707

Business combinations 11,630 464

Transfers under Swiss Law 1,519 2,067

Benefits paid (12,134) (9,517)

Defined benefit obligation 

at the end of the fiscal year 174,122 192,492

Change in plan assets  € ‘000 2008 2007

Fair value of plan assets 

at the beginning of fiscal year 145,884 151,943

Expected return on plan assets 7,890 8,460

Actuarial gains/(losses) (28,929) (5,523)

Currency differences (16,223) (10,357)

Contributions by the employer 4,453 4,380

Contributions by plan participants 3,267 2, 976

Transfers under Swiss Law 1,519 2,067

Benefits paid (8,177) (8,062)

Fair value of plan assets

at the end of the fiscal year 109,684 145,884

 

The transfers under Swiss law concern transferred obligations and the 

related plan assets upon change of employment and similar require-

ments under legislation specific to the country.

Actual return on plan assets came to negative amount of  

€ 21,039 k in the financial year (previous year: income of € 2,937 k).

The tables below show the funded status that is the difference be-

tween the defined benefit obligation and the plan assets at the end 

of the year, and the recorded amounts in the balance sheet:

 

Funded status  € ‘000 2008 2007

Funded status 

at the end of the fiscal year (64,438)  (46,608)

Unrecognised actuarial (gains)/losses 23,201 18,986

Net amount recognised (41,237) (27,622)

Breakdown of the amount  

carried in the balance sheet  € ‘000 2008 2007

Prepaid benefit cost 9,290 10,753

Pension provision (50,527) (38,375)

Net amount recognised (41,237) (27,622)

 

The prepaid benefit costs refer to the pension assets surplus to the 

obligations in England, whereas the amount shown as pension provi-

sion refers to obligations in Germany, Switzerland, France and Italy as 

well as including termination provisions in Austria. 

The defined benefit obligation at the end of the financial year 

breaks down into € 134,318 k (previous year: € 161,021 k) in funded 

obligations and € 39,804 k (previous year: € 31,471 k) in unfunded ob-

ligations.

The assumptions for interest rates, rates of compensation in-

crease and the expected return on plan assets on which the calcula-

tion for defined benefit obligations is based were established for each 

country as a function of their respective economic conditions. The 

Group applied the following weighted average assumptions: 

Weighted average assumptions 2008 2007

Discount rate 5.48 % 5.33 %

Rate of wage and salary increase 2.41 % 2.73 %

Rate of compensation increase 1.64 % 2.23 %

Rate of employee turnover 3.90 % 4.20 %
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The (weighted average) assumptions made for calculating net peri-

odic pension cost are shown in the table below.

    

Weighted average assumptions 2009 2008

Discount rate 5.48 % 5.33 %

Expected return on plan assets 5.41 % 6.09 %

Rate of wage and salary increase 2.41 % 2.73 %

Rate of compensation increase 1.64 % 2.23 %

Rate of employee turnover 3.90 % 4.20 %

The assumptions relating to the expected return on plan assets are 

based on detailed analyses taking into account both the actual past 

returns on long-term investment and the projected long-term returns 

on the target portfolio.

The assumed mortality is based on published statistics and his-

torical data in the respective countries. The valuation of pension ob-

ligation in Germany was based on the “Heubeck-Richttafeln 2005 G” 

mortality tables. 

The total expense for the defined benefit plans was as follows:

€ ‘000 2008 2007

Current service cost 3,450 3,985

Interest cost 10,192 9,475

Expected return on plan assets (7,890) (8,460)

Amortisation of past service cost 906 707

Amortisation of actuarial (gains)/losses 561 1,343

Loss on settlements 163 0

Total expense from defined benefit obligations 7,382 7,050

     

The total expense is recognised in the income statement in the fol-

lowing items: 

 

€ ‘000 2008 2007

Cost of sales 2,392 2,543

General administration expenses 1,361 1,856

Selling expenses 694 689

Research and development expenses 633 947

Finance costs 2,302 1,015

Total expense from  

defined benefit obligations 7,382 7,050

     

The interest costs as well as the expected return on plan assets are 

presented under finance costs.  

The plan assets comprise the assets of the defined contribution 

plan in England, of the pension foundation in Switzerland and the 

qualifying insurance policies as well as the pension trust in Germany. 

The portfolio structure for the measurement dates of the past two fi-

nancial years and the target portfolio structure are summarised in the 

following overview: 

 

Target 

asset 

allocation

Portfolio structure, actual

2008 2007

Equity securities 34.8 % 30.2 % 53.2 %

Debt securities 34.1 % 40.9 % 35.1 %

Real estate 4.1 % 2.7 % 1.0 %

Other 27.0 % 26.2 % 10.7 %

100.0 % 100.0 % 100.0 %

The plan assets in England and Switzerland do not include any shares 

or debt securities of LEONI Group companies or parties related to 

them.

The plan assets in Germany include an amount of € 1,008 k  

(previous year: € 1,093 k) that the pension trust provided LEONI AG  

as a loan, as well as qualifying insurance policies in the amount of  

€ 9,986 k (previous year: € 8,091 k).

The contribution estimated for the next financial year is € 3,101 k.
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The following overview contains the defined benefit obligation and 

the plan assets as well as the respective experience adjustments:

€ ‘000 2008 2007 2006 2005

Defined benefit obligation at the end of the fiscal year (174,122) (192,492) (214,936) (163,770)

Fair value of plan assets at the end of the fiscal year 109,683 145,884 151,943 102,843

Funded status at the end of the fiscal year (64,439) (46,608) (62,993) (60,927)

Experience adjustments defined benefit obligation (1,421) (22) (3,072) (167)

Experience adjustments plan assets (28,929) (4,485) 4,740 9,508

 

Some non-German companies provide defined contribution plans. 

In Germany and other countries state plans are also recognised un-

der defined contribution plans. The total cost of such contributions 

amounted to € 36,965 k in the financial year (previous year:  

€ 30,291 k). 

 

[ 24 ]   Equity

Share capital

The share capital in the amount of € 29,700,000, which corresponds 

to the share capital of LEONI AG, is divided into 29,700,000 no-par-

value shares.

Additional paid-in capital

The additional paid-in capital amounts to € 170,380,694.

Statutory reserve

The retained earnings include the statutory reserve of LEONI AG in 

the amount of € 1,091,608.17, which is not available for distribution. 

Share buy-back

In the fourth quarter of 2008 LEONI AG realised a share buy-back pro-

gramme by having acquired 2,970,000 shares or 10 percent of the 

share capital. LEONI thereby took advantage of the low share price 

to obtain currency for acquiring businesses, parts of businesses or 

shares in companies. The share buy-back was transacted via the mar-

ket and funded from operating cash flow. The average price paid per 

acquired share was € 9.79. The payout including incidental acquisition 

expenses totalled € 29,095 k and lowered consolidated equity accord-

ingly. The reconciliation below shows the change in the number of 

shares outstanding in the 2008 financial year.

No. of shares outstanding on 12/31/2007 29,700,000

No. of shares acquired in fiscal 2008 2,970,000

No. of shares outstanding on 12/31/2008 26,730,000

 

Authorised capital

At their Annual General Meeting held on 3 May 2006, the sharehold-

ers authorised the Management Board with the Supervisory Board’s  

approval to increase the share capital on a cash and/or non-cash basis 

once or on multiple occasions by up to a total amount of € 14,850,000 

until 2 May 2011 with the entitlement to rule out shareholder sub-

scription rights.

 



131 Co
m

pa
ny

 in
fo

rm
at

io
n

G
ro

up
 m

an
ag

em
en

t r
ep

or
t

Co
ns

ol
id

at
ed

 fi
na

nc
ia

l s
ta

te
m

en
ts

Ad
di

ti
on

al
 in

fo
rm

at
io

n

Other comprehensive income

The following table shows the changes in the components of accu-

mulated other comprehensive income net of tax effects: 

2008 2007

€ ‘000 Pre-tax amount Tax effect Net amount Pre-tax amount Tax effect Net amount

Foreign currency translation adjustments (3,941) 531 (3,410) (11,210) (96) (11,306)

Unrealized holding losses/gains on 

available-for-sale investments (269) 0 (269) (40) 0 (40)

Unrealised gains/losses on 

derivatives hedging variability of cash flows (31,917) 8,723 (23,194) (3,716) (1,340) (5,056)

Other Comprehensive Income (36,127) 9,254 (26,873) (14,966) (1,436) (16,402)

Dividend payment

A dividend of EUR 0.90 per share was declared and paid in the 2008 

financial year. The total payout was € 26,730 k. 

Dividend proposal

The Management Board will propose to the annual shareholders’ 

meeting to pay out from the fiscal 2008 distributable profit of LEONI 

AG, amounting to € 11,821,765.80 as determined under the German 

Commercial Code, a dividend of € 5,346,000 and to carry the remain-

der of € 6,475,765.80 forward. This corresponds to a dividend of  

€ 0.20 per share entitled to dividend. 

[ 25 ]   Contingencies and other obligations 
 

Lease obligations

The Group leases property, plant and equipment that does not qualify 

as finance leases under IFRS, and are therefore classified as operating 

leases. Leasing expenses amounted to € 18,421 k in the financial year 

(previous year: € 11,623 k). 

The future (undiscounted) minimum rental payments on non-cancel-

lable operating leases are:

Fiscal years € ‘000

 2009 15,108

 2010 11,740

 2011 7,936

 2012 4,827

 2013 3,716

 as of 2014 10,624

Total 53,951

Purchase order commitments

Purchase order commitments for property, plant and equipment as 

well as intangible assets amounted € 11,843 k on the balance sheet 

date (previous year: € 8,010 k).

Litigation and claims

There are pending claims for damages in minor amounts, some of 

which are covered by insurance. The insurer is currently examining 

the cases. Appropriate amounts have been recognised with respect 

to claims for damages. Possible future liability for damages may arise 

in an amount usual for the field of business the Company is dealing 

in. There have not been any and there are currently no pending law-

suits or court proceedings that might have a major impact on LEONI’s 

business situation.
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[ 26 ]   Risk management and  
financial derivatives

Credit risk

All customers with whom the Group intends to conclude business on 

a credit basis are subject to credit screening. Furthermore, receivables 

are monitored continuously. The existing guideline for Group-wide 

accounts receivable management also comprises, along with rules 

governing commercial credit insurance, the internal and external 

credit limit setting process. The guideline also stipulates measures 

for both head office-based and decentralised monitoring of potential 

credit risk. This results in a Group-wide reporting system that, among 

other things, covers the issues of payment terms, credit insurance 

limit and other hedging, receivables not settled and their due dates. 

Receivables are continuously monitored across business units and on 

a decentralised basis. 

There was no indication on the reporting date that trade receiva-

bles, which are neither impaired nor overdue, would not be settled. 

Approximately 73 percent of the trade receivables comprise amounts 

receivable from customers based in Europe (of which Germany 13 

percentage points and France 23 percentage points). About a further 

17 percent consists of amounts receivable from customers in Asia (of 

which China 8 percentage points and the rest of Asia 7 percentage 

points). The largest customer accounts for approx. 18 percent of the 

receivables, with the next four largest customers accounting for pro-

portions of between 6 and 4 percent, and all others less than 4 per-

cent. The largest customer’s proportion of receivables will probably 

be reduced to 10 percent by the limitation on payment terms under 

French law in principle to 45 days to the month end or 60 days from 

the date the invoice was issued and the resulting earlier receipts. 

24 percent (previous year: 23 percent) of total receivables are 

covered by credit insurance. 18 percent (previous year: 42 percent) 

of the non-insured receivables involve customers that are exempt 

from compulsory cover. The decline was due to the increase in total 

receivables resulting from acquisition of the LEONI Wiring Systems 

France companies. These are, as part of the integration process, to 

be included in the existing credit insurance policy, although a large 

proportion of the receivables (approximately 35 percent of total re-

ceivables) are not subject to compulsory cover under the LEONI Group 

guideline. The customers exempt from compulsory cover are mainly 

major companies in the automotive as well as electronic/electrical 

engineering sectors. For 23 percent (previous year: 35 percent) of 

total receivables there is no cover from the credit insurer. The insured 

subsidiaries must apply for credit insurance limits to the credit insurer 

for all receivables from customers that are not exempt from compul-

sory cover and that exceed the limits specified on the existing guide-

line. The following specific conditions apply: LEONI has an obliga-

tion to declare exposure to the credit insurers for all receivables from 

customers greater than € 50 k. A cover limit can also be obtained for 

smaller receivables. Consignment stores and manufacturing risks are 

covered by blanket insurance. The credit insurance policy reimburses 

80 percent of the insured amount. Measurement and monitoring with 

respect to impairment of the non-insured receivables is supported 

among other things by the credit screening carried out by the credit 

insurer and other service providers.

On the balance sheet date, 56 percent of the entities were cov-

ered by credit insurance involving either the Group master policy or 

local policies. 44 percent of the entities are not integrated because 

75 percent of their revenues stem from sales to customers exempt of 

compulsory cover or because their facilities cannot be covered by the 

credit insurer for political reasons. Most of the entities not yet cov-

ered as at the balance sheet date will be included in our credit insur-

ance policy in 2009. 

Internal credit limits are set for major customers that are exempt 

from compulsory cover and other non-insured customers. Limits are 

applied for without delay, on a decentralised basis and are monitored 

by the head office’s accounts receivable management. 

Customers accounting for approximately 56 percent of total re-

ceivables are rated as investment grade. Factoring, or true sale factor-

ing for selected customers, serves as a further tool to reduce the risk 

of default. Customers with good credit ratings are also included. As 

there is no obligation to declare exposure, the decision on the receiv-

ables offered for sale lies with LEONI. 

Liquidity risk

The Group monitors its current liquidity situation on a daily basis. 

Monthly, currency-specific, rolling liquidity planning for respective 

periods of at least 12 months is used to control future liquidity re-

quirement. The planning takes into consideration the terms of invest-

ments and financial assets (e.g. receivables, other financial assets) as 

well as the expected cash flows from business activity. In addition, 

we analyse our existing finance based on our medium-term planning, 

which we revise annually. We initiate suitable measures in good time 

so far as there is any change in borrowing requirement.
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The Group’s objective is to ensure funding in the respectively re-

quired currency. Flexibility is maintained by using overdrafts, loans, 

leases and capital market instruments. A wide variety of financial 

instruments is available to us on the capital market, from banks and 

among suppliers without the need for an external rating, financial 

covenants or other collateralisation. 

To ensure liquidity, there were on the balance sheet date short-

term credit lines from first-rate banks amounting to € 351,795 k (pre-

vious: € 582,600 k) with terms up to 39 months. Short-term credit 

lines in the amount of € 49,227 k (previous year: € 186,995 k) were 

drawn down. Together with the short-term proportion of long-term 

loans, current liabilities to banks amounted to € 84,857 k (previous 

year: € 210,247 k). The non-current liabilities to banks secured by 

mortgages on the balance sheet date amounted to € 882 k (previous 

year: € 1,247 k).

The table below shows the contractually agreed (undiscounted)

 interest and principal payments pertaining to the primary  

financial liabilities as well as the derivative financial instruments  

with positive and negative fair values:

€ ‘000

Carrying 

amount  

12/31/2008

Cash flow  

2009

Cash flow  

2010

Cash flow  

2011 to 2013

Cash flow  

2014 to 2017

Non-derivative financial liabilities:

Trade receivables (369,654) (369,654) 

Bond (203,620) (10,000) (10,000) (230,000)

Liabilities to banks (211,183) (92,470) (20,257) (119,858) (304)

Liabilities on bills of exchange and other financial debts (740) (740)

Borrower’s note loans (251,354) (10,770) (10,770) (188,120) (96,021)

Other financial liabilities (42,233) (41,970) (263)

Derivative financial liabilities and assets:

Derivative financial liabilities

- Currency derivatives without a hedging relationship (4,356)
(89,244)

84,965

- Currency derivatives in connection with cash flow hedges (28,353)
(154,729) (4,379) (9,587)

129,604 4,225  9,248

- Interest rate derivatives without a hedging relationship 0

- Interest rate derivatives in connection with cash flow hedges (10,889) (3,802) (3,794) (8,674) (1,239)

- Commodity future transactions (1,312) (1,312)

Derivative financial assets

- Currency derivatives without a hedging relationship 2,092
(65,360) (3,076)

67,043 3,399

- Currency derivatives in connection with cash flow hedges 1,353
(23,394)

24,643

- Interest rate derivatives without a hedging relationship 0

- Interest rate derivatives in connection with cash flow hedges 0
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€ ‘000

Carrying 

amount  

12/31/2007

Cash flow  

2008

Cash flow  

2009

Cash flow  

2010 to 2012

Cash flow  

2013 to 2016

Non-derivative financial liabilities:

Trade receivables (249,679) (249,679) 

Bond (203,437) (10,000) (10,000) (30,000) (210,000)

Liabilities to banks (303,707) (216,317) (41,074) (53,427) (11,871)

Liabilities on bills of exchange and other financial debts (4,739) (4,739)

Borrower’s note loans 0 0 0 0 0

Other financial liabilities (59,848) (54,631) (1,167) (3,600)

Derivative financial liabilities and assets:

Derivative financial liabilities

- Currency derivatives without a hedging relationship (592)
(137,091)

134,456

- Currency derivatives in connection with cash flow hedges (8,923)
(95,458) (21,656)

91,503 20,050

- Interest rate derivatives without a hedging relationship 0 1

- Interest rate derivatives in connection with cash flow hedges (1,029)  7 7 (18) (8)

Derivative financial assets

- Currency derivatives without a hedging relationship 212
(84,787)

87,852

- Currency derivatives in connection with cash flow hedges 4,105
(53,398)

55,843

- Interest rate derivatives without a hedging relationship 0

- Interest rate derivatives in connection with cash flow hedges 17 30 8

All instruments held on 31 December 2008 and for which payments 

were already contractually agreed were also included. Foreign cur-

rency amounts were in each case translated at the spot rate on the re-

porting date. The variable interest payments pertaining to the finan-

cial instruments were determined on the basis of the interest rates 

fixed most recently prior to 31 December 2008. Financial liabilities 

repayable at any time are always allocated to the earliest time period. 

In the case of the currency derivates, both the cash outflow and the 

cash inflow are presented in the table above for the purpose of trans-

parency.

Interest rate risks

We use interest rate derivatives to avoid the risk of changes in interest 

rates. Such contracts are signed exclusively by LEONI AG. 

The preconditions for cash flow hedge accounting are met for 

all interest rate derivatives. They hedge the respective cash flows 

against the risk of changes in interest rates to the underlying financial 

liabilities. The resulting changes in market value amounted to nega-

tive € 9,877 k (previous year: positive € 1,327 k) in the financial year. 

This therefore puts the market value as at 31 December 2008 of the 

interest rate derivates at negative € 10,889 k. Of these, the positive 

amounts recognised in accumulated other comprehensive income 

came to nil in the financial year (previous year: € 17.5 k), and the 

negative amounts to € 10,454 k (previous year: € 1,029 k). A nega-

tive amount of € 435 k (previous year: nil) was recognised in the in-

come statement. Where the derivatives hedge the risk of changes in 
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interest rates on the long-term financial liabilities, the term is identi-

cal to that of the underlying loan. Furthermore, some of the deriva-

tives also hedge variable debt. The agreed reference interest rates are 

the EURIBOR for two months, three months and six months as well as 

the USD-Libor for 3 months. These derivative contracts (interest rate) 

have maturities of up to six years and 3 months. We regard the coun-

terparty risk as being very small because all derivative contracts were 

signed with national and international commercial banks that have 

first-class ratings. Counterparty risk is subject to regular monitoring.

Interest rate sensitivity

Consolidated earnings depend on the level of market interest rates. 

Any change in this level would impact on the Group’s earnings and 

equity. The analysis we carry out covers all interest-bearing financial 

instruments that are subject to the risk of changes in interest rates. 

As existing fixed-income financial instruments are not subject 

to the risk of changes in interest rates, they are excluded from this 

assessment. We recognised in equity the impact of financial instru-

ments designated in the context of cash flow hedge accounting. 

When calculating the sensitivity of the interest rates we assume a 

parallel shift in the yield curve by 50 basis points. The impact is as  

follows:

 

€ ‘000 2008

Changes in interest, equity + 0.50 % – 0.50 %

EUR 3,270 (3,596)

USD 143 (147)

Changes in interest, earnings + 0.50 % – 0.50 %

CNY (196) 196

EUR 409 175

USD 0 0

€ ‘000 2007

Changes in interest, equity + 0.50 % – 0.50 %

EUR 1,189 (1,221)

USD 142 (146)

Changes in interest, earnings + 0.50 % – 0.50 %

CNY (142) 142

EUR (236) 236

USD 0 0

Currency risks

Although we conduct our business mainly in euros or in the local cur-

rency of the respective country, we are increasingly faced with cur-

rency risks due to the globalisation of the markets. 

In the Group’s holding company, LEONI AG, the Corporate 

Finance department deals with the resulting currency risks in col-

laboration with and based on the conditions set by the currency com-

mittee with respect to limits and terms. Hedging transactions are 

signed in line with the existing underlying transactions as well as the 

planned transactions. 

Selection of the hedging instrument to be used is based on regu-

lar, in-depth analysis of the underlying transaction to be hedged. 

Most of the hedging transactions are in the Polish zloty, the US dollar, 

the Swiss franc, the pound sterling and Mexican pesos. The objective 

is to limit the impact of exchange rate variation on net income. Apart 

from the actual hedging transactions, we primarily take advantage 

of the option of netting foreign currency items within the Group to 

hedge our operating business activity. As a further currency-hedging 

measure, we in principle finance our foreign subsidiaries in their re-

spective functional currencies by way of refinancing in the corre-

sponding currency. 

On the balance sheet date, there were currency hedging transac-

tions amounting to € 324,162 k (previous year: € 393,027 k), matur-

ing within 60 months. The changes in market value of the foreign 

exchange transactions as of the balance sheet date to be recorded in 

the income statement amounted to negative € 2,265 k in the fiscal 

year (previous year: negative € 380 k). 

Foreign exchange transactions amounting to € 168,646 k  

(previous year: € 291,574 k) met the conditions for hedge account-

ing (cash flow hedge). They were completed in fiscal 2007 and 2008. 

Their negative fair value of € 27,000 k (previous year: negative  

€ 4,818 k) was recognised in other comprehensive income. The cash 

flow from the underlying transactions is expected between fiscal year 

2009 and 2013. The changes in fair value recognised in other com-

prehensive income are derecognised via the income statement at the 

time the underlying transaction takes effect.
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The positive amounts recognised in other comprehensive income in 

the context of hedge accounting came to € 31,084 k in the financial 

year (previous year: € 16,868 k), and the negative amounts to  

€ 50,544 k (previous year: negative € 21,369 k). An amount of  

€ 2,512 k (previous year: € 588 k) was, as shown in the table below, 

derecognised via the income statement.

  

2008 2007

€ ‘000

Positive  

effect

Negative  

effect

Positive  

effect

Negative  

effect

Sales 9,810 (1,304) 678 (1,073)

Cost of sales 4,141 (10,055) 467 (363)

Financial result 

(Inefficiency) 0 (80) 883 (4)

Total 2,512 588

In addition to this amount of € 2,512 k recognised in the income 

statement, expenses of € 8,151 k (previous year: income of € 1,252 k)  

from currency hedging transactions were recorded for the finan-

cial year affecting net income, offset by the corresponding effect on 

earnings from underlying transactions.

The currency hedging transactions, as well as our interest trans-

actions, were signed with first rate commercial banks, meaning that 

there was no significant counterparty risk either. This area is also sub-

ject to regular monitoring. 

There were no risks related to financial instruments on the bal-

ance sheet date that resulted in any noteworthy risk concentration. 

Exchange rate sensitivity

Changes in exchange rates that are by prudent judgment essentially 

possible would affect consolidated earnings due to the fair values of 

the monetary assets and liabilities. Additional factors would arise that 

would affect equity due to change in fair value in the context of cash 

flow hedge accounting. We consider the risk of changes in interest 

rates arising from the currency derivatives to be immaterial, which is 

why it is not included in the assessment.

 

€ ‘000 2008

Changes in exchange rates, equity + 10 % – 10 %

CHF 1,224 (1,001)

GBP 1,104 (903)

MXN (608) 498

PLN 4,923 (4,028)

USD (2,139) 1,752

Changes in exchange rates, earnings + 10 % – 10 %

CHF 252 (206)

GBP 262 (214)

MXN (48) 39

PLN 949 (776)

USD (384) 313

€ ‘000 2007

Changes in exchange rates, equity + 10 % – 10 %

GBP (694) 848

PLN (6,018) 7,355

RON (5,049) 6,172

SKK (3,695) 4,517

USD (3,317) 4,054

Changes in exchange rates, earnings + 10 % – 10 %

GBP 75 (92)

PLN 49 (60)

RON (128) 156

SKK 7 (8)

USD (961) 1,174

Risks related to raw material prices

Business within the Wire & Cable Solutions division is sensitive to 

changes in raw materials prices, especially of copper, but also gold 

and silver. For this reason, purchase prices for gold, silver and espe-

cially copper are hedged by way of future transactions to cover the 

usual future procurement volume. Such commodity future transac-

tions are signed within ordinary business activity and as part of pur-

chasing activity for required raw materials and therefore need not, in 

line with IAS 39, be accounted for as financial derivatives. Commodity 

future transactions that are settled in cash are recognised as deriva-

tives, changes in the fair value of which are recognised in the cost of 

sales. The risks arising from these derivatives are of minor significance 

to the Group.
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Capital management

The primary objective of LEONI’s capital management is to ensure 

that it maintains a strong credit rating, a good equity ratio and ap-

propriate gearing to support its business and increase shareholder 

value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments 

based on the change in underlying economic conditions. To maintain 

and adjust its capital structure, the Group can make adjustments to 

dividend payouts to shareholders, repay capital to shareholders or is-

sue new shares. No changes to the objectives, guidelines or processes 

were made in either the 2007 or 2008 financial years.

LEONI controls its capital with gearing (debt-equity ratio). 

Gearing is defined as the ratio of net financial debts to equity. 

€ ‘000 2008 2007

Debt 666,897 511,883

less cash and cash equivalents (133,672) (38,672)

Net financial debts 533,225 473,211

Equity 447,688 525,642

Gearing in % 119 90

The increase in gearing is attributable, along with the impact of the 

slump in demand in the fourth quarter of 2008, mainly to curren-

cy-related changes in accumulated other comprehensive income. 

Furthermore, the share buy-back amounting to 10 percent of the 

share capital that was completed in December 2008 also caused a  

reduction in equity and an increase in debt. 

It is still LEONI’s objective not to exceed 120 percent gearing. The 

fundamental aim is that capital spending on organic growth that ex-

ceeds the market average can be generated from operating cash flow 

and that reducing financial liabilities is possible.
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Additional disclosure on financial instruments

 

Amounts recognised in balance sheet according to IAS 39

 € ‘000

 Category in 

accordance 

with IAS 39

Carrying 

amount

12/31/2008

Amortised  

cost Cost

Fair Value  

recognised  

in equity

 Fair Value 

recognised in 

profit or loss

Fair Value

12/31/2008

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents LaR 133,672 133,672 133,672

Trade receivables LaR 327,449 327,449 327,449

Trade receivables from development contracts LaR 44,360 44,360 44,360

Other receivables LaR 16,063 16,063 16,063

Other non-derivative financial assets

 Available-for-Sale financial assets AfS 7,403 1,156 6,247 7,403

Derivative financial assets

 Derivatives without a hedging relationship FAHfT 2,092 2,092 2,092

 Derivatives with a hedging relationship n/a 1,353 1,353 1,353

Total equity and liabilities

Trade payables FLAC 369,654 369,654 369,654

Bonds and other securitised liabilities FLAC 203,620 203,620 194,575

Liabilities to banks FLAC 211,183 211,183 210,871

Liabilities on bills of exchange and 

other financial liabilities FLAC 740 740 740

Borrower’s note loans FLAC 251,354 251,354 251,012

Other financial liabilities FLAC 42,233 42,233 42,231

Derivative financial liabilities

 Derivatives without a hedging relationship 

  (Held for Trading) FLHfT 5,668 5,668 5,668

 Derivatives with a hedging relationship 

 (Hedge Accounting) n/a 39,242 39,242 39,242

Of which aggregated by categories in accordance with IAS 39:

Loans and Receivables (LaR) 521,544 521,544 0 0 0 521,544

Available-for-Sale financial assets (AfS) 7,403 0 1,156 6,247 0 7,403

Financial Asstes Held for Trading (FAHfT) 2,092 0 0 0 2,092 2,092

Financial Liabilities Measured  

at Amortised Cost (FLAC) 1,078,784 1,078,784 0 0 0 1,069,083

Financial Liabilities Held for Trading (FLHfT) 5,668 0 0 0 5,668 5,668
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Amounts recognised in balance sheet according to IAS 39

  € ‘000

 Category in 

accordance 

with IAS 39

Carrying 

amount

12/31/2007

Amortised  

cost Cost

Fair Value  

recognised  

in equity

 Fair Value 

recognised in 

profit or loss

Fair Value

12/31/2007

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents LaR 38,672 38,672 38,672

Trade receivables LaR 269,860 269,860 269,860

Trade receivables from development contracts LaR 19,725 19,725 19,725

Other receivables LaR 149,370 149,370 149,370

Other non-derivative financial assets

 Available-for-Sale financial assets AfS 9,760 1,350 8,410 9,760

Derivative financial assets

 Derivatives without a hedging relationship FAHfT 212 212 212

 Derivatives with a hedging relationship n/a 4,122 4,122 4,122

Total equity and liabilities

Trade payables FLAC 249,679 249,679 249,679

Bonds and other securitised liabilities FLAC 203,437 203,437 199,000

Liabilities to banks FLAC 303,707 303,707 302,843

Liabilities on bills of exchange and 

other financial liabilities FLAC 4,739 4,739 4,739

Borrower’s note loans FLAC 0 0 0

Other financial liabilities FLAC 59,848 59,848 59,848

Derivative financial liabilities

 Derivatives without a hedging relationship  

 (Held for Trading) FLHfT 592 592 592

 Derivatives with a hedging relationship  

 (Hedge Accounting) n/a 9,952 9,952 9,952

Of which aggregated by categories in accordance with IAS 39:

Loans and Receivables (LaR) 477,627 477,627 0 0 0 477,627

Available-for-Sale financial assets (AfS) 9,760 0 1,350 8,410 0 9,760

Financial Asstes Held for Trading (FAHfT) 212 0 0 0 212 212

Financial Liabilities Measured  

at Amortised Cost (FLAC) 821,410 821,410 0 0 0 816,109

Financial Liabilities Held for Trading (FLHfT) 592 0 0 0 592 592

Due to the short terms of the cash and cash equivalents, trade receiv-

ables and other current receivables, the fair values largely correspond 

to the carrying amounts. 

The fair values of other non-current receivables maturing after 

more than one year correspond to the present values of payments 

relating to the assets, in each case taking into account the current 

interest parameters that reflect market and partner-related changes 

in terms.

Trade liabilities and other liabilities usually mature in the short 

term; the amounts on the balance sheet represent approximations of 

fair value.

The fair value of the bond corresponds to its market value. 
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The fair values of liabilities to banks, the borrower’s note loans and 

the other non-current financial liabilities are determined as the 

present values of the payments relating to the liabilities based on the 

respectively applicable yield curves.

 

Derivative financial instruments 

€ ‘000

12/31/2008

Nominal value

12/31/2008

Carrying amount

12/31/2008

Fair value

12/31/2007

Nominal value

12/31/2007

Carrying amount

12/31/2007

Fair value

Assets

Currency contracts: 94,077 3,445 3,445 139,106 4,317 4,317

Forward exchange transactions

 CHF 52,725 1,839 1,839 0 0 0

 GBP 9,375 109 109 680 0 0

 MXN 0 0 0 18,826 286 286

 PLN 4,782 91 91 77,331 3,040 3,040

 USD 21,621 1,313 1,313 15,745 707 707

 Other 5,574 93 93 26,524 284 284

(thereof hedge accounting) 24,101 1,353 1,353 122,271 4,105 4,105

Derivative interest rate contracts 0 0 0 20,857 17 17

Interest caps 0 0 0 10,000 0 0

Interest swaps 0 0 0 10,857 17 17

(thereof hedge accounting) 0 0 0 10,857 17 17

Total equity and liabilities

Currency contracts: 230,085 32,709 32,709 253,921 9,515 9,515

Forward exchange transactions

 CHF 4,071 133 133 0 0 0

 GBP 25,344 3,003 3,003 18,533 834 834

 MXN 17,328 5,504 5,504 219 11 11

 PLN 68,216 14,872 14,872 19,425 57 57

 USD 48,538 2,901 2,901 89,933 2,512 2,512

 Other 66,588 6,296 6,296 125,811 6,101 6,101

(thereof hedge accounting) 144,545 28,353 28,353 169,303 8,923 8,923

Derivative interest rate contracts 278,655 10,889 10,889 72,795 1,029 1,029

Interest rate collars 136,000 3,410 3,410 0 0 0

Interest swaps 142,655 7,479 7,479 72,795 1,029 1,029

(thereof hedge accounting) 278,655 10,889 10,889 72,795 1,029 1,029

Commodity future transactions 7,482 1,312 1,312

The detailed breakdown of the carrying amounts and fair values of 

the derivative financial instruments was as follows on the balance 

sheet date:
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The fair values of the foreign exchange transactions were based on 

current reference rates taking into consideration forward premiums 

or discounts. The fair values of the interest rate hedging instruments 

(interest swaps and interest collars) were based on discounted future 

cash flows. The applicable market interest rates were used for the 

maturities of the financial instruments. 

The net results of the financial instruments by measurement cat-

egory were as follows:

Net results

thereof allow-

ances recognised 

as expense

€ ‘000 2008 2007 2008 2007

Loans and receivables (LaR) (1,593) (840) (2,859) (2,323)

Available-for-sale 

financial assets (AfS) (2,040) (40) (1,893) 0

Derivatives (HfT) 2,598 1,252 0 0

Total (1,035) 372 (4,752) (2,323)

 

The net result for the measurement category “Loans and Receivables 

(LaR)” involves mainly valuation allowances and reversals. The net re-

sult for the measurement category “Available-for-sale financial assets 

(AfS)” contains mainly losses due to measuring securities at fair value. 

[ 27 ]   Segment reporting

The segment reporting follows the internal organisational and re-

porting structure of the Group. Intersegment sales and revenues are 

generally recorded at values that approximate sales to third parties. 

Wire & Cable Solutions

The segment covers development, manufacture and sale of cables, 

wires and tapes for cable production and electric as well as elec-

tronic components, of Lyonese wares for textiles, decorative goods 

and artistic works as well as cables and conductors especially for the 

automotive and electrical appliance industries, data and communica-

tions technology, the professional audio and video segment, medi-

cal equipment, automation technology as well as machinery and 

plant engineering. The products meet both German and international 

standards as well as customer specifications. The conductive material 

most commonly used is copper, but the division also produces fiber 

optic cable based on both glass and polymer fiber.

Wiring Systems

The activity of this segment is focused on the development, produc-

tion and sale of complete wiring systems and ready-to-install cable 

harnesses for passenger cars and commercial vehicles. In addition to 

conventional cable harnesses, the division also manufactures pre-

formed cable harnesses, plastic moulded components as well as 

ready-to-fit cable assemblies with connectors and fittings.

Segment reporting
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The details by segment for the 2008 and 2007 financial years are as 

follows: 

Wire & Cable Solutions Wiring Systems Division Reconciliation LEONI Group

in € ‘000 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007

Sales 1,503,046 1,491,366 1,511,201 987,411 (102,283) (111,998) 2,911,964 2,366,779

./. Intersegment sales 101,546 110,569 737 1,429 (102,283) (111,998) —  —

External Sales 1,401,500 1,380,797 1,510,464 985,982 — — 2,911,964 2,366,779

 domestic 473,692 415,850 442,006 485,665 0 0 915,698 901,515

 abroad 927,808 964,947 1,068,458 500,317 0 0 1,996,266 1,465,264

 abroad in % 66.2 69.9 70.7 50.7 68.6 61.9

Operating income 29,521 81,615 21,372 57,623 2,705 (582) 53,598 138,656

Income/expenses 

from associated companies and joint ventures 60 (779) 2,027 224 (1) 1 2,086 (554)

EBIT 29,581 80,836 23,399 57,847 2,704 (581) 55,684 138,102

 as a percentage of sales 2.0 5.4 1.5 5.9

 as a percentage of external sales 2.1 5.9 1.5 5.9 1.9 5.8

 Financial result and other investment income (39,924) (21,571)

 Income before tax 15,760 116,531

 Income taxes (10,563) (30,312)

 Net income 5,197 86,219

Depreciation and amortisation 40,287 36,343 65,365 32,685 4,577 3,641 110,229 72,669

EBITDA 69,868 117,179 88,764 90,532 7,281 3,060 165,913 210,771

 as a percentage of sales 4.6 7.9 5.9 9.2

 as a percentage of external sales 5.0 8.5 5.9 9.2 5.7 8.9

Other non-cash segment expenses: 

Impairment losses 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Segment assets 807,810 849,177 936,955 750,546 103,653 (2,768) 1,848,418 1,596,955

 Investments in associated companies 

 and joint ventures 728 698 25,034 1,017 0 0 25,762 1,715

Investment in property, plant and equipment  

as well as intangible assets 53,058 48,036 93,570 37,725 11,808 7,940 158,436 93,701

Segment liabilities 246,263 251,769 264,295 112,012 890,172 707,532 1,400,730 1,071,313

Average number of employees 8,274 8,206 43,981 26,789 189 178 52,444 35,173
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The segment EBIT (earnings before interest and taxes) comprises op-

erating earnings plus income from associated companies. The com-

panies that were measured under the equity method are mainly joint 

ventures in which LEONI exercises joint control; this is why the in-

come from associated companies is included in EBIT and EBITDA. 

Due to the changed allocation of exchange gains or losses to op-

erating income (cf. Note 2 “Foreign currency translation”), the previ-

ous year’s figures were adjusted for the purpose of comparability. 

EBIT for the period up to 31 December 2007 was increased by  

€ 1,120 k in the Wiring Systems division and by € 7,377 k in the Wire & 

Cable Solutions division. LEONI’s consolidated figure for the previous 

year was raised by € 8,483 k. 

Segment information by geographical regions: 

Federal Republic 

of Germany France

EU excl. Germany 

and France Outside EU LEONI Group

in € ‘000 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007

External sales

 Wire & Cable Solutions 473,692 415,850 32,484 28,907 400,333 415,197 494,991 520,843 1,401,500 1,380,797

 Wiring Systems Division 442,006 485,665 303,547 18,864 561,557 343,493 203,354 137,960 1,510,464 985,982

915,698 901,515 336,031 47,771 961,890 758,690 698,345 658,803 2,911,964 2,366,779

Segment assets 629,281 764,846 226,087 7,415 420,503 397,453 572,546 427,241 1,848,417 1,596,955

Investment in property, 

plant and equipment as 

well as intangible assets 76,580 41,623 1,235 13 19,558 14,725 61,063 37,340 158,436 93,701
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[ 28 ]   Earnings per Share

Basic earnings per share are calculated as follows:
   

 

[ 30 ]   Personnel expenses and employees

€ ‘000 2008 2007

Wages and salaries 479,017 362,268

Social-security contributions, expenses for 

pensions and retirement and fringe benefits 117,177 87,008

596,194 449,276

This item includes the following retirement benefit expenses:

€ ‘000                                                      2008 2007

7,382 7,050

Annual average number of employees:
 

2008 2007 Change

Salaried staff 6,951 5,807 + 1,144

Wage earners 45,493 29,366 + 16,127

52,444 35,173 + 17,271

The Group employed 50,821 people on the balance sheet date (previ-

ous year: 36,855), of which 46,578 worked outside Germany (previous 

year: 32,795).

Other disclosures

2008 2007

Total amount Earnings per share  

Group interests

Total amount Earnings per share  

Group interests

€ ‘000  € € ‘000 €

Numerator: Income before taxes

 attributable to the Group 15,584 0.53 115,453 3.89

 Net income 

 attributable to the Group 5,085 0.17 85,240 2.87

Denominator: Weighted average number

  of shares outstanding 29,183,169 29,700,000

The number of shares outstanding on 31 December 2008, of 

26,730,000, corresponds to the number of shares issued. As in the 

previous year, there was no dilution effect in the financial year under 

report.

[ 29 ]   Auditor’s professional fees

The following expenses were recognised in the financial year for work 

performed by the auditors appointed to audit the financial state-

ments and consolidated financial statements as at 31 December 2008: 

€ 1,039 k (previous year: € 913 k) for the audit, € 309 k (previous year: 

€ 202 k) for other certification and appraisal services, € 302 (previous 

year: € 298 k) for tax consulting services and € 7 k (previous year:  

€ 2 k) for other services. 
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[ 31 ]   Performance-related compen-
sation with a long-term component

The members of the Management Board received, in addition to fixed 

annual compensation and a performance-related short-term compo-

nent (profit share) measured against net income, a share-based long-

term component with risk character (bonus). This bonus is computed 

based on the market performance of the LEONI AG share and EVA 

(economic value added). However, the amounts paid out annually 

have upper limits. Amounts exceeding this limit are carried forward 

to the next year, and realising them depends on LEONI AG’s market 

performance and EVA. The amounts carried forward expire upon de-

parture from the Management Board. Provision is made pro-rata over 

the vesting period for the amounts carried forward.

Fifty percent of the bonus must be invested in LEONI shares, 

which are blocked for at least 50 months, within 20 days of being 

paid.

[ 32 ]   Transactions with related parties 

Compensation of the Management Board is summarised as follows: 

€ ‘000 2008 2007

Benefits due in the short term 1,786 3,580

Performance-related compensation  

with a long-term component (885) 1,095

901 4,675

Post-employment benefits 770 407

1,671 5,082

The short-term benefits include a variable component of € 645 k 

(previous year: € 2,441 k). The expense incurred by the total receipts 

of the Management Board members pursuant to Article 314 Section 

1(6a) of the German Commercial Code was € 901 k (previous year:  

€ 4,675 k). Article 314 Section 1(6a) of the German Commercial Code 

provides that expenditure on pensions need not be included in the 

receipts of the Management Board members.

The basic principles of the compensation system and the receipts 

of individual Management Board members pursuant to Article 314 

Section 1(6a) of the German Commercial Code are presented in the 

management report.

There is provision for the pension obligations vis-à-vis former 

members of the Management Board and their surviving dependants 

in the amount of € 3,039 k. Their receipts amounted to € 244 k in the 

financial year (previous year: € 238 k). 

Provided that the annual shareholders’ meeting approves the 

dividend proposal, the total compensation in the year under report 

of the Supervisory Board will be € 670 k (previous year: € 1,391 k), of 

which the variable share of compensation is € 173 k (previous year:  

€ 891 k).

The receipts of the individual Supervisory Board members are 

presented in the management report. 
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The table below shows the total amounts from transactions with  

associates and joint ventures:

 

Purchases/sales 

from/to related parties Fiscal year

Income from sales  

and services  

to related parties

Purchases from 

related parties

Amounts due from 

related parties

Amounts due to

 related parties

€ ‘000 € ‘000 € ‘000 € ‘000

Joint Ventures 2008 3,644 7,801 5,061 1,783

2007 4,104 7,398 4,469 1,887

Associated companies 2008 0 0 47 0

2007 32 6 46 0

Loans to related parties Fiscal year Interest received

Amounts owed  

by related parties

€ ‘000 € ‘000

Joint Ventures 2008 239 425

2007 126 321

Associated companies 2008 0 0

2007 0 0

The transactions with associates and joint ventures were effected on 

standard market terms.

One close relative of a board member is managing director of a 

LEONI Group subsidiary and for this receives compensation on stand-

ard market terms. One member of the Supervisory Board works for 

the Company in an advisory capacity and for this received € 64 k in-

cluding disbursements in the 2008 financial year.

There were no other reportable transactions with related parties.
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[ 34 ]   Events occurring after the  
balance sheet date

Due to the further escalation in the global financial and economic 

crisis, LEONI initiated measures at the beginning of 2009 to adjust 

capacity and reduce costs. The capacity at numerous facilities was 

adjusted in line with demand. To begin with, overtime and leave ac-

counts were reduced further, while temporary and fixed-term em-

ployment contracts still in place were terminated. At almost all of our 

German plants we have registered short-term working or used the 

option to cut working hours in accordance with the special collec-

tive agreement relating to employment development. In addition, 

we were for operational reasons compelled to terminate the employ-

ment of staff above all at foreign facilities, but also at two locations in 

Germany. The sales office in Detroit was closed due to the persistently 

critical trend in the US automotive industry. An extensive cost reduc-

tion programme was also prepared. Various internal projects as well 

as acquisition and investment plans have already been postponed. 

These circumstances did not exert any effect on the values recorded 

on the balance sheet as at 31 December 2008. 

Nuremberg, 23 February 2009

LEONI AG

The Management Board

Dr Klaus Probst              Dieter Bellé               Uwe H. Lamann

[ 33 ]   Declaration pertaining to the 
German Corporate Governance Code 
pursuant to Article 161 of the German 
Public Companies Act (AktG)
 

In December 2008, the Management Board and the Supervisory 

Board issued the updated declaration of conformity pursuant to 

Article 161 of the German Public Companies Act and made this avail-

able to shareholders on a permanent basis by publishing it on the 

internet (www.leoni.com). The declaration of conformity is also in-

cluded in the Corporate Governance report, which is published in the 

2008 Annual Report.



148 Scope of consolidation

Ownership in %

I.   Consolidated companies

LEONI AG, Nuremberg, Germany

1.  Wire & Cable Solutions Division

Federal Republic of Germany

LEONI Kabel Holding GmbH, Nuremberg  

(formerly: LEONI Kabel Holding GmbH & Co. KG) 2) 100

advintec GmbH, Laatzen 100

BTO GmbH FiberTechnologies, Wildau (i.L.) 100

FiberTech GmbH Special Optical Fiber Technologies, Berlin 100

Haarländer GmbH, Roth 2) 100

KB Kabel Beteiligungs-GmbH, Nuremberg 100

LEONI Kabelsysteme GmbH, Ettlingen

(formerly: Klink + Oechsle GmbH) 100

LEONI Automotive Cables GmbH, Brake, (i.L.) 100

LEONI Cable Assemblies GmbH, Roth 2) 100

LEONI Draht GmbH, Nuremberg 2) 100

LEONI elocab GmbH, Georgensgmünd 100

LEONI Fiber Optics GmbH, Neuhaus-Schierschnitz 2) 100

LEONI HighTemp Solutions GmbH, Radevormwald 2) 100

LEONI Kabel GmbH, Nuremberg 2) 100

LEONI Kerpen GmbH, Stolberg 2) 100

LEONI Prinz Fiber Optics GmbH, Stromberg 100

LEONI protec cable systems GmbH, Schmalkalden 100

LEONI Special Cables GmbH, Friesoythe 2) 100

LEONI Studer GmbH, Riedstadt 100

LEONI Studer Hard GmbH, Bautzen 100

neumatic Elektronik + Kabeltechnik GmbH & Co. KG, Ulm 1) 100

Other European countries

Kerpen Special Limited,

Stratford upon Avon, Warwickshire, United Kingdom (i.L.) 100

LEONI Cable Belgium N.V., Hasselt, Belgium 100

LEONI Cable Slovakia spol. s.r.o., Stará Turá, Slovakia 100

LEONI CIA Cable Systems S.A.S., Chartres, France 100

Ownership in %

LEONI Furas S.L., Piera, Spain 100

LEONI Kabel Polska sp. z o.o., Kobierzyce, Poland 100

LEONI Kablo ve Teknolojileri Sanayi ve Ticaret Limited Sirketi,  

Mudanya, Turkey 95

LEONI Slowakia spol. s.r.o., Nová Dubnica, Slovakia 100

LEONI Special Cables Iberica S.A., Barcelona, Spain 100

LEONI Studer AG, Däniken, Switzerland 100

LEONI Tailor-Made Cable UK Limited,

Chesterfield, Derbyshire, United Kingdom 100

LEONI Temco Ltd., Cinderford, Gloucestershire, United Kingdom 100

LKH LEONI Kábelgyár Hungaria Kft., Hatvan, Hungary 100

LEONI NBG Fiber Optics GmbH, Gmünd, Austria 100

neumatic cz s.r.o., Turnov, Czech Republic 100

LEONI Silitherm s.r.l., Monticelli d’Ongina, Italy 100

Outside Europe

FiberTech USA Inc., Meza, Arizona, USA 90

Kerpen (M) Sdn. Bhd., Subang Jaya, Malaysia 75

Kerpen (S.E.A.) Pte. Ltd., Singapore 75

Kerpen (Thailand) Co. Ltd., Bangkok, Thailand 75

Kerpen Cable (Shanghai) Co. Ltd., Shanghai, China 100

LEONI Cable Maroc S.A.R.L., Casablanca, Morocco

(formerly: Furas Maroc S.A.R.L.) 100

LEONI Cable (Changzhou) Co. Ltd., Changzhou, China 100

LEONI Cable (Xiamen) Co. Ltd., Xiamen, China 100

LEONI Cable Inc., Rochester, Michigan, USA 3) 100

LEONI Cable S.A. de C.V., Cuauhtémoc, Chihuahua, Mexico 3) 100

LEONI Elocab Ltd., Kitchener, Ontario, Canada 100

LEONI Engineering Products & Services Inc.,  

Southfield, Michigan, USA 100

LEONI Special Cables (Changzhou) Co. Ltd.,  

Changzhou, China 100

LEONI Cable Solutions (India) Private Limited,  

Mumbai, India 100

LEONI Wire (Changzhou) Co. Ltd., Changzhou, China 100

LEONI Wire Inc., Chicopee, Massachusetts, USA 3) 100
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Ownership in %

2.  Wiring Systems Division

Federal Republic of Germany

LEONI Bordnetz-Systeme GmbH, Kitzingen 2) 100

Leonische Drahtwerke Bordnetze GmbH & Co. KG, Lilienthal 1) 100

LEONI Automotive Leads GmbH, Brake 100

   

 Other European countries

Cablauto S.R.L., Felizzano (Alessandria), Italy 100

LEONI Autokabel Polska sp. z o.o., Ostrzeszów, Poland 100

LEONI Autokabel Slowakia spol. s.r.o., Trencin, Slovakia 100

LEONI Cable Systems France S.A.S.,

Montigny-le-Bretonneux, France 100

LEONI Hungaria Kft., Eger, Hungary 100

LEONI Wiring Harnesses S.A., 

Montigny-le-Bretonneux, France 100

LEONI Wiring Systems Arad S.R.L., Arad, Romania 100

LEONI Wiring Systems France S.A.,

Montigny-le-Bretonneux, France 100

LEONI Wiring Systems Italy S.R.L., Felizzano, Italy 100

LEONI Wiring Systems Mioveni S.R.L., Arges, Romania 100

LEONI Wiring Systems Pitesti S.R.L., Pitesti, Romania 100

LEONI Wiring Systems RO S.R.L., Bistrita, Romania 100

LEONI Wiring Systems Spain S.R.L.,

Santa Perpetua/Barcelona, Spain 100

LEONI Wiring Systems U.K. Ltd.,

Newcastle-under-Lyme, Staffordshire, United Kingdom 100

LEONI Wiring Systems UA (GmbH), Strij, Ukraine 100

LEONI Wiring Systems Viana Lda, Viana do Castelo, Portugal 100

Leonische Portugal Lda.,  

Lugar de Sao Martinho, Guimaraes, Portugal 100

OOO LEONI Wiring Systems (RUS),

Naberezhnye Chelny, Tatarstan, Russia 100

OOO LIK AVTO, Gorodets, Russia 100

Outside Europe

LEONI Automotive do Brasil Ltda., Itú, Saõ Paulo, Brazil 100

LEONI Electrical Systems (Shanghai) Co. Ltd., Shanghai, China 100

LEONI Tunisia Group Sarl., Messadine, Tunesia 100

LEONI Tunisie Sarl., Messadine-Sousse, Tunesia 100

LEONI Wiring Systems (Changchun) Co. Ltd., Changchun, China 100

Ownership in %

LEONI Wiring Systems (East London) (Pty.) Ltd.,  

East London, South Africa 100

LEONI Wiring Systems (Liuzhou) Co. Ltd., Liuzhou, China 100

LEONI Wiring Systems Aïn Sebâa S.A., Aïn Sebâa, Morocco 100

LEONI Wiring Systems Bouskoura S.A., Bouskoura, Morocco 100

LEONI Wiring Systems Bouznika S.A., Bouznika, Morocco 100

LEONI Wiring Systems de Torreón S.A. de CV,  

Chihuahua, Mexico 100

LEONI Wiring Systems Egypt S.A.E., Nasr City, Kairo, Egypt 100

LEONI Wiring Systems Ez Zhara SA, Boumhel, Tunesia 100

LEONI Wiring Systems Inc., Tucson, Arizona, USA 100

LEONI Wiring Systems Korea Inc., Seoul, Korea 100

LEONI Wiring Systems Mateur Nord S.A., Mateur, Tunesia 100

LEONI Wiring Systems Mateur Sud S.A., Mateur, Tunesia 100

LEONI Wiring Systems Mexicana S.A. de C.V., Hermosillo, Mexico 100

1)  Companies that make use of the exemption under Article 264b of the German Commercial Code.
2)  Companies that make use of the exemption under Article 264, Section 3 

 of the German Commercial Code.
3)  These companies are legally part of the Wiring Systems Division.

II.  Associated companies and joint ventures

1.  Wire & Cable Solutions Division

FiberCore Machinery Jena GmbH, Jena, Germany 51

Fibertech Optica Inc., Kitchener, Ontario, Canada 25

j-fiber GmbH, Jena, Germany 51

j-plasma GmbH, Jena, Germany 51

LEONI Robokeep S.A., Les Mureaux, France 49

2.  Wiring Systems Division

Intedis GmbH & Co. KG, Würzburg, Germany 50

Intedis Verwaltungs-GmbH, Würzburg, Germany 50

Intedis Inc.,Plymouth, Michigan, USA 50

LEONI Furukawa Wiring Systems S.A.S,

Montigny-le-Bretonneux, France 50

Daekyeung T&G Co. Ltd., Busan, Korea 50

DLS Co. Ltd., Busan, Korea 50

Weihai Daekyeung Electronic Device Assemble Co. Ltd.,  

Weihai, China 50

Weihai DK Electronic Co. Ltd., Weihai, China 50

Penglai Daqing Wiring Systems Co. Ltd., Penglai, China 50



150

Translation of the German audit opinion concerning the audit of the 

financial statements prepared in German: 

We have audited the consolidated financial statements prepared 

by LEONI AG, Nuremberg, comprising the income statement, the 

cash flow statement, the balance sheet, the statement of changes 

in equity and the notes to the consolidated financial statements, to-

gether with the group management report for the fiscal year from 

January 1 to December 31, 2008. The preparation of the consolidated 

financial statements and the group management report in accord-

ance with IFRS as adopted by the EU, and the additional require-

ments of German commercial law pursuant to Sec. 315a (1) HGB 

[“Handelsgesetzbuch”: German Commercial Code] are the responsi-

bility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express 

an opinion on the consolidated financial statements and the group 

management report based on our audit.

We conducted our audit of the consolidated financial state-

ments in accordance with Sec. 317 HGB and German generally ac-

cepted standards for the audit of financial statements promulgated 

by the Institut der Wirtschaftsprüfer [Institute of Public Auditors in 

Germany] (IDW) as well as the International Standards on Auditing 

(ISA). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit 

such that misstatements materially affecting the presentation of the 

net assets, financial position and results of operations in the consoli-

dated financial statements in accordance with the applicable finan-

cial reporting framework and in the group management report are 

Audit opinion

detected with reasonable assurance. Knowledge of the business ac-

tivities and the economic and legal environment of the Group and ex-

pectations as to possible misstatements are taken into account in the 

determination of audit procedures. The effectiveness of the account-

ing-related internal control system and the evidence supporting the 

disclosures in the consolidated financial statements and the group 

management report are examined primarily on a test basis within 

the framework of the audit. The audit includes assessing the annual 

financial statements of the entities to be included in consolidation, 

the determination of entities to be included in consolidation, the ac-

counting and consolidation principles used and significant estimates 

made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation 

of the consolidated financial statements and the group management 

report. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our 

opinion.

Our audit has not led to any reservations.

In our opinion, based on the findings of our audit, the consolidat-

ed financial statements comply with IFRS as adopted by the EU, the 

additional requirements of German commercial law pursuant to Sec. 

315a (1) HGB and give a true and fair view of the net assets, financial 

position and results of operations of the Group in accordance with 

these requirements. The group management report is consistent with 

the consolidated financial statements and as a whole provides a suit-

able view of the Group’s position and suitably presents the opportu-

nities and risks of future development.

Nuremberg, 23 February 2009

Ernst & Young AG

Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft

Steuerberatungsgesellschaft

Broschulat Zenk

Wirtschaftsprüfer Wirtschaftsprüfer 

[German Public Auditor] [German Public Auditor]
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Responsibility statement

To the best of our knowledge, and in accordance with the applicable 

reporting principles, the consolidated financial statements give a true 

and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position and profit or 

loss of the Group, and the group management report includes a fair 

review of the development and performance of the business and the 

position of the Group, together with a description of the principal  

opportunities and risks associated with the expected development  

of the Group.

Nuremberg, 23 February 2009

LEONI AG

Der Vorstand

Dr Klaus Probst  Dieter Bellé Uwe H. Lamann



„Estrae ad fachusu que poris vas inti, quastrei moviridea resuliam  

ducit pritrat ponsules! Fatidere it. Satiac re actu moviridea resuliam ducit  

pritrat. Eperude tistisq uidesti lintum fui ta et, num moerfena, seni et, moviridea  

resuliam ducit pritrat effrentia cortere sulis, consultus moviridea resuliam ducit  

pritrat caperet noximus reculto prae num noventerma“

Additional information

“These multifaceted opportunities demonstrate that LEONI is well prepared for the  

future despite the difficult setting. The savings programme that we launched will  

also raise our cost flexibility and thereby further enhance our position in the market.  

Once the measures have been implemented we shall emerge strengthened from  

the crisis. As soon as the economy picks up again LEONI will be able to benefit  

more than average and to resume its long-term course of expansion.” 
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154 Extract from the financial statement of LEONI AG

LEONI AG Income statement

€ ‘000   01/01 – 12/31 under HGB 2008 2007

1.  Other operating income 44,891 43,318

2. Personnel expenditure:

a) wages and salaries 12,927 16,028

b) social security contributions and expenditure for retirement benefits and support payments 3,840 3,439

(16,767) (19,467)

3. Amortisation of intangible investment assets and depreciation of property, plant and equipment (3,665) (3,307)

4. Other operating expenses (63,769) (34,178)

5. Income from investments 38,487 39,868

6. Income from financial loans 24,718 16,574

7. Other interest and similar income 34,414 16,680

8. Writedowns on investments (2,498) (1,558)

9. Interest and similar expenses (41,597) (23,199)

10. Income before taxes 14,214 34,731

11. Income taxes 5,220 (4,428)

12. Other taxes (48) (57)

13. Net income 19,386 30,246

14. Earnings brought forward from the previous year 1,936 2,420

15. Transfer to other retained earnings (9,500) (4,000)

16. Distributable profit 11,822 28,666
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LEONI AG Balance sheet

€ ‘000     under HGB 2008 2007

Assets Intangible assets 3,215 1,252

Property, plant and equipment 8,409 7,188

Shares in affiliated companies 238,850 238,850

Loans to affiliated companies 569,287 240,744

Other loans 1,503 1,657

Investments 809,640 481,251

Fixed assets 821,264 489,691

Accounts receivable and other assets 373,064 608,566

Treasury shares 29,056 0

Cash and cash equivalents 78,848 3,332

Current assets 480,968 611,898

Deferred income 2,313 1,372

Total assets 1,304,545 1,102,961

Equity and 

liabilities

Equity 330,059 337,403

Pension plans and similar obligations 19,974 18,852

Tax provisions 0 10,607

Other provisions and accruals 21,138 19,907

Provisions and accruals  41,112 49,366

Debt 613,712 474,334

Other liabilities 319,662 241,858

Total equity and liabilities 1,304,545 1,102,961
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Distributable profit for fiscal 2008 determined

under the German Commercial Code (HGB)

amounts to   € 11,821,765.80

We propose to pay a dividend from this  

distributable profit of  € 0,20 per share,

equal to a payout of € 5,346,000.00

and to carry the remainder of    € 6,475,765.80

forward. 

Nuremberg, 23 February 2009 

LEONI AG

The Management Board

Dividend proposal
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A Aggregation combining of components

Aerospace/Marine/Medical aviation and space industry / marine 

technology / medical technology

B Business Unit business segment; operating unit  

of the Company

C Cash flow balance of cash inflow and outflow; key 

figure for assessing financing resources

Compliance adherence to rules of conduct,  

laws and guidelines

Corporate Governance responsible business management

D DEL quote copper price quote  

(Deutsche Elektrolyt-Kupfer-Notierung 

= German electrolyte copper quote)

E EBIT earnings before interest and taxes

Economic Value Added increase in enterprise value taking the 

cost of capital into consideration

Emerging Markets markets with high growth 

e.g. China, India, Russia

F Factoring sale of receivables

Flamecon technology a process for mask and chemical-

free application of coatings 

that can conduct electricity

FTTH market Fiber to the Home – market for glass 

fiber wiring for private households

H Hedges hedging transactions 

I Icefuel project to develop a super-insulation 

multifunction cable that can carry elec-

trical power, liquid hydrogen, and data

Infotainment information and entertainment  

electronics

Interest rate swaps, 

caps and collars

interest rate hedging transactions

Investment Grade Describes the quality of a compa-

ny or a security that has a rating 

to at least attain this grade.

J Just-in-sequence delivery delivery in the required sequence

Just-in-time delivery delivery at the required time

L LEONI Histral high-strength, cadmium-free  

copper alloy

LEONI SensoFiber touch-sensitive fiber;  

basis for PinchGuard

Local content sourcing procurement in the country of the 

respective production facility

N Net financial liabilities financial liabilities less cash 

and cash equivalents

P PinchGuard patented anti-pinch protection for 

car doors, windows and tailgates

R ROCE return on capital employed

S Share deal purchase of shares in a business

Single source supply sourcing from a single supplier

Strand combination of a number of single wires

W Wiring system a vehicle’s network of electrical/elec-

tronic cables including components

Workflow progress (or rate of progress) 

in work being done

Glossary
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Forward-looking statements

This report contains forward-looking statements that are based on management’s current assumptions and estimates 

concerning future trends. Such statements are subject to risk and uncertainty that LEONI cannot control or precisely 

assess. Should imponderables occur or assumptions on which these statements are based prove to be incorrect, actual 

results could deviate considerably from those described in these statements. LEONI assumes no obligation to update 

forward-looking statements to adjust them to events following publication of this report.
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